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SanDisk Corporation is the world’s largest
supplier of flash data storage card products. We
invented or co-developed many of today’s flashk
memery card industry standards. Using cur
patented,; high-density flash memory and controller
technologies, we design, manufacture and market
leading edge solid-state data, digital imaging

and audio storage preducts.

We continue to increase awareness of the
SanDisk brand through a variety of merchandising
programs and promotions. SanRisk products

are currently sold through a gickal network of
more than 50,000 retail cutlets. Cur products

are incorporated into the latest generation

of digital consumer electronics, wireless and
mobile computing devices from the world’s leading
manufacturers. We are also focused on new
embedded and wireless opportunities with our
industrial customers. Sur industrial grade product
lines feature increased reliability, durability,
ruggedness and expanded warranty protection.
With our significant intellectual property portfolio,
extensive experience with fNash memory and
centroller technologies, partnerships with major
Criginal Equipment Manufacturers (CEMs) and our
manufacturing joint venture with Toshikba, we are
rpositioned to be a worldwide leader in flash data
storage for years to come.
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A Letter from the Presicaent

in 2002, we saw considerable improvement in our business and a return to
profitability in the second quarter. Cash from operations grew by over $105 million
during the year, resulting in cash and short-term investments of $456 million as we
exited the year. Our retail sales continued to be the main driver of our product
revenues and consistently achieved record quarterly highs in terms of
revenues, units shipped and megabytes shipped as a result of the
successful penetration of new geographic markets and the strong flow
of new products. Retail sales in 2002 represented approximately 64% of
total product sales, up from 54% of product sales in 2001.
Approximately 40% of retail sales in 2002 were derived from new
products introduced during the year. Despite continued economic
) weakness in many of our industrial and telecom markets, revenues from
ﬁ\ // CEM customers and industrial distributors improved slightly from the levels
’ experienced in 2001. Cverall, retail sales in 2002 increased by 87% relative
to 2001, while CEM sales improved by 22%. While our average selling price per
megabyte declined by appreximately 50% compared to 2001, our product gross
margins improved consistently throughout 2002, reaching 37% in the fourth quarter,
due to the successful implementation of our aggressive cost reduction programs.
During 2002, we saw significant strengthening in our operations and technology.
The transfer of manufacturing and test operations to lower cost subcontractors in
Taiwan and China in 2001 resulted in substantially lower product costs in 2002. We
successfully completed the transfer of NAND flash wafer fabrication from our
FlashVision joint venture foundry in Virginia to the more cost-effective Toshiba
memory wafer foundry in Yokkaichi, Japan. In addition, we established three regional
customer order fulfilment centers to serve the American, European and Japan/
Pacific Rim markets and increased our investments in supply chain management,
information technology, and infrastructure, which has allowed us to become
more responsive to our retail customers. We expanded our global retail presence to
more than 50,000 outlets worldwide, up from 38,000 ocutlets in 2001.

SNOOT -

SanDisk provides a wide range of innovative
flash sterage sclutions. Cur consumer-friendly
retail product line enables digital camera users
tc capture and store their special memories
and share their favorite pictures with family and
friends - faster and easier than ever before.
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We continued to invest aggressively in our flash memory and controller
technologies, working closely with Toshiba, our FlashVision joint venture partner.
During 2002, we:
o Completed qualification and ramped production volumes of the
1 gigabit multilevel cell (MLC) .16 micron NAND technology. In the fourth
quarter of 2002, more than 50% of our megabytes shipped were MLC
NAND technology, contributing positively to our product gross margins;
o Completed the development and commenced production in the fourth
quarter of the next generation .13 micron NAND technology. We are
currently on track to shift the majority of our production to this
technology in the second half of 2003, which should give us further
cost reductions; and
° Anncunced new cooperation with Toshiba to jointly develop the 20
nanometer and 70 nanometer generations of NAND flash memory
over the next several years.
Successful and timely development of these leading edge flash memory
technologies is crucial for further market expansion and sustained growth with |
profitability in 2004 and beyond. |
Anticipating strong growth in demand for flash memory in the coming years that ;
may outstrip our existing supply, we recently announced our intention to make
further investments over the next two years, together with Toshiba, to expand 200
millimeter advanced NAND wafer fabrication capacity at cur FlashVision joint venture
foundry in Yokkaichi, Japan. These investments are expected to be funded from
internal capital rescurces.
In August 2002, we renewed our patent cross license agreement with Samsung,
which amicably resolved our legal dispute with them. Samsung agreed to continue
the previous license agreement and to supply us a portion of their NAND flash

)
§ h @ @ Dﬁ - SanDisk continues to introduce exciting flash

storage products. The miniSD™ card,
intreduced in 2003, utilizes the same feature
set as our SD™ card and is designed in a

smaller format targeted at devices such as
cellular phones. Memory Stick PRO™,
developed jointly with Sony Corporation, offers
the latest in data security and data less
prevention s¢ users can easily store their
digital data, music, photos and videcs. The
SanDisk Digital Photo Viewer instantly displays
digital photos on most television sets for easy
sharing of pictures with family and friends. The
innovative Sanlisk Connect™ product line is
the first Wi-Fi sclution to include both flash
memery and wireless communications
technology enabling users to quickly transmit,
receive and store email, data, images and
music from their laptops or PDASs.
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production output. We also extended our cross license to include MLC patents in
future products. During 2002, we continued to put a great deal of emphasis on
innovation and invention. Presently, we have been issued over 200 flash memory
related patents. Income from royalties and license fees increased in the latter half
of 2002 as our licensees experienced increased sales of flash memory products.

We expect sales growth in 2003 to come from several sources including
increased sales of SD™ cards, the new miniSD™ cards, the introduction of the
Memory Stick Pro™ and other new card products and accessories, increased sales
of NAND components and continued growth of retail sales from new geographic
markets and new sales channels. We expect to continue to develop and introduce
new products and industry standards to meet the growing needs of our customers.
We announced several new leadership products at the 2003 PMA and Cebit shows
and we believe these new products will contribute to our 2003 results. These include
the new miniSD card developed specifically for advanced cell phones that
incorporate digital cameras, MP3 players and internet media access, as well as new
high performance and high capacity cards: CompactFlash® cards with 4 gigabytes
capacity, SD cards with 1 gigabyte capacity, new SanDisk Ultra™ cards with up to 6
megabytes per second sustained write speed, new SanDisk Extreme™ cards for the
most demanding professional digital outdoor photocgraphers, as well as a family of
new high speed USB 2.0 card readers. We announced the development of a new
standard, the 5C Mobile E-Commerce Security Specification, for future high security
flash cards, and introduced the industry’s first dual function flash Wi-Fi (802.11b)
wireless cards, which we expect to ship starting in the first half of 2003. We believe
the flow of new and differentiated products in support of our market strategy will
allow us to continue to be the worldwide market share leader in flash cards.

Sore .
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The markets in which we have a strong presence are stili relatively young and
several of these markets will likely grow into very large scale opportunities in the
next few years. SanDisk today has the technology, the products, the strategic
relationships, the market positicning, the intellectual property, the strong balance
sheet and, most importantly, the team of dedicated, experienced and passionate
employees, to benefit from these markets and thus become one of the most
prominent players in mobile storage in the post-PC era. As the price of flash
continues to decline through technology advancements, we see flash memory
increasingly as a “disruptive” technology that will soon obsclete established,
mature alternatives.

~ In conclusion, | am proud of our performance in 2002 and ocur ability to react to
the challenging economic conditions we faced during the year. Locking forward
to 2003, | am concerned about current worldwide economic conditions, as well as
the current international uncertainties surrounding the war with lrag and the war on
terrorism as these factors may have adverse effects on consumer confidence, which
is an important element underlying growth in our retail sales. However, | am excited
about the range of business opportunities available to us in 2003 and beyond. Our
fundamentals are stronger than ever, and we are well positioned to meet the
challenges ahead.

We very much appreciate the continuing support and confidence of our
stockholders, customers and employees.

“ / ;W ,
Eli Harari

President and Chief Executive Officer

MowvE M.

SanDisk creates innovative products for
people on the go. People who want to capture
more memories, store more music, move

more pictures and videos, and share more
files. People who want instant access to their

information anytime and anywhere - whether
at work, at home or at play. We continue to
develop and expand our partnerships with
many of the world’s leading OEMs to ensure
SanDisk flash storage products are compatible

with the newest generation of digital consumer

electronics, wireless and mobile computing

devices such as digital cameras, digital music

playvers, PDAs, personal communicators, digital

voice recorders, and phote printers.




Selected Financial Data

(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31, 2002’ 2001 2 200038 1999 1998
Revenues

Product $ 482,900 $ 316,867 $ 526,359 $ 205,770 $ 103,190

License and royalty 48,373 49,434 75,453 41,220 32,571
Total revenues 541,273 366,301 601,812 246,990 135,761
Cost of revenues 352,482 392,293 357,017 152,143 80,311
Gross profits (losses) 188,821 (25,992) 244,795 94,847 55,450
Operating income (loss) 58,151 (1562,990) 124,666 30,085 12,810
Net income (loss) $ 36,240 $(297,944) $ 298,672 $ 26,550 $ 11,836
Net income (loss) per share

Basic $ 053 $ 437 8 4.47 $ 0.48 $ 023

Diluted $ 0.59 $ 4.37) $ 411 $ 0.43 $ 0.21
Shares used in per share calculations

Basic 68,805 68,148 66,861 55,834 52,596

Diluted 74,230 68,148 72,651 61,433 55,344
At December 31, 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Working capital $ 584,450 $ 419,280 $ 525,950 $ 482,793 $ 138,471
Total assets 976,179 934,261 1,107,907 657,724 255,741
Long-term convertible subordinated notes 150,000 125,000 - - -
Total stockholders’ equity 627,720 675,379 863,058 572127 207,838

(1) Includes other-than-temporary impairment charges of $14.4 million, or $8.7 million net of tax, write-downs related to the recoverability of wafer credits
of $2.8 million, or $1.8 million net of tax, and an adjustment to the fair value of warrants of $0.7 million, or $0.5 million net of tax.

(2) Includes other-than-temporary impairment charges of $302.3 million, or $188.1 million net of tax and restructuring charges of $8.5 million or $6.7 million net of tax.

(3) Includes gain on investment of UMC of $344.2 million, or $203.8 million net of tax.

See the Consolidated Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
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Suppiementary Quarteriy Data

(Unaudited. In thousands, except per share data)

Quarters ended March 31 September 30 December 31
2002
Revenues

Product $ 86,459 $ 115,677 $ 132,050 $ 158,714

License and royalty 6,160 12,021 9,078 21,114 |
Total revenues 92,619 127,698 141,128 179,828 !
Gross profits 11,220 43,314 54,341 79,946 |
Operating income (loss) (17,044) 10,633 21,912 42,650 ,
Net income (loss) * (3,734) 9,040 11,324 19,610 '
Net income (loss) per share

Basic *+ $ (0.05) $ 0.13 $ 0.16 $ 0.28

Diluted * $ (0.05) $ 0.13 $ 0.16 $ 0.26
2001
Revenues

Product $ 88,083 $ 88,115 $ 57,305 $ 83,364

License and royalty 13,244 19,033 8,582 8,575
Total revenues 101,327 107,148 65,887 91,939
Gross profits (losses) (17,453) 396 (23,539) 14,604
Operating income (loss) (48,303) (28,650) (61,373) (14,664)
Net income (loss) ** $ (143,102) (9,994) (170,476) 25,628
Net income (loss) per share

Basic * $ 2.11) $ (0.15) $ (2.50) $ 0.37

Diluted * $ 1) $ (0.15) $ (2.50) $ 0.36

* in the third and fourth quarter of 2002, we recognized losses of $0.9 million and $1.8 million, respectively, on other-than-temporary declines in the fair vaiue of our
investment in Divio. In the third and fourth quarters of 2002, we recognized total losses totaling $15.2 million on the other-than-temporary decline in the market
value of our foundry investment in Tower Semiconductor, write-downs related to the recoverability of our prepaid wafer credits and an adjustment in the fair value
of our Tower Semiconductor warrants.

*

x

In the first and third quarters of 2001, we recognized losses of $179.9 milion and $116.4 milion, respectively, on the other-than-temporary decline in the market
value of our foundry investments in UMC and Tower Semiconductor.

+ Quarterly earnings per share figures may not total to yearly earnings per share, due to rounding and the fluctuations in the number of options included or omitted
from diluted calculations based on the stock price or option strike prices.

See the Consolidated Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

SanDisk Corporation
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financiai Conditions and Results of Operations

Statements in this report which are not historical facts are
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the fed-
eral securities laws. These statements may contain words
such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,”
“believes,” “estimates,” or other wording indicating future
results or expectations. Forward-looking statements are
subject to risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may dif-
fer materially from the results discussed in these forward-
looking statements. Factors that could cause our actual
results to differ materially include, but are not limited to,
those discussed under “Factors That May Affect Future
Results” below, and elsewhere in this report. Our business,
financial condition or results of operations could be materi-
ally affected by any of these factors. The following discus-
sion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and the notes thereto. We undertake
no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking state-
ments to reflect any event or circumstance that may arise
after the date of this report.

Overview

SanDisk was founded in 1988 to develop and market flash
data storage systems. We sell our products to the con-
sumer electronics and industrial/communications markets. In
fiscal 2002, approximately 87% of our product sales were
attributable to the consumer electronics market, particularly
sales of CompactFlash, or CF card, Secure Digital, or SD
card, Memory Stick and SmartMedia card products for use
in digital camera applications. Our CF card products have
lower average selling prices and gross margins than our
higher capacity FlashDisk and FlashDrive products. in addi-
tion, a substantial portion of our products are sold into the
retail channel, which usually has shorter customer order
lead-times than our other channels. A majority of our sales
to the retail channel are turns business, with orders received
and fulfilled in the same quarter, thereby decreasing our
ability to accurately forecast future production needs and
sales levels. We believe sales to the consumer market will
continue to represent a substantial majority of our sales, and
may increase as a percentage of sales in future years, as
the popularity of consumer applications with flash memory,
including digital cameras, mobile phones and mobile phones
that incorporate digital cameras and PDAs, increases.

Our operating results are affected by a number of factors
including the volume of product sales, competitive pricing
pressures, availability of foundry capacity, variations in man-
ufacturing cycle times, fluctuations in manufacturing yields
and manufacturing capacity utilization, the timing of signifi-
cant orders, our ability to match supply with demand,
changes in product and customer mix, market acceptance
of new or enhanced versions of our products, changes in
the channels through which our products are distributed,
timing of new product announcements and introductions by
us and our competitors, the timing of license and royalty
revenues, fluctuations in product costs, increased research
and development expenses, and exchange rate fluctuations.
We have experienced seasonality in the past. As the propor-
tion of our products sold for use in consumer electronics

applications increases, our revenues may become increas-
ingly subject to seasonal increases in the fourth quarter of
each year and declines in the first quarter of the following
year. See “Factors That May Affect Future Results - Risks
Related to Our Business - Our operating results may fluctu-
ate significantly....” and “~ Risks Related to Sales of Our
Products - There is seasonality in our business....”

Beginning in late 1995, we adopted a strategy of licens-
ing our flash technology, including our patent portfolio, to
third party manufacturers of flash products. To date, we
have entered into patent cross-license agreements with
several companies, and intend to pursue opportunities to
enter into additional licenses. Under our current license
agreements, licensees pay license fees, royalties, or a
combination thereof. In some cases, the compensation to
us may be partially in the form of guaranteed access to
flash memory manufacturing capacity from the licensee
company. The timing and amount of royaity payments and
the recognition of license fees can vary substantially from
quarter to quarter depending on the terms of each agree-
ment and, in some cases, the timing of sales of products
by the other parties. As a result, license and royalty rev-
enues have fluctuated significantly in the past and are likely
to continue to fluctuate in the future. Given the relatively
high gross margins associated with license and royalty rev-
enues, gross margins and net income are likely to fluctuate
more with changes in license and royalty revenues than
with changes in product revenues.

We market our products using a direct sales organiza-
tion, distributors, manufacturers’ representatives, private
label partners, OEMs and retailers. In 2002, 2001 and
2000, retail sales accounted for 64%, 54% and 28% of
total product revenues, respectively. We expect that sales
through the retail channel will comprise an increasing share
of our product revenues in the future, and that a substan-
tial portion of our sales into the retail channel will be made
to customers that will have the right to return unsold prod-
ucts. Our policy is to defer recognition of revenues from
these sales until the products are sold to the end cus-
tomers. In 2002, sales to the OEM and Industrial channels
accounted for 36% of total product revenues, compared to
46% in 2001 and 72% in 2000. However, total revenue dol-
lars from our OEM and Industrial channels increased 20%
in 2002, compared to 2001.

Historically, a majority of our sales have been to a limited
number of customers. Sales to our top 10 customers
accounted for approximately 48% 49%, and 48%, of our
product revenues for 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. In
2002, 2001 and 2000, no single customer accounted for
greater than 10% of our total revenues. We expect that
sales of our products to a limited number of customers will
continue to account for a substantial portion of our product
revenues for the foreseeable future. We have also experi-
enced significant changes in the composition of our cus-
tomer base from year to year and expect this pattern to
continue as market demand for our customers’ products
fluctuates. The loss of, or a significant reduction in pur-
chases by any of our major customers, could harm our

2002 Annual Report
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business, financial condition and results of operations. See
“Factors That May Affect Future Results - Risks Related to
Sales of Our Products ~ Sales to a small number of cus-
tomers represent a significant portion of our revenues....”

All of our flash memory products require silicon wafers, a
substantial majority of which is currently manufactured for
us by Toshiba Corporation’s, or Toshiba, wafer facility in
Yokkaichi, Japan, under our joint venture agreement.
Additionally, in August 2002, we entered into a seven-year
supply agreement with Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd., or
Samsung, which allows us to purchase NAND flash memory
products from Samsung’s fabrication facilities in South
Korea. Industry-wide demand for semiconductors
decreased significantly in 2001, due to decreased demand
in the cellular phone markets and the broad, general eco-
nomic downturn leading to a U.S. recession. Semiconductor
manufacturers, including some of our suppliers and com-
petitors, added new advanced wafer fabrication capacity
prior to the downturn. This additional capacity, along with
slowing economic conditions, resulted in excess supply and
led to intense pricing pressure. Due to the oversupply of
flash memory foundry capacity throughout 2001 and the
economic slowdown in 2001, the decline in our average
selling price per megabyte of 50% in 2001 compared to
2000 was much more severe than the 22% decrease we
experienced in 2000 compared to 1999. In the fourth quar-
ter of 2001, the average sales price per megabyte we sold
decreased by 68% compared to the fourth quarter of 2000.
This decline in 2001 far exceeded our ability to reduce our
cost per megabyte. Consequently we saw a dramatic
reduction in our product gross margins, which resulted in
substantial operating losses in 2001. In 2002, due to com-
petitive pricing pressures, our average selling price per
megabyte declined by approximately 50% when compared
to 2001. In the fourth quarter of 2002, the average sales
price per megabyte we sold decreased by 31%, compared
to the fourth quarter of 2001. If industry-wide demand for
our products for prolonged periods is below the industry-
wide available supply, our product prices could decrease
faster than our ability to reduce costs resulting in operating
losses in the future.

Under our wafer supply agreements with Toshiba,
FlashVision, Samsung, Tower Semiconductor Ltd., or Tower,
and UMC, we are obligated to provide a six-month rolling
forecast of anticipated purchase orders. Generally, the esti-
mates for the first three months of each rolling forecast are
binding commitments. The estimates for the remaining
three months of the forecast may only be changed by a
certain percentage from the previous month’s forecast. in
addition, we are obligated to purchase 50% of all of
FlashVision’s wafer production. This limits our ability to react
to significant fluctuations in demand for our products. If
customer demand falls below our forecast and we are
unable to reschedule or cancel our orders, we may end up
with excess inventories, which could result in higher operat-
ing expenses and reduced gross margins. Conversely, if
customer demand exceeds our forecasts, we may be
unable to obtain an adequate supply of wafers and flash
memory products to fill customer orders, which could result
in lost sales and lower revenues. If we are unable to obtain
scheduled quantities of wafers or flash memory products

with acceptable prices and/or yields from any foundry, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could
be harmed.

We have from time to time taken write-downs for excess
or obsolete inventories and lower of cost or market price
adjustments. In 2001 for example, such write-downs and
lower of cost or market adjustments were approximately
$85.0 million. We may be forced to take additional write-
downs for excess or obsolete inventory in future quarters if
market demand for our products deteriorates and our inven-
tory levels exceed customer orders. in addition, we may
record additional lower of cost or market price adjustments
to our inventories if pricing pressure results in a net realiz-
able value that is lower than our cost. Although we continu-
ously try to align our inventory quantities with the current
level of business, we are obligated to honor existing pur-
chase orders, which we have placed with our suppliers. In
the case of FlashVision, both we and Toshiba are obligated
to purchase our half of the production output, which makes
it more difficult for us to reduce our inventory during an
industry downturn.

Excess inventory not only ties up our cash, but also
can result in substantial losses if such inventory, or large
portions thereof, has to be written down due to lower
market pricing or product obsolescence. These inventory
adjustments decrease gross margins and in 2001 resulted
in, and could in the future result in, fluctuations in gross
margins and net earnings in the guarter in which they
occur. See “Factors That May Affect Future Results -

Risks Related to Our Business - Our operating results may
fluctuate significantly....”

Export sales are an important part of our business, rep-
resenting 51%, 55%, and 57% of our total revenues in 2002,
2001, and 2000, respectively. Our sales may be impacted
by changes in economic conditions in our international mar-
kets. Economic conditions in our international markets,
including Japan, Asia and the European Union, may
adversely affect our revenues to the extent that demand for
our products in these regions declines. While most of our
sales are denominated in U.S. Dollars, we invoice certain
Japanese customers in Japanese Yen and are subject to
exchange rate fluctuations on these transactions, which
could affect our business, financial condition and resuits of
operations. See “Factors That May Affect Future Resuits—
Risks Related to Our International Operations, Threats of
War, and Changes in Securities Laws and Regulations -
Because of our international operations, we must comply
with numerous laws and regulations....”

For the foreseeable future, we expect to realize a signifi-
cant portion of our revenues from recently introduced and
new products. Typically, new products initially have lower
gross margins than more mature products because the
manufacturing vields are lower at the start of manufacturing
each successive product generation. In addition, manufac-
turing yields are generally lower at the start of manufactur-
ing any product at a new foundry. In 2001 and 2002, we
experienced start-up costs of approximately $22.0 million
and $6.5 million, respectively, associated with ramping up
NAND wafer production at FlashVision. During the start-up
phase, the fabrication equipment and operating expenses
are applied to a relatively small output of production wafers,
making this output very expensive. in the next two to three




years, we expect to make substantial new investments in
additional fabrication capacity at FlashVision. We expect to
fund up to approximately $33.0 million for the initial fabrica-
tion capacity expansion in 2003. Such increases in fabrica-
tion capacity are expected to cause us to periodically expe-
rience startup costs of a material nature.

To remain competitive, we are focusing on a number of
programs to lower manufacturing costs, including develop-
ment of future generations of NAND flash memory. There
can be no assurance that we will successfully develop such
products or processes or that development of such
processes will lower manufacturing costs. If the current
industry-wide and worldwide economic slowdown contin-
ues throughout fiscal 2003, we may be unable to efficiently
utilize the NAND flash wafer production from FlashVision,
which would force us to amortize the fixed costs of the fab-
rication facility over a reduced wafer output, making these
wafers significantly more expensive. See “Factors That May
Affect Future Results - Risks Related to Vendors and
Subcontractors - We and our manufacturing partners must
achieve acceptable manufacturing yields....”

Critical Accounting Policies & Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and
results of operations are based upon our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. The preparation of these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses, and related disclosure of contingent liabilities. On
an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including
those related to customer programs and incentives, prod-
uct returns, bad debts, inventories, investments, income
taxes, warranty obligations, restructuring, and contingen-
cies and litigation. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that we
believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
Revenue Recognition, Sales Returns and Allowances
and Sales Incentive Programs. We recognize net rev-
enues when the earnings process is complete, as evi-
denced by an agreement with the customer, transfer of titie
and acceptance, if applicable, fixed pricing and reasonable
assurance of collectibility. Because of frequent sales price
reductions and rapid technology obsolescence in the indus-
try, sales made to distributors and retailers under agree-
ments allowing price protection and/or right of return are
deferred until the retailers or distributors sell the merchan-
dise to the end customer, or the rights of return expire. At
December 31, 2002 and 2001, deferred income, net of
related costs, from sales to distributors and retailers was
$34.8 million and $6.2 million, respectively. Estimated prod-
uct returns are provided for and were not material for any
period presented in the consolidated financial statements.
We earn patent license and royalty revenue under
patent cross-license agreements with several companies
including Hitachi Ltd., or Hitachi, Lexar Media, Inc., or

Lexar, Samsung, Sharp Electronics Corporation, or Sharp,
Silicon Storage Technology, Inc., or SST, SmartDisk
Corporation, Sony Corporation, or Sony, and TDK. Our cur-
rent license agreements provide for the payment of license
fees, royalties, or a combination thereof, to us. The timing
and amount of these payments can vary substantially from
quarter to quarter, depending on the terms of each agree-
ment and, in some cases, the timing of sales of products
by the other parties.

Patent license and royalty revenue is recognized when
earned. In 2002, 2001 and 2000, we received payments
under these cross-license agreements, portions of which
were recognized as revenue and portions of which are
deferred revenue. We receive royalty revenue reports from
certain of our licensees and record all revenues one quarter
in arrears. Our cross license arrangements, that include a
guaranteed access to flash memory supply, were recorded
based upon the cash received for the arrangement as we
do not have vendor specific objective evidence for the fair
value of the intellectual property exchanged or supply guar-
antees received. Under these arrangements we have
recorded the cash received as the total value of goods
received and are amortizing the amounts over the life of the
agreement, which corresponds to the life of the supply
arrangement as well. Recognition of deferred revenue is
expected to occur in future periods over the life of the
agreements, as we meet certain obligations as provided in
the various agreements. At December 31, 2002 and 2001,
deferred revenue from patent license agreements was
$32.1 million and $9.6 million, respectively. The cost of rev-
enues associated with patent license and royalty revenues
are insignificant.

We record reductions to revenue and trade-accounts
receivable for customer programs and incentive offerings
including promotions and other volume-based incentives
when revenue is recorded. Marketing development pro-
grams, when granted, are either recorded as a reduction to
revenue or as an addition to marketing expense depending
on the contractual nature of the program and whether the
conditions of Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No.
00-25, “Vendor income Statement Characterization Paid to
a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products,” have been met. These
incentives generally apply only to our retail customers, which
represented 64%, 54% and 28% of our product revenues in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. If market conditions
were to decline, we may take actions to increase customer
incentive offerings to our retail customers, possibly resulting
in an incremental reduction of revenue at the time the incen-
tive is offered.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We evaluate the col-
lectibility of our accounts receivable based on a combination
of factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a spe-
cific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations to us
(e.g., bankruptcy filings, substantial down-grading of credit
ratings), we record a specific reserve for bad debts against
amounts due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the
amount we reasonably believe will be collected. For all other
customers, we recognize reserves for bad debts based on
the length of time the receivables are past due based on
our historical experience. If circumstances change (i.e.,
higher than expected defaults or an unexpected material
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adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet its
financial obligations to us), our estimates of the recoverability
of amounts due us could be reduced by a material amount.

Warranty Costs. Our products are warrantied for one to
seven years. A provision for the estimated future cost related
to warranty expense is recorded and included in the cost of
revenue when revenue is recognized. While we engage in
product quality programs and processes, our warranty obli-
gation is affected by product failure rates and repair or
replacement costs incurred in correcting a product failure.
Should actual product failure rates, or repair or replacement
costs differ from our estimates, increases to our warranty lia-
bility would be required.

Valuation of Financial Instruments. Our short-term
investments include investments in marketable equity and
debt securities. We also have equity investments in, UMC of
$113.0 miillion and Tower of $21.3 million, as of December 31,
2002. In determining if and when a decline in market value
below amortized cost of these investments is other-than-
temporary, we evaluate the market conditions, offering
prices, trends of earnings, price multiples, and other key
measures for our investments in marketable equity securities
and debt instruments. When such a decline in value is
deemed to be other-than-temporary, we recognize an
impairment loss in the current period operating results to the
extent of the decline. In 2002, the market value of our invest-
ment in Tower declined significantly therefore, we recognized
losses totaling $11.6 million related to the other-than-tempo-
rary decline of our equity investment, and an adjustment to
the fair value of warrants purchased during 2002 of $0.7 mil-
lion as determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing
model. In 2001, the market value of our investment in UMC
and Tower declined. The declines were deemed to be other-
than-temporary and losses totaling $302.3 million were rec-
ognized. If the fair value of the Tower and UMC investments
decline further, it may be necessary to record additional
losses. See Note 8 in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Inventories - and inventory Valuation. We write down
our inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketable
inventory equal to the difference between the cost of the
inventory and the estimated market value based upon
assumptions about future demand and market conditions,
including assumptions about changes in average selling
prices. If actual market conditions are less favorable than
those projected by management, additional inventory write-
downs may be required.

Deferred Tax Assets. Based on the weight of available
evidence, we provided a valuation allowance against the net
deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance was based on
our assessment of our historical earnings patterns that make
it uncertain that we will have sufficient income in the appro-
priate jurisdictions to realize the full vaiue of the assets. We
will continue to evaluate the realizability of the deferred tax
assets on a quarterly basis. The valuation allowance
increased by $30.3 million and $36.1 million in 2002 and
2001, respectively. We had no valuation allowance at
December 31, 2000. The valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets includes approximately $5.2 million attributable to
stock option deductions, the benefit of which will be credited
to stockholders’ equity upon realization.

Results of Operations

We operate in one business segment, flash memory prod-
ucts. Our products are sold throughout the world. In the
United States and foreign countries our products are sold
through direct, OEM, reseller, and distributor channels. Our
chief decision-maker, our President and Chief Executive
Officer, evaluates our performance based on total results.
Revenue is evaluated based on geographic region and prod-
uct category. Separate financial information is not available
by product category in regards to asset allocation, expense
allocation, or profitability.

Product Revenues. In 2002, our product revenues were
$492.9 million, up $176.0 million or 56% from $316.9 million in
2001. The increase in product revenues was primarily due to
a 65% increase in unit sales, partially offset by a 6%
decrease in average selling prices per unit. In fiscal 2002, the
largest unit volume and revenue increases came from our CF
card, SD card, Memory Stick, and FlashDisk products, com-
pared to the prior year. In 2002, total flash memory units sold
increased approximately 73% compared to 2001. In 2002,
due to competitive pricing pressures, our average selling
price per megabyte declined by approximately 50% when
compared to 2001. In the fourth quarter of 2002, compared
to the fourth quarter of 2001, our average selling prices per
megabyte declined 31%.

In 2001, our product revenues were $316.9 million, a
decrease of 40% from $526.4 million in 2000. The decrease
was primarily due to the downturn in the worldwide econ-
omy, industry-wide excess supply of flash memory, and
reduced demand from OEM customers who were liquidating
existing inventories throughout most of 2001. All of these fac-
tors reduced the demand for our products and resulted in
intense pricing pressures causing the average selling price of
our products to decline significantly. In 2001, the largest
decline in revenues came from MultiMediaCards, due to the
slowdown in the market for digital music players and
CompactFlash, due to the decline in average selling price. In
2001, our flash memory product unit sales declined 19% and
our average selling price per megabyte of flash memory
shipped declined 50% compared to 2000. Due to the over-
supply of flash memory foundry capacity throughout 2001
and the economic slow-down in 2001, the decline in our
average selling price per megabyte of 50% was much more
severe than the 22% decrease we experienced in 2000.

Our backlog as of December 31, 2002 was $31.7 million,
compared to $19.5 million in 2001. This increase in backlog
was primarily due to higher bookings in the consumer, CEM
and industrial markets. As of December 31, 2002, backlog
associated with our retail channel increased by 56%, com-
pared to the same period in 2001. Backlog in our OEM chan-
nel increased by 65% as of December 31, 2002, as com-
pared to 2001, due to higher demand than that experienced
in 2001. Since orders constituting our current backlog are
subject to changes in delivery schedules or cancellations,
backlog is not necessarily an indication of future revenue.
See “Factors That May Affect Future Results - Risks Related
to Our Business ~ Our operating results may fluctuate signifi-
cantly....” and “Risks Related to Sales of Our Products-There
is seasonality in our business....”

In 2002, OEM sales represented 26% of our product rev-
enues, compared to 34% of our product revenues in 2001
and 57% in 2000. Retail revenues, which are typically booked




and shipped in the same guarter, increased to 64% of our
product revenues from 54% in 2001 and 28% in 2000. We
expect sales to the retail channel to continue to represent a
significant portion of our revenues in 2003.

License and Royalty Revenues. We currently earn
patent license fees and royalties under several cross-license
agreements, including agreements with Hitachi, Lexar,
Sharp, Samsung, Sony, SST, and TDK. License and royalty
revenues from patent cross-license agreements were $48.4
million in 2002 compared to $49.4 million in 2001 and $75.5
million in 2000. The decrease in license and royalty revenues
between 2000 and 2001 were primarily due to lower patent
royalties from lower royalty bearing sales by some of our
licensees resulting in decreased patent license revenues
recognized. The higher license and royalty revenues in 2000
compared to 2001 were primarily due to increased sales by
certain of our licensees in 2000, and $4.7 million of revenue
recognized in conjunction with the settlement of the Lexar
litigation in 2000. Revenues from licenses and royalties were
9% of total revenues in 2002, and 13% in both 2001 and
2000. Our income from patent licenses and royalties can
fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter. A substantial
portion of this income comes from royalties based on the
actual sales by our licensees.

Gross Profits (Losses). In fiscal 2002, gross profits
were $188.8 million, or 35% of total revenues compared to
negative $26.0 million, or negative 7% of total revenues in
2001 and positive $244.8 million, or 41% of total revenues in
2000. Product gross margins were 29% in 2002 compared
to a negative 24% in 2001, and positive 32% in 2000. The
increase in product gross margin and gross profits in 2002
was due to a combination of factors, including more stable
pricing conditions in 2002 than in 2001, lower production
costs due to a higher mix of more cost effective multi-level
cell, or MLC, chips, significantly lower overhead expenses
due to our restructuring activities in 2001 and improved
economies of scale due to the growth in unit volumes
across our major product lines. In addition, we sold approxi-
mately $11.9 million worth of NOR inventory that had been
fully written off as excess or obsolete in previous years. The
decline in gross margins in 2001 compared to 2000 was pri-
marily due to lower sales volume, severely reduced average
selling prices, inventory write downs of approximately $85.0
million and start-up costs associated with our FlashVision
foundry joint venture of approximately $22.0 million.

Research and Development. Research and develop-
ment expenses consist principally of salaries and payroll-
related expenses for design and development engineers,
prototype supplies and contract services. Research and
development expenses increased to $63.2 million in 2002
from $58.9 million in 2001, and $46.1 million in 2000. As a
percentage of revenues, research and development
expenses were 12% in 2002, 16% in 2001 and 8% in 2000. In
2002, the absolute dollar increase in research and develop-
ment expenses was primarily due to a $2.7 million increase
in salaries and payroll-related expenses associated with
increased personnel. In 2001, the increase was primarily due
to an increase of $13.3 million in project related expenses.
The additional project expenses in 2001 were to support the
development of new generations of NAND flash data

storage products. We expect our research and develop-
ment expenses to continue to increase in absolute dollars in
future periods to support the development and introduction
of new generations of flash data storage products, including
our development efforts at our joint venture with Toshiba,
our co-development agreement with Sony and our continual
development of advanced controller chips.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses
include salaries, sales commissions, benefits and travel
expenses for our sales, marketing, customer service and
applications engineering personnel. These expenses also
include other seliing and marketing expenses such as
independent manufacturer’s representative commissions,
advertising and tradeshow expenses. Sales and marketing
expenses decreased to $40.4 million in 2002 from $42.6
million in 2001 and $49.3 million in 2000. In 2002, the
decrease was due primarily to decreased co-op advertis-
ing expenses of $7.0 million, which as of the beginning of
fiscal 2002 are offset against revenue per applicable
accounting literature, partially offset by an increase in com-
missions of $4.3 miliion related to higher product revenues.
If we had been required to retroactively apply the same
accounting treatment of recording these co-op advertising
expenses as offsets to revenue per new accounting litera-
ture prior to our fiscal year 2002, we estimate that selling
and marketing expenses would have been reduced by
approximately $5.2 million and $5.7 million for 2001 and
2000, respectively. The decrease in 2001 was primarily due
to a decrease of $5.6 million in commission expenses due
to lower product revenues, a decrease in marketing
expenses of $1.1 million and a reduction of $0.7 million in
travel expenses. Sales and marketing expenses repre-
sented 7% of total revenues in 2002 compared to 12% in
2001 and 8% in 2000. We expect sales and marketing
expenses to increase in absolute dollars as sales of our
products grow and as we continue to develop the retai
channel and brand awareness for our products.

General and Administrative. General and administrative
expenses include the cost of our finance, information sys-
tems, human resources, shareholder relations, legal and
other administrative functions. General and administrative
expenses were $27.1 million in 2002 compared to $17.0 mil-
lion in 2001 and $24.8 million in 2000. The increase in 2002
was due primarily to an increase in legal fees of $6.6 million,
increased payroll-related expenses of $5.0 million and an
increase of $1.3 million in allowance for doubtful accounts
associated with higher trade accounts receivable balances
from increased revenues. The decrease in 2001 was prima-
rily due to a decrease of $3.2 million in legal fees, a reduc-
tion of $3.2 million in the allowance for doubtful accounts
related to lower accounts receivable balances and a
decrease of $0.7 million in salaries and related expenses
associated with reduced headcount. General and adminis-
trative expenses represented 5% of total revenues in 2002
and 2001 compared to 4% in 2000. General and administra-
tive expenses could increase in the future if we pursue litiga-
tion to defend our patent portfolio and grow our infrastruc-
ture to support our growth. See “Factors That May Affect
Future Results — Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property -
We may be unable to license intellectual property to or from
third parties....”
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Restructuring Charges. In the third quarter of 2001, we
adopted a plan to transfer all of our card assembly and
test manufacturing operations from our Sunnyvale location
to offshore subcontractors. As a result we recorded a
restructuring charge of $8.5 million in the third quarter of
2001. The charge included $1.4 million of severance and
employee related costs for a reduction in workforce of
approximately 193 personnel, equipment write-off charges
of $6.0 million and lease commitments of $1.1 million on a
vacated warehouse facility. As a part of our plan to transfer
all card assembly and test manufacturing operations to off-
shore subcontractors, we abandoned excess equipment
and recorded a charge of $6.4 million in the third quarter
of fiscal 2001.

As of January 2003, we have subleased a portion of our
warehouse building in San Jose, California. Given the current
real estate market conditions in the San Jose area, we do
not expect to be able to sublease the remainder of this
building before the end of 2003. Any sublease income will
be offset against the balance of the lease commitment
restructuring charge recorded in the third quarter of 2001.

Of the $8.5 million restructuring charge, cash payments
of $0.8 million and $1.1 million were paid in 2001 and 2002
respectively. After writing off certain non-cash charges
related to abandoned excess equipment, accruals of $0.6
million remain as of December 31, 2002, related to amounts
to be paid out for excess facility lease charges, net of facility
sub-lease income, over the respective lease terms.

The following table summarizes our restructuring activities
from the inception of our plan through the end of 2002:

Workforce Commit-
(In thousands) Equipment Reduction ments Total
Restructuring charge $ 6,383 $1,094 $1,033 $ 8,510
Non-cash charges (6,027) - - (6,027)
Cash payments - (805) - (805)
Accrual balance,

December 31, 2001 $ 356 $ 289 $1033 $ 1,678
Non-cash charges (17) - - 17)
Adjustments (339) 321 18 -
Cash payments - (610) (471) (1,081)
Accrual balance,

December 31, 2002 $ - $ - % 580 $ 580

Equity in income of Joint Venture. In 2002 and 2001,
equity in income of joint ventures of $0.9 million and $2.1
million included our share of net income from our
FlashVision joint venture and losses from our Digital Portal
Inc., or DPI, joint venture. Under the equity method of
accounting, our share of losses were deducted from our DPI
investment account and therefore, as of December 31, 2002
there is no value related to DPI on our consolidated balance
sheet. In September 2002, we agreed to sell a significant
portion of our DPI shares to a nominee of Photo-Me
International, PLC., or PMil, to reduce our ownership per-
centage below 20%, and we gave up our seat on DPI's
board of directors. Under the agreement, we discontinued
our kiosk related activities, are no longer required to make
additional equity investments in DPI, guarantee DPI’s equip-
ment leases or otherwise pay any of DPI's expenses and
DPI will no longer use the SanDisk brand name. In future
periods, we will account for our remaining investment in DPI
on a cost basis.

interest Income/Expense. Interest income was $8.7
million in 2002 compared to $12.4 million in 2001 and $22.8

million in 2000. The decrease in interest income in 2002
compared to 2001 was primarily due to reductions in mar-
ket interest rates. The decrease in interest income in 2001
compared to 2000 was also due to reductions in interest
rates and as well as the funding of our strategic invest-
ments in Tower and FlashVision. Interest expense was $6.7
million in 2002 on our convertible subordinated notes, or
notes, issued in late 2001 and early 2002. In 2003, we
expect interest expense to be consistent and interest
income to remain flat with an increase in cash balances
offset by the additional impact of lower interest rates on
our portfolio as existing securities mature and lower-yield-
ing securities are purchased.

Loss on Investment in Foundries. The market value of
our investment in Tower and related wafer credits has
declined significantly over 2002 and 2001 due to the con-
tinuing semiconductor industry downturn. As of December
31, 2002, we had invested $68.0 million in Tower and
obtained 6,100,959 ordinary Tower shares, $6.0 million of
prepaid wafer credits, and a warrant to purchase 360,313
ordinary Tower shares at an exercise price of $7.50 per
share. This warrant expires on October 31, 2006. At
December 31, 2002, the value of our Tower investment and
wafer credits had declined to $27.3 million. Losses totaling
$15.2 million, or $9.4 million net of tax, were recorded in
2002, comprised of a $11.6 million related to the other-
than-temporary decline of our equity investment, a $0.7
million adjustment to the fair value of warrants purchased
during 2002 as determined using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model, and a $2.8 million write down in the value of
wafer credits. At December 31, 2001, the value of our
Tower investment and wafer credits had declined to $16.6
million. Therefore, we recorded a loss of $20.6 million,
which included the write-off of wafer credits received in
2001. In addition, we recorded a loss of $5.5 million on our
exchange of 75% of our Tower wafer credits for 1,284,007
ordinary Tower shares at $12.75 per share. These losses
totaled $26.1 million, or $15.8 million net of tax benefit in
2001. In both 2002 and 2001, Tower losses were recorded
in loss on investment in foundry . If the fair value of our
Tower investment declines further, it may be necessary to
record additional losses. We periodically assess the value
of the prepaid wafer credits for recoverability and write
down the value as necessary.

In 2001, we determined that our investment in UMC had
sustained a substantial decline in its value as defined by
generally accepted accounting principles The value of our
investment in UMC had declined to $194.9 million at
December 31, 2001. We recorded a loss of $275.8 million
on our UMC investment in 2001, or $166.2 million net of
taxes. At December 31, 2002, the market value of the avail-
able-for-sale portion of our UMC investment had declined
$6.6 million, before tax, below its adjusted cost of $112.0
million, and this unrealized loss of approximately $6.6 million
is included in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) on our consolidated balance sheet as this unrealized
loss was deemed to be temporary. If the fair value of our
UMC investment declines further, it may be necessary to
record additional losses. In addition, in future periods, if our
UMC shares are sold, there may be a gain or loss, due to
fluctuations in the market value of UMC’s stock.




Gain (Loss) on Equity Investment. In 2002 we recog-
nized an impairment charge on the decline in the value of our
investment in Divio, Inc., or Divio of $2.7 million, or $1.7 million
net of tax, in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 115. At December 31, 2002, the
value of our Divio investment had declined to $4.5 million.
Divio is currently unprofitable, and will require additional fund-
ing from external sources to complete the development and
commercialization of its products. Given the current
depressed conditions for financing private, venture capital
backed startup companies, we cannot assure you that Divio
will be able to successfully finance its activities or continue its
operations. If they cannot do so, our investment in Divio will
be written down further or may even become worthless.

Other Income (Loss), Net. Other Income (Loss), net
was a loss of $3.1 million in 2002 compared to a loss of $1.0
million in 2001 and income of $572,000 in 2000. The losses
in 2002 and 2001 were primarily due to foreign currency
transaction losses on our Yen denominated assets. Other
income in 2000 came primarily from foreign currency trans-
action gains.

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes. Our 2002
effective tax provision rate was approximately 8%, while our
2001 and 2000 effective tax rates were approximately (33%)
and 39%, respectively. Our 2002 tax rate is significantly
lower than the statutory rate due to utilization of previously
unbenefited net operating losses and a reduction of the val-
uation allowance due to the increase in the unrealized gain
on our investment in UMC.

Our assessment of the amount of valuation allowance
required will be influenced by the amount of unrealized tax
gains on investments. Any increase in the mark to market
value of the investments may result in the recognition of
some portion of the valuation allowance. This may cause the
interim tax rate to fluctuate significantly.

Due to our lack of visibility over the likelihood of generat-
ing future taxable income, we have not recognized a
deferred tax asset in excess of the amount that will be avail-
able to offset our deferred tax liability.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows
At December 31, 2002, we had working capital of $584.4
million, which included $266.6 million in cash and cash
equivalents and $189.9 million in unrestricted short-term
investments, excluding our investments in UMC and Tower.

Operating activities for 2002 provided $105.6 million of
cash, primarily due to net income of $36.2 million; a $26.9
million decrease in income tax refund receivable, plus non-
cash charges, primarily depreciation of $21.3 million, a
decrease of $8.1 million in our investment in FlashVision, a
$9.4 million decrease in accounts payable, a $51.1 million
increase in deferred income on shipments to distributors
and retailers and deferred revenue, and a $3.8 million
decrease in income taxes payable. These were partially off-
set by increases of $37.6 million in accounts receivable,
$33.3 miillion in inventory, and $7.7 million in deferred taxes.
Cash used by operations was $72.1 million in 2001, and cash
provided by operations was $84.9 million 2000.

Net cash used in investing activities was $58.4 million in
2002. Purchases net of proceeds from short term invest-
ments of $84.1 million, $16.6 million of capital equipment

purchases and $26.0 million invested in Tower during fiscal
2002 were partially offset by a $4.2 million return of capital
received in the first quarter of, 2002 from FlashVision L.L.C.
Net cash provided in investing activities was $25.1 million in
2001 and net cash used of $137.8 millicn in 2000.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $29.9
million 2002, which included the $24.3 million net proceeds
from the issuance of long-term convertible subordinated
notes in the first quarter of 2002, and $5.5 million from
the sale of common stock through our stock option and
employee stock purchase plans. Financing activities
provided cash of $130.2 million in 2001 and $13.2 million
in 2000.

Depending on the demand for our products, we may
decide to make additional investments, which could be sub-
stantial, in assembly and test manufacturing equipment or
wafer fabrication foundry capacity to support our business in
the future. We may also invest in or acquire other compa-
nies’ product lines or assets. Our operating expenses may
increase as a result of the need to hire additional personnel
to support our sales and marketing efforts and research and
development activities, including our collaboration with
Toshiba for the joint development of 90 nanometer and 70
nanometer NAND flash memory. We plan to fund our short-
term operations from our current cash and short-term
investment balances and cash generated from operations.
We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments will be sufficient to meet our cur-
rently anticipated working capital and capital expenditure
requirements for the next twelve months. However, if our
average product selling prices decline significantly, as they
did in 2001 and 2002, or demand for our products declines
and we are required to purchase more wafers than we need
due to our FlashVison joint venture commitments, we may
not be able to generate enough cash from our operations
and will have to rely solely on our current cash and short-
term investment balances to fund our operating activities.

Convertible Subordinated Notes

On December 24, 2001, we completed a private placement
of $125.0 million of 4 1/2% Convertible Subordinated Notes
due 2008, or Notes, and on January 10, 2002, the initial pur-
chasers completed the exercise of their option to purchase
an additional $25.0 million of Notes, for which we received
net proceeds of approximately $145.9 million. Based on the
aggregate principal amount at maturity of $150.0 million, the
Notes provide for semi-annual interest payments of $3.4
million each on May 15 and November 15. The Notes are
convertible into shares of our common stock at any time
prior to the close of business on the maturity date, unless
previously redeemed or repurchased, at a conversion rate
of 54.2535 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the Notes,
subject to adjustment in certain events. At anytime on or
after November 17, 2004, we may redeem the notes in
whole or in part at a specified percentage of the principal
amount plus accrued interest. The debt issuance costs are
being amortized over the term of the Notes using the inter-
est method. We intend to fulfill our debt service obligations
from cash generated by our operations, if any, and from our
existing cash and investments. If necessary, among other
alternatives, we may add lease lines of credit to finance
capital expenditures and obtain other long-term debt and
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lines of credit. We may incur substantial additional indebted-
ness in the future. There can be no assurance that we will
be able to meet our debt service obligations, including our
obligations under the Notes.

investment in UMC

In January 2000, the USIC foundry was merged into the
UMC parent company. In exchange for our USIC shares, we
received 111 million UMC shares. These shares were valued
at approximately $396 million at the time of the merger,
resulting in a pretax gain of $344.2 million ($203.9 million
after-tax) in the first quarter of 2000. All of the UMC shares
we received as a result of the merger in 2000 were subject
to trading restrictions imposed by UMC and the Taiwan
Stock Exchange. As of December 31, 2002, the trading
restrictions had expired on 77.8 million shares. The remain-
ing 33.3 million shares will become available for sale through
January 2004. We also received 23.0 million, 20.0 million
and 22.2 million shares as stock dividends from UMC in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Due to the decline in
UMC stock price from the weakness in the semiconductor
industry, the value of our investment in UMC had declined to
$194.9 million at December 31, 2001. Therefore in 2001, it
was determined that the decline in the market value of the
investment was other than temporary, as defined by gener-
ally accepted accounting principles and a loss of $275.8 mil-
lion, or $166.9 million net of taxes was recorded in accor-
dance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
Number 115. The loss was included in loss on investment in
foundry. The UMC shares received as stock dividends for
the three years ending December 31, 2002 are included in
the 165 million shares classified as available-for-sale in
accordance with SFAS No. 115, are reported at a market
value of $105.4 million and included in current assets on our
consolidated balance sheet. We also have 11 million shares
that contain trading restrictions that extend beyond one
year, which are valued at their adjusted cost of $7.5 million
and included in non-current assets. UMC’s share price
declined to NT$22.20 at December 31, 2002 from a stock
dividend adjusted price of NT$42.87 at December 31, 2001
resulting in a $81.8 million reduction in our previously
recorded unrealized gain on the portion of our investment
that is classified as available-for-sale. At December 31,
2002, the market value of the available-for-sale portion of
our UMC investment had declined $6.6 million, before tax,
below its adjusted cost of $112.0 million, and this unrealized
loss of approximately $6.6 million is included in accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) on our consolidated bal-
ance sheet as this decline was deemed to temporary. If the
fair value of the UMC investment declines further, it may be
necessary to record additional losses. In addition, in future
periods, there may be a gain or loss due to fluctuations in
the market vaiue of UMC stock or if UMC shares are sold.

Investment in FlashVision Joint Venture

On June 30, 2000, we closed a transaction with Toshiba
providing for the joint development and manufacture of 512
megabit and 1 gigabit flash memory chips and Secure Digital
Card controllers. As part of this transaction, we and Toshiba
formed FlashVision, a joint venture, to equip and operate a
silicon wafer manufacturing line at Toshiba’s Dominion
Semiconductor facility in Manassas, Virginia. In January
2001, we invested the final $15.0 million of our $150.0 million

cash commitment in FlashVision L.L.C. In April 2002, we and
Toshiba entered into a series of agreements under which
we restructured our FlashVision joint venture by consolidat-
ing FlashVision’s advanced NAND wafer fabrication manu-
facturing operations at Toshiba’s memory fabrication facility
in Yokkaichi, Japan. Under the terms of the agreements,
Toshiba transferred the FlashVision owned and leased
NAND production tool-set fromm Dominion to Yokkaichi and
undertook full responsibility for the equipment transfer and
production set up. The FlashVision operation at Yokkaichi
continues the joint venture on essentially the same terms as
the parties had at Toshiba’s facility in Virginia. In March
2002, FlashVision exercised its right of early termination
under its lease facility with ABN AMRO Bank, N.V. and in
April 2002 repaid all amounts outstanding. FlashVision
secured a new equipment lease arrangement of approxi-
mately 37.9 billion Japanese Yen (or approximately $305
million based on the exchange rate in effect on the date the
agreement was executed) in May 2002 with Mizuho
Corporate Bank, Ltd., or Mizuho, and certain other financial
institutions. Under the terms of the new lease, Toshiba is
reguired to provide a guarantee to these financial institutions
on behalf of FlashVision. We have agreed to indemnify
Toshiba in certain circumstances for certain liabilities Toshiba
incurs as a result of Toshiba’s guarantee of the FlashVision
equipment lease arrangement. If FlashVision fails to meet its
lease commitments and Toshiba fulfills these commitments
under the terms of Toshiba’s guarantee, then we will be
obligated to reimburse Toshiba for 49.9% of any claims
under the lease, unless such claims result from Toshiba’s
faillure to meet its obligations to FlashVision or its covenants
to the lenders. Because FlashVision’s new equipment lease
arrangement is denominated in Japanese Yen, the maxi-
mum amount of our contingent indemnification obligation on
a given date when converted to U.S. Dollars will fluctuate
based on the exchange rate in effect on that date. As of
December 31, 2002, the maximum amount of our contingent
indemnification obligation, which reflects payments and any
lease adjustments, was approximately $142.4 million.

In the next two to three years, we expect to make sub-
stantial new investments in additional fabrication capacity at
FlashVision. We expect to fund up to approximately $33.0
million for the initial fabrication capacity expansion in 2003.

investment in Tower

In July 2000, we entered into a share purchase agreement
to make a $75.0 million investment in Tower, for its new
wafer foundry facility, Fab 2. During 2001, Tower satisfied the
closing conditions of the share purchase agreement and
completed the first two milestones. Under the terms of the
agreement, we invested $42.5 million to purchase 1,599,931
ordinary Tower shares and obtained wafer credits of $21.4
million. in September 2001, we agreed to convert 75% of our
wafer credits to equity at a price of $12.75 per share and
received an additional 1,284,007 ordinary Tower shares. Due
to the continued weakness in the semiconductor industry,
the value of our Tower investment and remaining wafer
credits had declined to $16.6 million at December 31, 2001. It
was determined that this decline was other than temporary,
as defined by generally accepted accounting principles and
a loss of $20.6 million was recorded in the second half of




2001. In addition we recognized a loss of $5.5 million on the
exchange of 75% of our Tower wafer credits for 1,284,007
ordinary shares at $12.75 per share. These losses totaling
$26.1 million, or $15.8 million net of tax benefit, were
recorded in loss on foundry investment in 2001.

In March 2002, we amended our foundry investment
agreements with Tower by agreeing to advance the pay-
ments for the third and fourth milestones. The payment for
the third milestone of $11.0 million was made on April 5,
2002. In exchange for this payment we received 1,071,497
ordinary shares and prepaid wafer credits of $4.4 million.
The payment of $11.0 million for the fourth milestone was
paid on September 30, 2002. In exchange for this payment
we received 1,344,829 ordinary shares of Tower and $4.4
million in prepaid wafer credits.

As of December 31, 2002, we had invested $68.0 million
in Tower and obtained 6,100,859 ordinary shares, $6.0 mil-
lion of prepaid wafer credits, and warrants to purchase
360,313 ordinary shares at an exercise price of $7.50 per
share. The investment in the ordinary shares represents an
approximate 14% equity ownership position in Tower as of
December 31, 2002. The wafer credits were applied to our
pre-paid wafer account and are to be applied against orders
placed with Tower’s new wafer fabrication facility, Fab 2,
when and if completed; provided, however, that until July 1,
2005, the amounts added to the pre-paid wafer account
may only be applied towards a maximum of 7.5% of our
wafer purchases. We periodically assess the value of our
prepaid wafer credits considering the timing and quantity of
our planned annual wafer purchases, the status of the
foundry construction and general economic conditions. If we
determine that the value of these wafer credits is not recov-
erable, additional write-downs will be recorded. In 2002, we
recognized losses of $15.2 million on the other-than-tempo-
rary decline in the value of our Tower investment and the
impairment in value on our prepaid wafer credits and
approximately $0.7 million unrealized losses related to the
fair value of the warrants purchased in October of 2002. Our
investment in Tower was valued at $21.3 million as of
December 31, 2002. At December 31, 2002, our Tower pre-
paid wafer credits were valued at $6.0 million, net of $2.8
million in write-downs recorded in fiscal 2002, related to the
recoverability of these prepaid wafer credits.

In addition to our commitment under the share purchase
agreement, we invested in Tower’s rights offering in
October 2002. Tower issued one right for each 4.94 shares
owned by record holders as of the record date. In exercis-
ing our rights to participate, we paid approximately $4.0
million in exchange for 800,695 ordinary Tower shares and
a warrant to purchase 360,312 ordinary shares at $7.50 per
share. This warrant expires on October 31, 2006. During the
fourth gquarter of 2002 and in accordance with SFAS 133,
we recorded a write-down in the fair value of these Tower
warrants of approximately $0.7 million, as determined using
a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of
these warrants will continue to fluctuate and additional
adjustments to the warrant’s fair value will be recorded in
future periods.

In February 2003, we agreed to further amend our
foundry investment agreements with Tower by agreeing to
advance the payment for the fifth and final milestone. This
amendment is subject to approval by all required parties,

including Tower's shareholders. If approved, the terms of
the amendment require the payment of $11.0 million for the
advanced fifth milestone and this payment will be made in
two instaliments. The first instaliment of approximately $6.6
million will be due five business days after the amendment is
approved by all required parties, including Tower’s share-
holders; the second installment of approximately $4.4 million
will be due five business days after Tower has raised addi-
tional funds equal to approximately $22.0 million, referred to
as the Minimum Financing. Tower must complete the
Minimum Financing prior to December 31, 2003, or we will
not be obligated to pay the second installment. Each of the
first and second installments will be paid provided Tower
meets these conditions, whether or not Tower actually
achieves its original fifth milestone obligation. iImmediately
following the advancement of the first installment, we will be
issued fully-paid and non-assessable ordinary shares of
Tower equivalent to the first instaliment divided by the aver-
age trading price for ordinary shares of Tower during the
thirty (30) consecutive trading days preceding the date the
amendment was approved by Tower’s board of directors.
Immediately following the advancement of the second
instaliment, if it occurs, we will be issued fully-paid and non-
assessable ordinary shares of Tower equivalent to the sec-
ond installment divided by the price per ordinary share of
Tower paid in connection with the Minimum Financing, or the
Minimum Financing Price; provided, however, that if the
Minimum Financing Price cannot reasonably be calculated
from the documents evidencing the Minimum Financing,
then the Minimum Financing Price shall be deemed to be
the average trading price for the ordinary shares of Tower
during the thirty (30) consecutive trading days preceding the
date the second installment is paid. In addition, we will have
the option to convert all or a portion of our unused pre-paid
wafers credits associated with the September 2002 fourth
milestone payment into fully-paid and non-assessable ordi-
nary shares of Tower based on the average closing price of
ordinary shares of Tower during the thirty consecutive trad-
ing days preceding December 31, 2005.

Tower’s completion of Fab 2 is dependent on its ability to
obtain additional financing for the foundry construction from
equity and other sources and the release of grants and
approvals for changes in grant programs from the Israeli
government’s Investment Center. If Tower is unable to
obtain additional financing, complete foundry construction in
a timely manner or successfully complete the development
and transfer of advanced CMOS process technologies,
ramp-up of production, and secure foundry customers suffi-
cient to defray its fixed operating costs, the value of our
investment in Tower and wafer credits will decline signifi-
cantly or possibly become worthless. We would be unable
to take advantage of our prepaid wafer credits and we may
be unable to obtain a sufficient supply of wafers to manu-
facture our products, which would harm our business. In
addition, the value of our investment in Tower may be
adversely affected by a further deterioration of conditions in
the market for foundry manufacturing services and the mar-
ket for semiconductor products generally. If the fair value of
our Tower investment declines further, it may be necessary
to record additional losses, which potentially could amount
to the remaining recorded value of our Tower investment.

2002 Annual Report

15



SanDisk Corporation

16

Moreover, if Tower is unable to satisfy certain financial
covenants and comply with certain conditions as required by
its credit facility agreement, and therefore is not able to
obtain additional bank financing, or its current bank obliga-
tions are accelerated, such failure could jeopardize the com-
pletion of Fab 2 and Tower’s ability to continue operations.

Other Equity investments

On August 9, 2000, we entered into a joint venture, DP!, with
PMI for the manufacture, installation, marketing, and mainte-
nance of self-service, digital photo printing labs, or kiosks,
bearing the SanDisk brand name in locations in the U.S. and
Canada. Under the agreement, we invested $2.0 million. In
an agreement effective September 30, 2002, we and PMI
agreed that we would scale down our kiosk activities and
PMI would assume responsibility to finance and direct the
future growth of DPI. Under the agreement, we converted
approximately $400,000 in receivables due from DPI to
equity in DP!, reduced our ownership percentage below 20%
and gave up our seat on the DP! board of directors. Under
the new agreement, we discontinued our kiosk related activi-
ties, are no longer required to make additional equity invest-
ments in DPI, guarantee DPV's equipment leases or otherwise
pay any of DPI's expenses, and furthermore, DPI will no
longer use the SanDisk brand name. We have accounted for
this investment under the equity method, and in 2002 we
recorded a $1.1 million loss as our share of DPI's losses
which was deducted from the investment account and there-
fore, as of December 31, 2002, there is no value related to
DPI on our consolidated balance sheet.

On November 2, 2000, we made a strategic investment of
$7.2 million in Divio, Inc., or Divio. Divio is a privately-heid
manufacturer of digital imaging compression technology and
products for future digital camcorders that will be capable of
using our flash memory cards to store home video movies,
replacing the magnetic tape currently used in these systems.
Under the agreement, we own approximately 10% of Divio
and are entitled to one board seat. A number of companies
are developing compression chip products that may be
superior to, or may be offered at a lower cost than the Divio
chips. These competing products may render Divio's prod-
ucts uncompetitive and thereby significantly reduce the value
of our investment in Divio, In 2002, we accounted for this
investment under the cost method, and we recorded a
decline in the fair value of the investment of $2.7 million. At
December 31, 2002, the value of our Divio investment had
declined to $4.5 million. Divio is currently unprofitable, and
will require additicnal funding from external sources to com-
plete the development and commercialization of its products.
Given the current depressed conditions for financing private,
venture capital backed startup companies, we cannot assure
you that Divio will be able to successfully finance its activities
or continue its operations, If they cannot do so, our invest-
ment in Divio will be written down further or may even
become worthless.

Contractual Obligations and Off Balance Sheet
Arrangements

The following summarizes our contractual obligations and off
balance sheet arrangements at December 31, 2002, and the
effect such obligations are expected to have on our liquidity
and cash flow over the next five years (in thousands).

Total 1Yr 1-3Yrs 4-5Y¥rs

Contractual
Obligations:
Convertible sub-
ordinated notes
payable (See
Note 4.)
Interest payable
on convertible
subordinated notes
Operating leases
Investment in Tower
FlashVision Common
research and
development
FlashVision Direct
research and
development
FlashVision fabrication
capacity expansion
Purchase commit-
ments for flash
memory wafers
Total contractual
cash obiigations

$150,000"' § - $150,000 $ -

27,000
9,285
11,000

6,750 13,500 6,750
3,184 5,071 1,030
11,000 - -

68,000 12,000 24,000 32,000

54,000 7,000 23,000 24,000

33,000 33,000 - -

23,8732 23,873 - -

$ 376,158 $ 96,807 $ 215,571 $ 63,780

Total 1Yr 1-3Yrs 4-5Yrs

Contractual Sub-
lease Income:
Non-cancelable
operating sublease  $
Total contractual
cash income $ 549 $ 213 $ 336 $ -
(1) On January 10, 2002, the initial purchasers completed the exercise
of their option to purchase an additional $25.0 million of the Notes.
(2) FlashVision binding three-month purchase commitments for flash
memory wafers are denominated in Japanese Yen, and are sub-
ject to fluctuation in exchange rates prior to payment.

548 3% 213 8 338 $ -

As of December 31, 2002
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements:
Indemnification of FlashVision foundry equipment lease

$ 142,351

Impact of Currency Exchange Rates

A portion of our revenues is denominated in Japanese Yen.
We enter into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge
against changes in foreign currency exchange rates. At
December 31, 2002, there were no forward contracts out-
standing. Future exchange rate fluctuations could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In July 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or
FASB, issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards,
or SFAS, No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44,
and 84, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and
Technical Corrections” and SFAS No. 146, “Obligations
Associated with Disposal Activities.” SFAS 145 rescinds SFAS
4 “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt,
an amendment of APB Opinion 30,” and SFAS 44
“Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers,” and
SFAS 64 “Extinguishment of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking
Fund Requirements,” and amends SFAS 13 “Accounting for
Leases.” SFAS 145 requires that gains or losses on extin-
guishment of debt that were classified as an extraordinary
item in prior periods which do not meet the criteria in APB 30
for classification as an extraordinary item should be reclassi-
fied. In addition, lease modifications having the economic




effects similar to sale-leaseback transactions should be
accounted for in the same manner as sale-leaseback trans-
actions. The provisions of this statement are effective for fis-
cal years beginning after May 15, 2002, and interim periods
within those fiscal years, with early application encouraged.
We are evaluating the impact of the adoption of SFAS 145 on
our results of operations and financial position.

SFAS 146 nullifies EITF Issue No. 94-3 “Liability Recognition
for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs
to Exit an Activity” (including Certain Costs Incurred in
Restructuring) and substantially nullifies EITF Issue No. 88-10
“Costs Associated with Lease Modification or Termination.”
SFAS 146 establishes an accounting model for changes in the
recognition of and timing of such costs. The liability for costs
associated with exit or disposal activities should be meas-
ured at fair value and in the period in which those costs are
incurred. The provisions of SFAS 146 apply to exit or disposal
activities initiated after December 31, 2002. We will adopt
SFAS 146 effective January 1, 2003. The adoption of SFAS
146 is not expected to have a material impact on our results
of operations and financial position in 2003.

On December 31, 2002 the FASB issued SFAS No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and
Disclosure.” SFAS 148 amends SFAS 123 “Accounting of
Stock-Based Compensation” and APB Opinion No. 28
“Interim Financial Reporting.” SFAS 148 provides alternative
transition methods for a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation, and requires disclosure in both the interim
and annual financial statements about the method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation and it’s
effect on reported net income and earnings per share. The
recognition provisions of SFAS 148 are applied as of the
beginning of a company’s fiscal year for financial statement
periods and interim periods within those fiscal years ending
after December 15, 2002, and SFAS 148’s amendment of dis-
closure requirements of APB No. 28 is effective for financial
statements ending after December 15, 2002. We have
elected not to adopt the recognition provisions of SFAS 148.
However, we elected to follow APB 25, and related interpre-
tations, in accounting for our employee stock options. Under
APB 25, if the exercise price of the Company’s stock options
equals the market price of the underlying stock on the date
of grant, no compensation expense is recognized. The dis-
closure requirements of SFAS 148 for pro forma information
regarding reported net income and earnings per share has
been adopted for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2002
and will be applied to interim periods in 2003. The adoption
of the disclosure provisions of SFAS 148 did not have a mate-
rial impact on our results of operations and financial position
in 2002, nor is it expected to have a material impact in 2003.

In July 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45,
or FIN 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including indirect Guarantees
of Indebtedness of Others” - an interpretation of SFAS No 5
“Accounting for Contingencies,” SFAS No. 57 “Related Party
Disclosures,” SFAS No. 107 “Disclosures about Fair Value of
Financial Instruments,” and rescission of FIN 34 “Disclosure
of Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN 45
provides disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its finan-
cial statements about its obligations under certain guaran-
tees that it has issued. FIN 45 establishes recognition and
measurement provisions of a liability to be recognized at the

inception of a guarantee for fair value based on agreements
which contingently requires the guarantor to make pay-
ments to the guaranteed party based on changes in an
underlying contingent liability related to the guaranteed
party. The disclosure provisions of FIN 45 are effective for
financial statement periods and interim periods within those
fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002, and the
requirement for recognition and measurement provisions
are effective for guarantees issued or modified on a
prospective basis after December 31, 2002. We have
adopted the disclosure provisions for fiscal year ending
December 31, 2002 and are evaluating the future impact of
the adoption of FIN 45 recognition and measurement provi-
sions on our consolidated results of operations, financial
position and cash flows.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46,
or FIN 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” FIN
46 requires an investor with a majority of the variable inter-
ests in a variable interest entity to consolidate the entity and
also requires majority and significant variable interest
investors to provide certain disclosures. A variable interest
entity is an entity in which the equity investors do not have a
controlling interest or the equity investment at risk is insuffi-
cient to finance the entity’s activities without receiving addi-
tional subordinated financial support from the other parties.
We are currently reviewing our investment portfolio to deter-
mine whether any of our equity investments are considered
variable interest entities. We do not expect to identify any
variable interest entities that must be consolidated, but may
be required to make additional disclosures. The maximum
exposure of any investment that may be determined to be in
a variable interest entity is limited to the amount invested.

In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board issued Emerging Issues Task Force (referred to as
EITF) Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables.” EITF Issue No. 00-21 addresses certain
aspects of the accounting by a company for arrangements
under which it will perform multiple revenue-generating
activities. EITF Issue No. 00-21 addresses when and how an
arrangement involving muitiple deliverables should be
divided into separate units of accounting. EITF Issue No. 00-
21 provides guidance with respect to the effect of certain
customer rights due to company nonperformance on the
recognition of revenue allocated to delivered units of
accounting. EITF Issue No. 00-21 also addresses the impact
on the measurement and/or allocation of arrangement con-
sideration of customer cancellation provisions and consider-
ation that varies as a result of future actions of the customer
or the company. Finally, EITF Issue No. 00-21 provides guid-
ance with respect to the recognition of the cost of certain
deliverables that are excluded from the revenue accounting
for an arrangement. The provisions of EITF Issue No. 00-21
will apply to revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal
periods beginning after June 15, 2003. We are currently
evaluating the effect that the adoption of EITF Issue No.
00-21 will have on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Factors That May Affect Future Results

Risks Related to Our Business

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which
may adversely affect our operating results and our
stock price.
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Our quarterly and annual operating results have fluctu-
ated significantly in the past and we expect that they will
continue to fluctuate in the future. This fluctuation is a result
of a variety of factors, including the following:

e unpredictable or declining demand for our products;

e decline in the average selling prices of our products due

to competitive pricing pressures;

° seasonality in sales of our products;

e natural disasters affecting the countries in which we
conduct our business, particularly Japan, where our
principal source of NAND flash memory wafer capacity
is located and Taiwan, South Korea, China and the
United States;

® excess capacity of flash memory from our competitors
and our own flash wafer capacity, which may cause a
decline in our average selling prices;

e difficulty of forecasting and managing inventory levels;
particularly, building a large inventory of unsold product
due to non-cancelable contractual obligations to pur-
chase materials such as flash wafers, controllers,
printed circuit boards and discrete components;

¢ expenses related to obsolescence or devaluation of
unsold inventory;

e writedowns of our equity investments and prepaid
wafer credits,

° adverse changes in product and customer mix;

e slower than anticipated market acceptance of new or
enhanced versions of our products, such as the recently
announced miniSD card targeted at advanced mobile
phones;

¢ increased sales by our competitors;

e competing flash memory card standards, which dis-
place the standards used in our products, such as the
new xD Picture card format which is replacing our
SmartMedia card in new digital camera models from
Olympus and Fuiji;

e changes in our distribution channels;

e fluctuations in our license and royalty revenue;

e fluctuations in product costs, particularly due to fluctua-
tions in manufacturing yields and utilization;

¢ availability of sufficient silicon wafer foundry capacity to
meet customer demand;

» shortages of components such as capacitors and
printed circuit boards required for the manufacturing of
our products;

e significant yield losses, which could affect our ability to
fulfili customer orders and could increase our costs;

° manufacturing flaws affecting the reliability, functionality
or performance of our products, which could increase
our product costs, reduce demand for our products or
require product recalls;

¢ increased research and development expenses;

° exchange rate fluctuations, particularly the U.S. Dollar to
Japanese Yen exchange rate;

¢ changes in general economic conditions, particularly in
Japan and the Eurcpean Union; and

e reduced sales to our retail customers if consumer confi-
dence worsens due to declining economic conditions,
war in fraqg, the conflict in the Korean Peninsula or else-
where, or due to terrorist acts.

Difficulty of estimating future silicon wafer needs may
cause us to overestimate our needs and build excess

inventories, or underestimate our needs and have a
shortage of silicon wafers, either of which will harm our
financial results.

Under the terms of our wafer supply agreements with
FlaghVision, Hitachi, Samsung, Toshiba and UMC, we are
obligated to provide a six-month rolling forecast of antici-
pated purchase orders. Generally, the estimates for the first
three months of each rolling forecast are binding commit-
ments. The estimates for the remaining months of the fore-
cast may only be changed by a certain percentage from the
previous month’s forecast. In addition, we are obligated to
purchase 50% of FlashVision’s wafer production. This limits
our ability to react to fluctuations in demand for our products.
For example, if customer demand falls below our forecast
and we are unable to reschedule or cancel our orders, we
may end up with excess inventories, which could result in
higher operating expenses and reduced gross margins.
Conversely, if customer demand exceeds our forecasts, we
may be unable to obtain an adequate supply of wafers and
flash memory products to fill customer orders, which could
result in dissatisfied customers, lost sales and lower rev-
enues. If we are unable to obtain scheduled quantities of
wafers or flash memory products with acceptable price
and/or yields from any foundry, our business, financial condi-
tion and results of operations could be harmed. Because the
majority of our CF card, SD card, Memory Stick, SmartMedia
card, and MultiMediaCard products are sold into emerging
consumer markets, it has been difficult to accurately forecast
future sales. In addition, bookings visibility remains low due
to the current economic uncertainty in our markets. A sub-
stantial majority of our quarterly sales are currently, and have
historically been, from orders received and fulfilled in the
same quarter, which makes accurate forecasting very diffi-
cult. Our product order backlog may fluctuate substantially
from quarter to quarter.

Variability of expense levels and significant fixed costs
will harm our business if our revenues do not exceed our
operating expenses.

We may need to hire additional personnel in certain busi-
ness areas or otherwise increase our operating expenses in
the future to support our sales and marketing efforts,
research and development, and general and administrative
activities. We have significant fixed costs and we cannot
readily reduce these expenses over the short term. If our
revenues do not increase proportionately to our operating
expenses, or if revenues decrease or do not meet expecta-
tions for a particular period, our business, financial condition
and results of operations will be harmed.

License fees and royalties from our patent cross
license agreements are variable and fluctuate from
period to period making it difficult to predict our roy-
alty revenues.

Our intellectual property strategy consists of cross-licens-
ing our patents to other manufacturers of flash products.
Under these arrangements, we earn license fees and royal-
ties on individually negotiated terms. Our income from patent
licenses and royalties can fluctuate significantly from quarter
to gquarter. A substantial portion of this income comes from
royalties based on the actual sales by our licensees. The tim-
ing of revenue recognition from these payments is depend-
ent on the terms of each contract and on the timing of prod-
uct shipments by the third parties. We align actual reported
royalty revenues when reports are received during the




second and fourth quarters of each fiscal year. The timing
and amount of royalty payments and the recognition of
license fees can vary substantially from quarter to quarter
depending on the terms of each agreement and, in some
cases, the timing of sales of products by the other parties.
As a result, our license and royalty revenues have fluctuated
significantly in the past and are likely to continue to fluctuate
in the future. Given the relatively high gross margins associ-
ated with license and royalty revenues, gross margins and
net income are likely to fluctuate more with changes in
license and royalty revenues than with changes in product
revenues. Our license and royalty revenues may decline in
the future as certain of our existing license agreements
expire or our licensees reach their royalty payment caps.

We may be unable to maintain market share,
which would reduce our potential revenues and ben-
efit our competitors.

During periods of excess supply in the market for our
flash memory products, such as we experienced in 2001
and the first quarter of 2002, we may lose market share to
competitors who aggressively lower their prices. Conversely,
under conditions of tight flash memory supply, we may be
unable to increase our production volumes at a sufficiently
rapid rate so as to maintain our market share. Ultimately,
our future growth rate depends on our ability to obtain suffi-
cient flash memory wafers and other components to meet
demand. If we are unable to do so in a timely manner, we
may lose market share to our competitors. We have in the
past experienced, and may in the future experience, severe
price competition for our products, which adversely impacts
our product gross margins and overall profitability. In com-
peting for market share we face large corporations that
have well established brand identity and commanding
strengths in our sales channels. For example, Sony is a
competitor for the Memory Stick card, Matsushita Panasonic
is a competitor for the SD card, and Kodak and Fuji are
competitors for the CF and SmartMedia cards.

Future rapid growth may strain our operations.

Despite actions we took in 2001 to align expense levels
with decreased revenues, we must continue to hire, train,
motivate and manage our employees to achieve future
growth. In the past, we have experienced difficulty hiring the
necessary engineering, sales and marketing personnel to
support our growth. In addition, we must make a significant
investment in our existing internal information management
systems to support increased manufacturing, as well as
accounting and other management related functions. Our
systems, procedures and controls may not be adequate to
support rapid growth in the future, which could in turn harm
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our success depends on key personnel, including
our executive officers, the loss of whom could disrupt
our business.

Our success greatly depends on the continued contribu-
tions of our senior management and other key research and
development, sales, marketing and operations personnel,
including Dr. Eli Harari, our founder, President and Chief
Executive Officer. Our success will also depend on our ability
to recruit additional highly skilled personnel. We cannot
assure you that we will be successful in hiring or retaining
such key personnel, or that any of our key personnel will
remain employed with us.

Risks Related to the Development of New Products
In transitioning to new processes and products, we face
production and market acceptance risks which have
caused, and may in the future cause, significant product
delays that could harm our business.

Successive generations of our products have incorpo-
rated semiconductor devices with greater memory capacity
per chip. Two important factors have enabled us to
decrease the cost per megabyte of our flash data storage
products: the development of higher capacity semiconduc-
tor devices and the implementation of smaller geometry
manufacturing processes. A number of challenges exist in
achieving a lower cost per megabyte, including:

e lower yields often experienced in the early production of

new semiconductor devices;

e manufacturing flaws with new processes including man-
ufacturing processes at our subcontractors which may
be extremely complex;

° problems with design and manufacturing of products
that will incorporate these devices, which may result in
delays or product recalls; and

¢ production delays.

Because our products are complex, we periodically expe-
rience significant delays in the development and volume
production ramp up of our products. Similar delays could
occur in the future and could harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We cannot assure you that we along with our strategic
wafer partner will successfully develop and bring into full
production with acceptable yields and reliability these new
products or the underlying technology, or that any develop-
ment or production ramp will be completed in a timely or
cost-effective manner. If we are not successful or if our cost
structure is not competitive, our business, financial condition
and results of operations could suffer.

New products based on NAND MLC flash technology
may encounter production delays and problems impact-
ing production reliability and yields, which may cause
our revenues and gross margins to decline.

We have developed new products based on NAND MLC
flash technology, a flash architecture designed to store two
bits in each flash memory cell. High density flash memory,
such as NAND MLC flash, is a complex technology that
requires strict manufacturing controls and effective test
screens. Problems encountered in the shift to volume pro-
duction for new flash products could impact both reliability
and yields, and result in increased manufacturing costs and
reduced product availability. We may not be able to manu-
facture future generations of NAND MLC products with
yields sufficient to result in lower costs per megabyte. If we
are unable to bring future generations of high density flash
memory into full production as quickly as planned or if we
experience unplanned yield or reliability problems, our rev-
enues and gross margins will decline.

We continually seek to develop new products and
standards, which may not be widely adopted by con-
sumers or, if adopted, may reduce demand by con-
sumers for our older products, which if not offset by
increased demand for the new products could harm our
results of operations.

We continually seek to develop new products and
standards and enhance existing products and standards
developed solely by us, as well as jointly with our strategic
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partners such as Toshiba, Matsushita and Sony. For exam-
ple, in March 2003, our joint development efforts with
Toshiba and Matsushita, together with contribution by the
SD Association, resulted in the introduction of the miniSD
card, a smaller version of the SD card. In addition, we and
Sony have co-developed and co-own the specifications for
the next generation Memory Stick, the Memory Stick Pro,
which each of us has the right to manufacture and sell. As
we introduce new standards and new products, such as the
miniSD card and the Memory Stick Pro, it will take time for
these new standards and products to be adopted, for con-
sumers to accept and transition to these new products and
for significant sales to be generated therefrom, if this hap-
pens at all. Moreover, broad acceptance of new standards
or products by consumers may reduce demand for our
older products. If this decreased demand is not offset by
increased demand for our new products, our results of
operations could be harmed. We cannot assure you that
any new products or standards we develop will achieve
commercial success. See “— The success of our business
depends on emerging markets and new products.”

The success of our business depends on emerging
markets and new products.

In order for demand for our products to grow, the mar-
kets for new devices that use our flash memory products,
such as digital cameras, portable digital music players and
cellular phones must develop and grow. If sales of these
products do not grow, our revenues and profit margins
could be adversely impacted.

The success of our new product strategy will depend
upon, among other things, the following:

¢ our ability to successfully develop new products with
higher memory capacities and enhanced features at a
lower cost per megabyte;

e the development of new applications or markets for our
flash data storage products;

* the extent to which prospective customers design our
products into their products and successfully introduce
their products;

» the extent to which our products or technologies
become obsolete or noncompetitive due to products or
technologies developed by others; and

¢ the adoption by the major content providers of the copy
protection features offered by our SD card products.

Risks Related to Our FlashVision Joint Venture

Our FlashVision joint venture with Toshiba makes us vul-
nerable to certain risks, including potential inventory write-
offs, disruptions or shortages of supply, limited ability to
react to fluctuations in product demand, direct competi-
tion with Toshiba, and significant guarantee obligations,
any of which could substantially harm our business and
financial condition.

We and Toshiba have restructured our FlashVision
business and transferred certain assets to Toshiba’s
Yokkaichi fabrication facility in Japan, which may cause
production delays and reduce NAND wafer supply
available to us, which could adversely impact our
operating results.

On June 30, 2000, we, along with Toshiba, formed
FlashVision for the joint development and manufacture of
several NAND flash memory products, including 512
megabit, 1 gigabit and other advanced flash memory

products. We and Toshiba will each separately market and
sell these products. Accordingly, we will compete directly
with Toshiba for sales of products incorporating these jointly
developed and manufactured products. In April 2002, we
and Toshiba entered into a series of agreements that
restructured our FlashVision business and provided for the
transfer of its operations to Toshiba’s Yokkaichi fabrication
facility in Japan. Pursuant to the terms of the agreements,
Toshiba completed transfer of all required equipment from
Dominion to Yokkaichi in 2002 and bore substantially ali of
the costs associated with the equipment transfers. It is pos-
sible that production may not continue at Yokkaichi as
planned, thereby reducing the total NAND production capac-
ity available to us.

In addition, we incurred substantial start-up expenses
related to the hiring and training of manufacturing personnel,
and installing the clean room facilities and equipment at the
Dominion fabrication facility. Although as part of our agree-
ment with Toshiba to restructure our FlashVision business,
we have recaptured substantially all of the Dominion start-up
expenses incurred by us, we have incurred similar start-up
expenses in connection with the new Yokkaichi fabrication
facility. We will incur start-up costs and pay our share of
ongoing operating activities even if we do not utilize our full
share of the new Yokkaichi output. Each time that we and
Toshiba add substantial new wafer fabrication capacity, we
will experience startup costs as a resuit of the one to two
quarters of delay between the time of the investment and
the time qualified products manufactured on the new wafer
fabrication capacity are sold. We expect to fund up to
approximately $33.0 million for the initial fabrication capacity
expansion in 2003.

We face challenges and possible delays relating to
the expected shift in a portion of our production at
Yokkaichi to 0.13 micron NAND, which could adversely
affect our operating results.

We were using the production capacity at Toshiba’'s
Yokkaichi fabrication facility to manufacture NAND flash
memory wafers with minimum lithographic feature size of
0.16 micron. Late in 2002, we began shifting a portion of our
production output at Yokkaichi to 0.13 micron NAND and
expect to shift the majority of our production output at
Yokkaichi to 0.13 micron NAND in the second half of 2003.
Such minimum feature sizes are considered today to be
among the most advanced for mass production of silicon
wafers. Therefore, it is difficult to predict how long it will take
to achieve adequate yields, reliable operation, and economi-
cally attractive product costs based on our new designs. We
currently rely and will continue to rely on Toshiba to address
these challenges. With our investments in the FlashVision
joint venture at Toshiba’s Yokkaichi facility, we are now and
will continue to be exposed to the adverse financial impact
of any delays or manufacturing problems associated with
wafer production lines. Any problems or delays in volume
production at the Yokkaichi fabrication facility could
adversely impact our operating results in 2003 and beyond.

Toshiba’s Yokkaichi facilities are a significant source
of supply of NAND flash memory wafers and any disrup-
tion in this supply will reduce our revenues, earnings and
gross margins.

Although we buy flash memory from the FlashVision joint
venture, we also rely on Toshiba’s Yokkaichi fabrication facil-
ity to supply on a foundry basis a portion of our NAND flash



memory wafers. Even if FlashVision successfully produces
quantities at planned levels, the Yokkaichi fabrication foundry
facilities may not produce satisfactory quantities of wafers
with acceptable prices, reliability and yields. Any failure in this
regard may curtail our business, financial condition and
results of operations, as our right to purchase NAND flash
memory products from Samsung is limited and may not be
sufficient to replace any shortfall in production at the
Yokkaichi facilities. In addition, any disruption in supply from
the Yokkaichi fabrication facility due to natural disaster,
power failure, labor unrest or other causes could significantly
harm our business, financial condition and results of opera-
tions. Moreover, we have no experience in operating a wafer
manufacturing line and we intend to rely on the existing man-
ufacturing organizations at the Yokkaichi fabrication facilities.
If Toshiba and FlashVision are uncompetitive or are unable to
satisfy our wafer supply requirements, our business, financial
condition and results of operations would be harmed.

Our obligations under our wafer supply agreements
with Toshiba and FlashVision, or decreased demand for
our products, may result in excess inventories and lead
to inventory write offs, and any technical difficufties or
manufacturing problems may result in shortages in sup-
ply, either of which would adversely affect our business.

Under the terms of our wafer supply agreements with
Toshiba, we are obligated to purchase half of FlashVision's
NAND wafer production output and we will also purchase
NAND wafers from Toshiba’s current Yokkaichi fabrication
facility on a foundry relationship basis. If we are unable for
any reason to achieve customer acceptance of our card
products built with these NAND flash chips or if demand
decreases, we will experience a significant increase in our
inventory, which may result in inventory write-offs and harm
our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Apart from our commitment to purchase wafer output from
FlashVision, under our foundry relationship with Toshiba, we
order NAND wafers under purchase orders that cannot be
cancelled. if we place purchase orders with Toshiba and our
business condition deteriorates, we may end up with excess
inventories of NAND wafers, which could harm our business
and financial condition. Should customer demand for NAND
flash products be less than our available supply, we may suf-
fer from reduced revenues and increased expenses, and
increased inventory of unsold NAND flash wafers, which
could adversely affect our operating results.

Under the terms of our foundry relationship with Toshiba
and wafer supply agreements with FlashVision, we are obli-
gated to provide a six-month rolling forecast of anticipated
purchase orders, which are difficult to estimate. Generally,
the estimates for the first three months of each rolling fore-
cast are binding commitments. The estimates for the remain-
ing months of the forecast may only be changed by a certain
percentage from the previous month’s forecast. This limits

our ability to react to fluctuations in demand for our products.

In addition, in order for us to sell NAND based CF cards,
8D cards and MultiMediaCards, we have been developing
new controllers, printed circuit boards and test algorithms.
Any technical difficulties or delays in the development of
these elements could prevent us from taking advantage of
the available NAND output and could adversely affect our
results of operations. See “- Risks Related to Our FlashVision
Joint Venture.”

We have contingent indemnification obligations for
certain liabilities Toshiba incurs as a result of
Toshiba’s guarantee of the FlashVision equipment
lease arrangement.

FlashVision secured a new equipment lease arrange-
ment of approximately 37.9 billion Japanese Yen (or
approximately $305 million based on the exchange rate in
effect on the date the agreement was executed) in May
2002 with Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd., or Mizuho, and
certain other financial institutions. Under the terms of the
new lease, Toshiba is required to provide a guarantee to
these financial institutions on behalf of FlashVision. We have
agreed to indemnify Toshiba in certain circumstances for
certain liabilities Toshiba incurs as a result of Toshiba's
guarantee of the FlashVision equipment lease arrangement.
If FlashVision fails to meet its lease commitments, and
Toshiba fulfills these commitments under the terms of
Toshiba's guarantee, then we will be obligated to reimburse
Toshiba for 49.28% of any claims under the lease, unless
such claims result from Toshiba’s failure to meet its obliga-
tions to FlashVision or its covenants to the lenders.
Because FlashVision’s new equipment lease arrangement is
denominated in Japanese Yen, the maximum amount of our
contingent indemnification obligation on a given date when
converted to U.S. Dollars will fluctuate based on the
exchange rate in effect on that date. As of December 31,
2002, the maximum amount of our contingent indemnifica-
tion obligation, which reflects payments and any lease
adjustments, was approximately $142.4 million.

Risks Related to Our investment in Tower
Semiconductor Ltd.

Our investments in Tower Semiconductor Ltd. are sub-
ject to certain inherent risks, including those associated
with certain Israeli regulatory requirements, political
unrest and financing difficulties, which could harm our
business and financial condition.

In July 2000, we entered into a share purchase agree-
ment to make a $75.0 million investment in Tower for its
new wafer foundry facility, Fab 2. As of December 31, 2002,
we had invested $68.0 million in Tower and obtained
6,100,959 ordinary shares, $14.3 million of prepaid wafer
9credits, and a warrant to purchase 360,313 ordinary Tower
shares at an exercise price of $7.50 per share. This warrant
expires on October 31, 2006. The investment in the ordinary
shares represents an approximate 14% current equity own-
ership position in Tower as of December 31, 2002. In 2002
and 2001, we recognized losses of $14.4 million and $26.1
million, respectively, on the other-than-temporary decline in
the value of our Tower investment and the impairment in
value on our prepaid wafer credits and approximately $0.7
million in unrealized losses related to the fair value of the
warrants purchased in October of 2002. Our investment in
Tower was valued at $21.3 million as of December 31, 2002.
At December 31, 2002, our prepaid wafer credits were val-
ued at $6.0 million, which is net of $2.8 million in write-
downs recorded in fiscal 2002, related to the recoverability
of these prepaid wafer credits.

In March 2002, we amended our foundry investment
agreements with Tower by agreeing to advance the pay-
ments for the third and fourth milestones. The payment for
the third milestone of $11.0 million was made on April 5,
2002. In exchange for this payment we received 1,071,487
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ordinary shares and prepaid wafer credits of $4.4 million.
The payment of $11.0 million for the fourth milestone was
paid on September 30, 2002. In exchange for this payment
we received 1,344,829 ordinary shares of Tower and $4.4
million in prepaid wafer credits. These wafer credits were
credited to our pre-paid wafer account and are to be
applied against orders placed with Fab 2, when completed;
provided, however, that until July 1, 2005, the amounts
added to the pre-paid wafer account may only be applied
towards a maximum of 7.5% of our wafer purchases. We
periodically assess the value of our prepaid wafer credits
considering the timing and quantity of our planned annual
wafer purchases, the status of the foundry construction and
general economic conditions. If we determine that the value
of these wafer credits is not recoverable, an additional
write-down will be recorded.

In addition to our commitment under the share purchase
agreement, we invested in Tower’s stock rights offering in
October 2002. Tower issued one right for each 4.94 shares
owned by record holders as of the record date. In exercis-
ing our rights to participate, we paid approximately $4.0 mil-
lion in exchange for 800,695 ordinary Tower shares and a
warrant to purchase 360,312 ordinary shares at $7.50 per
share. This warrant expires on October 31, 2006. During the
fourth quarter of 2002, we recorded a write-down in the fair
value of these Tower warrants of approximately $0.7 million.
The fair value of these warrants will continue to fluctuate
and additional adjustments to the warrant’s fair value will be
recorded in future periods.

In February 2003, we agreed to further amend our
foundry investment agreements with Tower, by agreeing to
advance the payment for the fifth and final milestone. This
amendment is subject to approval by all required parties,
including Tower’s shareholders. If approved, the terms of
the amendment require the payment of $11.0 million for the
advanced fifth milestone and this payment will be made in
two installments. The first installment of approximately $6.6
million will be due five business days after the amendment is
approved by all required parties, including Tower’s share-
holders; the second installment of approximately $4.4 million
will be due five business days after Tower has raised addi-
tional funds equal to approximately $22.0 million, referred to
as the Minimum Financing. Tower must complete the
Minimum Financing prior to December 31, 2003, or we will
not be obiigated to pay the second installment. Each of the
first and second installments will be paid provided Tower
meets these conditions, whether or not Tower actually
achieves its original fifth milestone obligation. Immediately
following the advancement of the first installment, we will be
issued fully-paid and non-assessable ordinary shares of
Tower equivalent to the first installment divided by the aver-
age trading price for ordinary shares of Tower during the
thirty (30) consecutive trading days preceding the date the
amendment was approved by Tower’s board of directors.
Immediately following the advancement of the second
installment, if it occurs, we will be issued fully-paid and non-
assessable ordinary shares of Tower equivalent to the sec-
ond installment divided by the price per ordinary share of
Tower paid in connection with the Minimum Financing, or the
Minimum Financing Price; provided, however, that if the
Minimum Financing Price cannot reasonably be calculated
from the documents evidencing the Minimum Financing,
then the Minimum Financing Price shall be deemed to be

the average trading price for the ordinary shares of Tower
during the thirty (30) consecutive trading days preceding the
date the second installment is paid. In addition, we have the
option to convert all or a portion of our unused pre-paid
wafer credits associated with the September 2002 fourth
milestone payment into fully-paid and non-assessable ordi-
nary shares of Tower based on the average closing price of
ordinary shares of Tower during the thirty (30) consecutive
trading days preceding December 31, 2005.

Completion of Tower’s wafer foundry facility, Fab 2, is
dependent on several factors and may never occur,
which may harm our business and results of operations.

Tower’s completion of Fab 2 is dependent on its ability to
obtain additional financing for the foundry construction from
equity and other sources and the release of grants and
approvals for changes in grant programs from the Israeli
government’s Investment Center. The current political
uncertainty and security situation in the region may
adversely impact Tower’s business prospects and may dis-
courage investments in Tower from outside sources. If
Tower is unable to obtain additional financing, complete
foundry construction in a timely manner or is unable to suc-
cessfully complete the development and transfer of
advanced CMOS process technologies and ramp-up of
production, the value of our equity investment in Tower and
wafer credits will decline significantly or possibly become
worthless. In addition, we may be unable to obtain sufficient
supply of wafers to manufacture our products, which would
harm our business. The value of our equity investment in
Tower may also be adversely affected by further deteriora-
tion of conditions in the market for foundry manufacturing
services and the market for semiconductor products gener-
ally. If the fair value of our Tower investment declines fur-
ther, we may record additional losses, which potentially
could amount to the remaining recorded value of our Tower
investment. Moreover, if Tower is unable to satisfy certain
financial covenants and comply with certain conditions as
required by its credit facility agreement, and therefore is not
able to obtain additional bank financing, or its current bank
obligations are accelerated, or it fails to secure customers
for its foundry capacity to help offset its fixed costs, such
failure could jeopardize the completion of Fab 2 and
Tower’s ability to continue operations.

We cannot assure you that the Tower facility will be com-
pleted or will begin production as scheduled, or that the
processes needed to fabricate our wafers will be qualified at
the new facility. Moreover, we cannot assure you that this
new facility will be able to achieve acceptable yields or
deliver sufficient quantities of wafers on a timely basis at a
competitive price. Furthermore, if the depressed business
conditions for semicanductor wafers persists throughout
2003 and beyond, Tower may be unable to operate Fab 2 at
an optimum capacity utilization, which would cause them to
operate at a loss or to discontinue operations.

The current political unrest and violence in Israel
may hinder Tower’s ability to obtain investment in and
complete its fabrication facility, which would harm our
business.

Although we do not believe the current political unrest and
continuing escalation of violence in Israel represent a major
security problem for Tower since Migdal Haemexk, Israel is in
a relatively secure geographic location, the unrest may
expand and even if it remains at current levels, could cause
scheduling delays, as well as economic uncertainty, which




could cause potential investors and foundry customers to
avoid Tower. Moreover, if U.S. military actions in iraq, or
elsewhere, result in retaliation against Israel, Tower’s fabri-
cation facility may be adversely impacted causing a decline
in the value of our investment.

Risks Related to Our investment in UMC

Fluctuations in the market value of our UMC foundry
investment affect our financial results and in fiscal 2001
we recorded a loss on investment in foundry of $275.8
million on our UMC investment and we may record addi-
tional losses in the future.

In 1997, we invested $51.2 million in United Silicon, Inc., or
USIC, a semiconductor manufacturing subsidiary of United
Microelectronics Corporation, or UMC, which was merged
into the UMC parent company on January 3, 2000. In
exchange for our USIC shares, we received 111 milion UMC
shares. In 2000, 2001 and 2002, we received additional
shares as stock dividends totaling approximately 22 million,
20 million and 23 million shares, respectively. Our equity
investment in UMC was valued at $113.0 million at December
31, 2002 and included an unrealized loss of $ 6.6 million,
which was included in other comprehensive income. In fiscal
2001, we recorded a loss of $275.8 million, or $166.9 million
net of taxes, on the other-than-temporary decline in the
value of our UMC investment. If the fair value of our UMC
investment declines in future periods, we may record addi-
tional losses for those periods. In addition, in future periods,
we may recognize a gain or loss upon the sale of our UMC
shares, which will impact our financial results.

Risks Related to Vendors and Subcontractors

We depend on our suppliers and third-party subcontrac-
tors for several of the critical components and our prod-
ucts and our business could be harmed if we are unable
to obtain a sufficient supply of these components on a
timely basis.

We rely on our vendors, some of which are sole source
suppliers, for several of our critical components. We do not
have long-term supply agreements with some of these ven-
dors. Qur business, financial condition and operating results
could be significantly harmed by delays or reductions in
shipments if we are unable to develop alternative sources or
obtain sufficient quantities of these components.

We also rely on third-party subcontractors for our wafer
testing, packaged memory final testing, card assembly and
card testing, including Silicon Precision Industries Co., Ltd.
and United Test Center, Inc. in Taiwan and Celestica, Inc.
and Flextronics in China. In addition to our existing subcon-
tract suppliers, we are qualifying other subcontract suppliers
for wafer testing, packaged memory final testing, card
assembly and card testing services. We have no long-term
contracts with existing subcontractors nor do we expect to
have long-term contracts with new subcontract suppliers.
As such, we cannot and will not be able to directly controi
product delivery schedules. Any significant problems that
occur at our subcontractor suppliers, or their failure to per-
form at the level we expect could lead to product shortages
or quality assurance problems, which could increase the
manufacturing costs of our products and have adverse
effects on our operating results. Furthermore, we are manu-
facturing on a turnkey basis with some of our existing sub-
contract suppliers as well as with our anticipated newly
qualified subcontract suppliers, which may reduce our

visibility and control of their inventories of purchased parts
necessary to build our products.

We depend on third-party foundries for silicon
warers and any shortage or disruption in our supply
from these sources will reduce our revenues, earnings
and gross margins.

All of our flash memory card products require silicon
wafers, a substantial majority of which are currently supplied
by Toshiba’s wafer facility at Yokkaichi, Japan, as well as
UMC in Taiwan and to a lesser extent by Hitachi and
Samsung. Our NAND flash memory products are substan-
tially supplied by Toshiba’s Yokkaichi wafer fabrication facili-
ties and, to a lesser extent, by Samsung. If Toshiba,
FlashVision, Samsung and UMC are uncompetitive or are
unable to satisfy these requirements, our business, financial
condition and operating results may suffer. Any disruption in
supply from these sources due to natural disaster, power
failure, labor unrest or other causes could significantly harm
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our obligation to provide a six-month rolling forecast
of anticipated purchase orders under the terms of our
warer supply agreements with Toshiba, FlashVision,
Samsung and UMC, limits our ability to react to fluctua-
tions in demand for our products which may lead to
excess wafer inventories and could result in higher oper-
ating expenses and reduced gross margins.

Under the terms of our supply agreements with
FlashVision, Hitachi, Samsung, Toshiba, Tower and UMC, we
are obligated to provide a six-month rolling forecast of antici-
pated purchase orders, Generally, the estimates for the first
three months of each rolling forecast are binding commit-
ments. The estimates for the remaining months of the fore-
cast may only be changed by a certain percentage from the
previous month’s forecast. In addition, we are obligated to
purchase 50% of all of FlashVision's wafer production, This
limits our ability to react to fluctuations in demand for our
products. For example, if customer demand falls below our
forecast and we are unable to reschedule or cancel our
orders, we may end up with excess inventories, which could
result in higher operating expenses and reduced gross mar-
gins. Conversely, if customer demand exceeds our forecasts,
we may be unable to obtain an adequate supply of wafers
and flash memaory products to fill customer orders, which
could result in dissatisfied customers, lost sales and lower
revenues. If we are unable to obtain scheduled quantities of
wafers or flash memory products with acceptable price
and/or yields from any foundry, our business, financial condi-
tion and results of operations could be harmed.

We and our manufacturing partners must achieve
acceptable wafer manufacturing yields or our costs will
increase and production output will decrease, which
could negatively impact our business.

The fabrication of our products requires wafers to be pro-
duced in a highly controlled and ultra clean environment.
Semiconductor companies that supply our wafers sometimes
have experienced problems achieving acceptable wafer
manufacturing yields. Semiconductor manufacturing yields
are a function of both our design technology and the
foundry’s manufacturing process technology. Low yields may
result from design errors or manufacturing failures. Yield
problems may not be determined or improved until an actual
product is made and can be tested. As a result, yield prob-
lems may not be identified until the wafers are well into the
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production process. The risks associated with yields are
even greater because we rely exclusively on independent
offshore foundries for our wafers which increases the effort
and time required to identify, communicate and resolve
manufacturing yield problems. If the foundries cannot
achieve planned yields, we will experience higher costs and
reduced product availability, which could harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Competition

We face competition from flash memory manufacturers
and memory card assemblers and if we cannot com-
pete effectively, our business will be harmed.

We compete in an industry characterized by intense
competition, rapid technological changes, evolving industry
standards, declining average selling prices and rapid prod-
uct obsolescence. Our competitors include many large
domestic and international companies that have greater
access to advanced wafer foundry capacity, substantially
greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources,
broader product lines and longer standing relationships
with customers.

Our primary competitors include companies that develop
and manufacture storage flash chips, such as Hitachi,
Samsung and Toshiba. In addition, we compete with compa-
nies that manufacture cther forms of flash memory and
companies that purchase flash memory components and
assemble memory cards. Companies that manufacture
socket flash, linear flash and components include Advanced
Micro Devices, Atmel, Fujitsu, Intel, Macronix, Mitsubishi,
Sharp Electronics and ST Microelectronics. Companies that
combine controllers and flash memory chips developed by
others into flash storage cards, or that resell flash cards
under their brand name include Dane-Elec Manufacturing,
Delkin Devices, Inc., Fuji, Hagiwara, Hama, I/O Data,
Infineon, Jessops, Kingston Technology, Kodak, Lexar
Media, M-Systems, Maisushita Battery, Matsushita
Panasonic, Memorex, Micron Technology, PNY, PQI, Pretec,
Silicon Storage Technology, Silicon Tek, Simple Technology,
Sony, TDK, Toshiba and Viking Components and several
other resellers primarily located in Taiwan.

We have entered into agreements with, and
face direct competition from, Toshiba, Samsung and
other competitors.

In 2000, we along with Matsushita and Toshiba, formed
the Secure Digital Association, or SD Association, to jointly
develop and promote the Secure Digital card. Under this
arrangement, royalty-bearing Secure Digital card licenses
will be available to other flash memory card manufacturers,
resulting in increased competition for our Secure Digital card
and other products. In addition, Matsushita and Toshiba sell
Secure Digital cards that compete directly with our products.
While other flash card manufacturers are required to pay
license fees and royalties, which will be shared among
Matsushita, Toshiba and us, there are no royalties or license
fees payable among the three companies for their respec-
tive sales of the Secure Digital card. Thus, we forfeit poten-
tial royalty income from Secure Digital card sales by
Matsushita and Toshiba. To date we have not received any
meaningful royalties from any SD licensees.

In addition, we and Toshiba each separately market and
sell NAND flash memory products developed and manufac-
tured by our joint venture, FlashVision. Accordingly, we com-
pete directly with Toshiba for sales of these products.

Moreover, we rely principally on Toshiba, and to a lesser
extent Samsung, for our NAND flash memory supply.

We have entered into patent cross-license agreements
with several of our leading competitors including Hitachi,
intel, Matsushita, SST, Samsung, Sharp, Sony, Toshiba and
TDK. Under these agreements, each party may manufacture
and sell products that incorporate technology covered by
the other party’s patent or patents related to flash memory
devices. As we continue to license our patents to certain of
our competitors, competition will increase and may harm
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Currently, we are engaged in licensing discussions with sev-
eral of our competitors. There can be no assurance that we
will be successful in concluding licensing agreements under
terms which are favorable to us, or at all.

Our products compete against new products that
promote different industry standards from ours, and if
these new industry standards gain market acceptance,
our business will be harmed.

Competing products have been introduced that promote
industry standards that are different from our products
including, M-Systems’ DiskOnKey, a USB-based memory
device, the Secure MultiMediaCard from Hitachi and
Infineon. In addition, in 2002, Fuji and Olympus introduced
the xD Picture card format, which could lead to decreased
revenues, as well as,write-downs for obsolete inventory, of
our Smart Media card products in 2003. Each competing
standard may not be mechanically and electronically com-
patible with our products. If a manufacturer of digital cam-
eras or other consumer electronic devices designs in one of
these alternative competing standards, our products will be
eliminated from use in that product. In addition, other com-
panies, such as Sanyo and Matrix Semiconductor have
announced products or technologies that may potentially
compete with our products.

The Microdrive, which Hitachi recently acquired from
IBM, is a rotating disk drive in a Type Il CF format, which
competes directly with our larger capacity CF memory
cards. M-Systems’ DiskOnChip 2000 Millennium product
competes against our NAND Flash Components in embed-
ded storage applications such as set top boxes and net-
working appliances.

Sony has licensed its proprietary Memory Stick to us and
other companies and Sony has agreed to supply us a por-
tion of its Memory Stick output for resale under our brand
name. In addition, we and Sony have co-developed and co-
own the specifications for the next generation Memory Stick,
known as the MemoryStick Pro. If consumer electronics
products using the Memory Stick Pro achieve widespread
use, sales of our MultiMediaCard, SD card, SmartMedia card
and CF card products may decline. Our MultiMediaCard
products also have faced significant competition from
Toshiba's SmartMedia flash cards.

We face competition from products based on alterna-
tive flash technologies and if we cannot compete effec-
tively, our business will be harmed.

We also face competition from products based on MLC
flash technology from Intel and Hitachi. These products cur-
rently compete with our NAND MLC products. MLC flash is
a technological innovation that allows each flash memory
cell to store two bits of information instead of the traditional
single bit stored by conventional flash technology. In addi-
tion, Infineon has recently formed a separate business unit,




called infineon Flash, that was formed to develop and com-
mercialize a new flash technology called NROM, which
offers 2 bits per cell and is claimed to match the density of
our NAND MLC. Infineon has also stated its intention to uti-
lize this NROM flash memory technology, once it reaches
production, in a line of flash cards that will compete with our
cards, including our MultiMediaCard and SD card. Moreover,
each of Micron Technology, Inc., Hynix Semiconductor Inc.,
and ST Microelectronics, have stated their intention to com-
pete with NAND flash memory with their own flash products.
If any of these competitors is successful, this new competi-
tion could adversely impact our future sales.

Furthermore, we expect to face competition both from
existing competitors and from other companies that may
enter our existing or future markets that have similar or
alternative data storage solutions, which may be less costly
or provide additional features. Price is an important competi-
tive factor in the market for consumer products. Increased
price competition could lower gross margins if our average
selling prices decrease faster than our costs and could also
result in lost sales.

Risks Related to Sales of Our Products

Sales to a small number of customers represent a sig-
nificant portion of our revenues and if we were to lose
one of our major customers or experience any material
reduction in orders from any of these customers, our
revenues and operating results would suffer.

Approximately one-half of our revenues come from a
small number of customers. For example, sales to our top
10 customers accounted for approximately 50% of our prod-
uct revenues in 2002, 2001 and 2000. If we were to lose
one of our major customers or experience any material
reduction in orders from any of these customers, our rev-
enues and operating results would suffer. Our sales are
generally made by standard purchase orders rather than
long-term contracts. In addition, the composition of our
major customer base changes from year to year as the
market demand for our customers’ products changes.

Variability of average selling prices and gross mar-
gins resulting from changes in our product mix and
price reductions for certain of our products may cause
our gross margins and net profitability to suffer.

Our product mix varies quarterly, which affects our overall
average selling prices and gross margins. Our CF card, SD
card, SmartMedia card, and MultiMediaCard products,
which currently represent the majority of our product rev-
enues, have lower average selling prices and gross margins
than our higher capacity FlashDisk and FlashDrive products.
We believe that sales of CF card, SD card, SmartMedia
card, and MultiMediaCard card products will continue to
represent the majority of our product revenues as consumer
applications, such as digital cameras and digital music play-
ers, become more popular. Flash data storage markets are
intensely competitive, and price reductions for our products
are necessary to meet consumer price points. In 2002, due
to competitive pricing pressures, our average seiling price
per megabyte declined by approximately 50% compared to
2001. Due to the oversupply of flash memory foundry capac-
ity and the economic slow-down in 2001, our average seling
price per megabyte declined 50% compared to 2000,
which was much more severe than the 22% decrease we
experienced in 2000. Price declines for our products could

continue to be significant. If we cannot reduce our product
manufacturing costs in future periods to offset further price
reductions, our gross margins and net profitability will suffer.

Our selling prices may decline due to excess capac-
ity in the market for flash memory products and if we
cannot reduce our manufacturing costs to offset these
price declines, our gross margins and net profitability
will be harmed.

Throughout 2001, worldwide flash memory supply
exceeded customer demand, causing excess supply in the
markets for our products and significant declines in average
selling prices. If this situation were to occur again in 2003,
price declines for our products could be significant. If we are
unable to reduce our product manufacturing costs to offset
these reduced prices, our gross margins and net profitability
would be adversely impacted.

Our business depends significantly upon sales of
products in the highly competitive consumer market, a
significant portion of which are made to retailers and
through distributors, and if our distributors and retailers
are not successful in this market, we could experience
substantial product returns, which would negatively
impact our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

In 2001 and 2002, we continued to receive more product
revenue and ship more units of products for consumer elec-
tronics applications, including digital cameras and PDAs,
compared to other applications. The consumer market is
intensely competitive and is more price sensitive than our
other target markets. In addition, we must spend more on
marketing and promotion in consumer markets to establish
brand name recognition and drive demand.

A significant portion of our sales to the consumer elec-
tronics market are made to retailers and through distribu-
tors. Sales through these channels typically include rights to
return unsold inventory. As a result, we do not recognize
revenue until after the product has been sold through to the
end user. If our distributors and retailers are not successful
in this market, there could be substantial product returns,
which would harm our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Sales of our products through our retail distribution
channel include the use of third party fulfilment facilities
that hold our manufacturing components and finished
goods on a consignment basis, and if these fulfillment
facilities were to experience a loss with respect to our
inventory, we may not be able to recoup the full cost of
the inventory, which would harm our business.

Qur retail distribution channel utilizes third party fulfillment
facilities, such as Modus Media International, Inc. These ful-
fillment houses hold our manufacturing components and fin-
ished goods on a consignment basis, providing packout
services for our retail business, which include labeling and
packaging our raw cards, as well as shipping the finished
product directly to our customers. While our third party fuffill-
ment houses bear the risk of loss with respect to our inven-
tory, the amount we are reimbursed by them or their insur-
ers may be less than our original cost to produce the inven-
tory, which would harm our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

There is seasonality in our business, which may
impact our product sales, particularly in the fourth and
first quarters of the fiscal year.
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Sales of our products in the consumer electronics market
may be subject to seasonality. As a result, product sales
may be impacted by seasonal purchasing patterns with
higher sales generally occurring in the fourth quarter of each
year followed by declines in the first quarter of the following
year. In addition, in the past we have experienced a
decrease in orders in the first quarter from our Japanese
OEM customers primarily because most customers in Japan
operate on a fiscal year ending in March and prefer to delay
purchases until the beginning of their next fiscal year.

We may not be successful selling our products on the
Internet and these sales may undercut our traditional
sales channels.

Web-based sales of our products today represent a small
but growing portion of our overall sales. Sales on the
Internet tend to undercut traditional distribution channels
and may dramatically change the way our consumer prod-
ucts are purchased in future years. We cannot assure you
that we will successfully develop the Internet sales channel
or successfully manage the inherent conflict between the
Internet and our traditional sales channels.

Risks Related to Cur inteilectual Property

We may be unable to protect our intellectual property
rights, which would harm our business, financial condi-
tion and results of operations.

We rely on a combination of patents, trademarks, copy-
right and trade secret taws, confidentiality procedures and
licensing arrangements to protect our intellectual property
rights. In the past, we have been involved in significant dis-
putes regarding our intellectual property rights and claims
that we may be infringing third parties’ intellectual property
rights. We expect that we may be involved in similar dis-
putes in the future. We cannot assure you that:

s any of our existing patents will not be invalidated;

e patents will be issued for any of our pending

applications;

e any claims allowed from existing or pending patents
will have sufficient scope or strength;

e our patents will be issued in the primary countries
where our products are sold in order to protect our
rights and potential commercial advantage; or

e any of our products do not infringe on the patents of
other companies.

In addition, our competitors may be able to design their
products around our patents.

We intend to vigorously enforce our patents but we can-
not be sure that our efforts will be successful. If we were to
have an adverse result in any litigation, we could be required
to pay substantial damages, cease the manufacture, use
and sale of infringing products, expend significant resources
to develop non-infringing technology, discontinue the use of
certain processes or obtain licenses to the infringing tech-
nology. Any litigation is likely to result in significant expense
to us, as well as divert the efforts of our technical and man-
agement personnel.

We may be unable to license intellectual property to
or from third parties as needed, or renew existing
licenses, and we have agreed tc indemnify various sup-
pliers and customers for alleged patent infringement,
which could expose us to liability for damages,
increase our costs or limit or prohibit us from selling
certain products.

If we decide to incorporate third party technology into our
products or if we are found to infringe on others’ intellectual
property, we could be required to license intellectual prop-
erty from a third party. We may also need to license some
of our intellectual property to others in order to enable us to
obtain cross-licenses to third party patents. Currently, we
have patent cross-license agreements with several compa-
nies, including Hitachi, Intel, Matsushita, SST, Samsung,
Sharp, Smartdisk, Sony, TDK and Toshiba and we are in dis-
cussions with other companies regarding potential cross-
license agreements. We cannot be certain that licenses will
be offered when we need them, or that the terms offered
will be acceptable. If we do obtain licenses from third par-
ties, we may be required to pay license fees or royalty pay-
ments. In addition, if we are unable to obtain a license that
is necessary to the manufacture of our products, we could
be reqguired to suspend the manufacture of products or stop
our wafer suppliers from using processes that may infringe
the rights of third parties. We cannot assure you that we
would be successful in redesigning our products or that the
necessary licenses will be available under reasonable terms,
or that our existing licensees will renew their licenses upon
expiration, or that we will be successful in signing new
licensees in the future.

We have historically agreed to indemnify various suppliers
and customers for alleged patent infringement. The scope of
such indemnity varies, but may, in some instances, include
indemnification for damages and expenses, including attor-
ney’s fees. We may periodically engage in litigation as a
result of these indemnification obligations. We are not cur-
rently engaged in any such indemnification proceedings. Our
insurance policies exclude coverage for third party claims for
patent infringement. Any future obligation to indemnify our
customers or suppliers could harm our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

We may be involved in litigation regarding our intel-
lectual property rights or those of third parties, which
would be costly and would divert the efforts of our tech-
nical and management personnel.

Litigation is subject to inherent risks and uncertainties
that may cause actual results to differ materially from our
expectations. Factors that could cause litigation results to
differ include, but are not limited to, the discovery of previ-
ously unknown facts, changes in the law or in the interpreta-
tion of laws, and uncertainties associated with the judicial
decision-making process. Furthermore, parties that we have
sued and that we may sue for patent infringement may
counter sue us for infringing their patents.

On or about August 3, 2001, the Lemelson Medical,
Education & Research Foundation, or Lemelson Foundation,
filed a complaint for patent infringement against us and four
other defendants. The suit, captioned Lemelson Medical,
Education, & Research Foundation, Limited Partnership vs.
Broadcom Corporation, et al., Civil Case No. CIVO1 1440PHX
HRH, was filed in the United States District Court, District of
Arizona. On November 13, 2001, the Lemelson Foundation
fled an Amended Complaint, which made the same sub-
stantive allegations against us but named more than twenty-
five additional defendants. The Amended Compilaint alleges
that we, and the other defendants, have infringed certain
patents held by the Lemelson Foundation pertaining to bar
code scanning technology. By its complaint, the Lemelson
Foundation requests that we be enjoined from our allegedly




infringing activities and seeks unspecified damages. On
February 4, 2002, we filed an answer to the amended com-
plaint, wherein we alleged that we do not infringe the
asserted patents, and further contend that the patents are
not valid or enforceable.

On October 15, 2001, we filed a complaint for patent
infringement in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of California against Micron Technology,
Inc., or Micron. In the suit, captioned SanDisk Corp. v.
Micron Technology, Inc., Civil No. CV 01-3855 CW, the com-
plaint sought damages and an injunction against Micron for
making, selling, importing or using flash memory cards that
infringed our U.S. Patent No. 6,149,316. On February 15,
2002, Micron answered the complaint, denied liability, and
counterclaimed seeking a declaration that the patent in suit
was not infringed, was invalid, and was unenforceable. On
May 31, 2002, based on allegations of infringement leveled
by Micron against us, we filed a complaint for declaratory
judgment, seeking a declaration that we did not and had not
infringed five patents (or, in the alternative, that the patents
were invalid). The patents in gquestion were U.S. Patent No.
4,468,308; U.S. Patent No. 5,286,344; U.S. Patent No.
5,320,981; U.S. Patent No. 6,015,760; and U.S. Patent No.
6,287,978 B1. The suit was captioned SanDisk Corp. v.
Micron Technology, Inc., Civil No. CV 02-2627 VRW. On June
4, 2002, Micron answered and counterclaimed alleging that
we did infringe the five iisted patents. On October 29, 2002,
we filed a motion for summary adjudication against Micron
to eliminate some of Micron’s claims. On December 23,
2002, the parties reached a settlement and dismissed all
pending litigation between them. The terms of the settle-
ment are confidential.

On October 31, 2001, we filed a complaint for patent
infringement in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of California against Memorex Products,
Inc., Pretec Electronics Corporation, Ritek Corporation and
Power Quotient International Co., Ltd. In the suit, captioned
SanDisk Corp. v. Memorex Products, Inc., et al., Civil No. CV
01-4063 VRW, we seek damages and injunctions against
these companies from making, selling, importing or using
flash memory cards that infringe our U.S. patent No.
5,602,987 or the '987 Patent. Defendants have filed answers
denying the allegations. We filed a motion for a preliminary
injunction in the suit to enjoin Memorex, Pretec and Ritek
from making, selling, importing or using flash memory cards
that infringe our '987 Patent prior to the trial on the merits.
On May 17, 2002, the Court denied our motion. Discovery
has commenced. A hearing on claim construction and
Ritek’s motion for summary judgment of non-infringement is
scheduled for May 2, 2003.

On November 30, 2001, we filed a complaint for patent
infringement in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of California against Power Quotient
International - USA Inc, or PQI-USA. In the suit, captioned
SanDisk Corp. v. Power Quotient International - USA inc.,
Civil No. C 01-21111, we sought damages and an injunction
against PQI-USA from making, selling, importing or using
flash memory cards that infringe our U.S. patent No.
5,602,987. The PQI-USA complaint and litigation are related
to the October 31, 2001 litigation referred to above. On
October 16, 2002, Power Quotient International Co., Ltd. and
Power Quotient International-USA entered into a Consent
Judgment of Infringement and Validity and Injunction and

settlement agreement with us, in which both PQI companies
stipulated that the CompactFlash™ and PC ATA cards sold
by them infringe our '987 patent and that the ‘987 Patent is
valid and enforceable. In addition, both PQI companies are
“enjoined from using in the United States, making in the
United States... selling in the United States... or importing
into the United States for sale, CompactFlash™ and PC ATA
cards.” In addition, the PQI companies will pay us an undis-
closed amount for past damages and the parties agreed to
dismiss all claims between SanDisk and the PQI companies
in both lawsuits described above without prejudice. The
Consent Judgment of Infringement and Validity and Injunction
is subject to court approval, which is currently pending.

On August 8, 2002, we filed an amended complaint to
join Mr. Flash USA and Mark C. Lee as defendants in the
PQI-USA matter. On December 5, 2002, we entered into a
settlement agreement with Mr. Lee, doing business as Mr.
Flash USA. On December 12, 2002, the parties filed a
Stipulated Dismissal Without Prejudice and Consent
Injunction, in which Mr. Lee is “enjoined from directly or indi-
rectly making in the United States... selling in the United
States... or importing into the United States for sale,
CompactFlash™ and PC ATA cards that are manufactured
by Power Quotient International Co., Ltd.” On January 28,
2003, the Court entered the Stipulated Dismissal Without
Prejudice and Consent injunction.

On or about March 5, 2002, Samsung filed a patent
infringement lawsuit against us in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas, Civil Action No.
9:02CV58. The lawsuit alleged that we infringed four
Samsung United States patents, Nos. 5,473,563; 5,514,889;
5,546,341 and 5,642,309, and sought a preliminary and per-
manent injunction against certain of our products, as well as
damages, attorneys’ fees and costs of the fawsuit. On March
28, 2002, we filed an answer and counterclaims denying
infringement and asserting that the Samsung patents are
invalid and/or unenforceable. Our counterclaims asserted
that Samsung breached a 1997 agreement between SanDisk
and Samsung. In August 2002, we and Samsung settled all
pending litigation between us and entered into a new patent
cross license agreement and a flash memory purchase
agreement. On November 26, 2002, the parties filed a
Stipulated Dismissal Without Prejudice, which was entered by
the Court on December 4, 2002.

Risks Related to Our internationai Operations, War in
lraq and Threats of War Elsewhere, and Changes in
Securities Laws and Regulations

Because of our international operations, we must com-
ply with numerous international laws and regulations
and we are vulnerable to political instability and cur-
rency fluctuations.

Political risks. Currently, the majority of our flash memory
and controller wafers are produced by Toshiba in Japan and
UMC in Taiwan. After the restructuring of our FlashVision
business and the signing of our new flash memory purchase
agreement with Samsung, all of our flash memory and con-
troller wafers and flash memory products are now produced
overseas by Toshiba, UMC and Samsung. We also use third-
party subcontractors in Taiwan, China and Japan for the
assembly and testing of some of our card and component
products. We may therefore be affected by the political, eco-
nomic and military conditions in these countries. Taiwan is
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currently engaged in various political disputes with China
and in the past both countries have conducted military exer-
cises in or near the other’s territorial waters and airspace.
The Taiwanese and Chinese governments may escalate
these disputes, resulting in an economic embargo, a disrup-
tion in shipping routes or even military hostilities. This could
harm our business by interrupting or delaying the production
or shipment of flash memory wafers or card products by our
Taiwanese or Japanese foundries and subcontractors.

Under its current leadership, the Chinese government has
been pursuing economic reform policies, including the
encouragement of foreign trade and investment and greater
economic decentralization. The Chinese government may
not continue to pursue these policies and, even if it does
continue, these policies may not be successful. The Chinese
government may also significantly alter these policies from
time to time. In addition, China does not currently have a
comprehensive and highly developed legal system, particu-
larty with respect to the protection of intellectual property
rights. As a result, enforcement of existing and future laws
and contracts is uncertain, and the implementation and
interpretation of such laws may be inconsistent. Such incon-
sistency could lead to piracy and degradation of our inteliec-
tual property protection.

Although we do not believe the current political unrest
and continuing escalation of violence in Israel represent a
major security problem for Tower since Migdal Haemek,
Israel is in a relatively secure geographic location, the unrest
may expand and even if it remains at current levels, could
cause scheduling delays, as well as economic uncertainty,
which could cause potential foundry customers to go else-
where for their foundry business. Moreover, if U.S. military
actions in Afghanistan, iraq or elsewhere, or current israeli
military actions, result in retaliation against Israel, Tower’'s
fabrication facility and our engineering design center in Israel
may be adversely impacted. In addition, while the political
unrest has not yet posed a direct security risk to our engi-
neering design center in Israel, it may cause unforeseen
delays in the development of our products and may in the
future pose such a direct security risk.

Economic risks. We price our products primarily in U.S.
Dollars. if the Euro, Yen and other currencies weaken rela-
tive to the U.S. Dollar, our products may be relatively more
expensive in these regions, which could result in a decrease
in our sales. While most of our sales are denominated in
U.S. Dollars, we invoice certain Japanese customers in
Japanese Yen and are subject to exchange rate fluctuations
on these transactions, which could harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

General risks. Our international business activities could
also be limited or disrupted by any of the following factors:

° the need to comply with foreign government regulation;

» general geopolitical risks such as political and economic

instability, potential hostilities and changes in diplomatic
and trade relationships;

® natural disasters affecting the countries in which we

conduct our business, particularly Japan, such as the
earthquakes experienced in Taiwan in 1999 and in Japan
and China in previous years;

e imposition of regulatory requirements, tariffs, import and

export restrictions and other barriers and restrictions;

¢ longer payment cycles and greater difficulty in accounts

receivable collection, particularly as we increase our

sales through the retail distribution channel, and general
business conditions deteriorate;

s adverse tax rules and regulations;

° weak protection of our intellectual property rights; and

e delays in product shipments due to local customs
restrictions.

Terrorist attacks and threats, and government
responses thereto, may negatively impact all aspects of
our operations, revenues, costs and stock price.

The terrorist attacks in the United States, the U.S. retalia-
tion for these attacks, the war in iraq and threats of war
elsewhere and the related decline in consumer confidence
and continued economic weakness have had a substantial
adverse impact on our retail sales. Any escalation in these
events or similar future events may disrupt our operations or
those of our customers and suppliers and may affect the
availability of materials needed to manufacture our products
or the means to transport those materials to manufacturing
facilities and finished products to customers. In addition,
these events have had and may continue to have an
adverse impact on the U.S, and world economy in general
and consumer confidence and spending in particular, which
could harm our sales. In addition, recent consumer reports
indicate that consumer confidence has reached its lowest
level since 1993. If consumer confidence continues to
decline or does not recover, our revenues and results of
operations may be adversely impacted throughout 2003 and
beyond. Any of these events could increase volatility in the
U.S. and world financial markets, which could harm our
stock price and may limit the capital resources available to
us and our customers or suppliers. This could have a signifi-
cant impact on our operating results, revenues and costs
and may result in increased volatility in the market price of
our common stock.

Recently enacted and proposed changes in securities
laws and regulations are likely to increase our costs.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that became law in July
2002 requires changes in our corporate governance, public
disclosure and compliance practices. The Act also requires
the SEC to promulgate new rules on a variety of subjects. In
addition to final rules and rule proposals already made,
Nasdaq has proposed revisions to its requirements for com-
panies, such as us, that are Nasdag-listed. We expect these
developments to increase our legal and financial compliance
costs, and to make some activities more difficult, such as
stockholder approval of new option plans. We expect these
developments to make it more difficult and more expensive
for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and
we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur
substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These devel-
opments could make it more difficult for us to attract and
retain qualified members of our board of directors, particu-
larly to serve on our audit committee and qualified executive
officers. We are presently evaluating and monitoring regula-
tory developments and cannot estimate the timing or mag-
nitude of additional costs we may incur as a result.

Risks Related to Our Charter Documents,
Stockholder Rights Plan, Cur Stock Price and Our
Debt Rating

Anti-takeover provisions in cur charter documents,
stockholder rights plan and in Delaware law could



prevent or delay a change in control and, as a reéult,
negatively impact our stockholders.

We have taken a number of actions that couid have the
effect of discouraging a takeover attempt. For example, we
have adopted a stockholder rights plan that would cause
substantial dilution to a stockholder, and substantially
increase the cost paid by a stockholder, who attempts to
acquire us on terms not approved by our board of directors.
This could prevent us from being acquired. In addition, our
certificate of incorporation grants the board of directors the
authority to fix the rights, preferences and privileges of and
issue up to 4,000,000 shares of preferred stock without
stockholder action. Although we have no present intention to
issue shares of preferred stock, such an issuance could have
the effect of making it more difficult and less attractive for a
third party to acquire a majority of our outstanding voting
stock. Preferred stock may also have other rights, including
economic rights senior to our common stock that could have
a material adverse effect on the market value of our com-
mon stock. In addition, we are subject to the anti-takeover
provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law. This section provides that except in certain
limited circumstances a corporation shall not engage in any
business combination with any interested stockholder during
the three-year period following the time that such stock-
holder becomes an interested stockholder. This provision
could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of
control of SanDisk.

Our stock price has been, and may continue to be,
volatile, which could result in investors losing all or part
of their investments.

The market price of our stock has fiuctuated significantly
in the past and is likely to continue to fluctuate in the future.
For example, in the 12 months ending December 31, 2002,
our stock price fluctuated significantly from a low of $9.60 to
a high of $29.20. We believe that such fluctuations will con-
tinue as a result of future announcements concerning us, our
competitors or principal customers regarding technological
innovations, new product introductions, governmental regula-
tions, litigation or changes in earnings estimates by analysts.
In addition, in recent years the stock market has experienced
significant price and volume fluctuations and the market
prices of the securities of high technology and semiconduc-
tor companies have been especially volatile, often for rea-
sons outside the control of the particular companies. These
fluctuations as well as general economic, political and market
conditions may have an adverse affect on the market price
of our common stock. Furthermore, the market price for the
notes may be adversely affected by declines in the market
price of our common stock or deterioration of our financial
performance, declines in the overall market for similar securi-
ties and the actual or perceived performance or prospects
for companies in our industry.

The ratings assigned to us and our notes may fluctu-
ate, which could harm the market price of the notes and
our common stock.

We and our notes have been rated by Standard & Poor’s
Ratings Services, and may be rated by other rating agencies
in the future. Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services assigned its
"B” corporate credit rating to us and its “CCC+” subordinated
debt rating to our notes. If our current ratings are lowered or

if other rating agencies assign us or the notes ratings lower
than expected by investors, the market price of the notes
and our common stock would be significantly harmed.

Risks Related to OGur indebtedness

We have increased our indebtedness through our con-
vertible subordinated notes offering, which may restrict
our cash flow, make it difficult for us to obtain future
financing, divert our resources from other uses, limit our
ability to react to changes in the industry, and place us
at a competitive disadvantage.

As a result of the sale and issuance of our 4 1/2% con-
vertible subordinated notes in December 2001 and January
2002, we incurred $150.0 million aggregate principal amount
of additional indebtedness, substantially increasing our ratio
of debt to total capitalization. While the notes are outstand-
ing, we will have debt service obligations on the notes of
approximately $6.8 million per year in interest payments. If
we are unable to generate sufficient cash to meet these obli-
gations and must instead use our existing cash or invest-
ments, we may have to reduce, curtail or terminate other
activities of our business.

We intend to fulfill our debt service obligations from cash
generated by our operations, if any, and from our existing
cash and investments. If necessary, among other alterna-
tives, we may add lease lines of credit to finance capital
expenditures and obtain other long-term debt and lines of
credit. We may incur substantial additional indebtedness in
the future. The leve! of our indebtedness, among other
things, could:

e require the dedication of a substantial portion of any
cash flow from our operations to service our indebted-
ness, thereby reducing the amount of cash flow available
for other purposes, including working capital, capital
expenditures and general corporate purposes;

e make it difficult for us to obtain any necessary future
financing for working capital, capital expenditures, debt
service reguirements or other purposes;

e cause us to use a significant portion of our cash and
cash equivalents or possibly liquidate other assets to
repay the total principal amount due under the notes and
our other indebtedness if we were to default under the
notes or our other indebtedness;

e limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to changes
in, our business and the industries in which we com-
plete;

e place us at a possible competitive disadvantage with
respect to less leveraged competitors and competitors
that have better access to capital resources; and

e make us more vulnerable in the event of a further down-
turn in our business.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to meet
our debt service obligations, including our obligations under
the notes.

In 2000, we entered into a joint venture agreement with
Toshiba, under which we formed FlashVision. In May 2002,
FlashVision secured a new equipment lease arrangement of
approximately 37.9 billion Japanese Yen (or approximately
$305 miliion based on the exchange rate in effect on the
date the agreement was executed) with Mizuho Corporate
Bank, Ltd., or Mizuho, and certain other financial institutions.
Under the terms of the new lease, Toshiba is required to pro-
vide a guarantee to these financial institutions on behalf of
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FlashVision. We have agreed to indemnify Toshiba in certain
circumstances for certain liabilities Toshiba incurs as a result
of Toshiba’s guarantee of the FlashVision equipment lease
arrangement. If FlashVision fails to meet its lease commit-
ments, and Toshiba fulfills these commitments under the
term of Toshiba's guarantee, we will be obligated to reim-
burse Toshiba for 49.9% of any claims under the lease,
unless such ciaims result from Toshiba’s failure to meet its
obligations to FlashVisicn or its covenants to the lenders.
Because FlashVision’s new equipment lease arrangement is
denominated in Japanese Yen, the maximum amount of our
contingent indemnification obligation on a given date when
converted to U.S. Dollars will fluctuate based on the
exchange rate in effect on that date. As of December 31,
2002, the maximum amount of our contingent indemnifica-
tion obligation, which reflects payments and any lease
adjustments, was approximately $142.4 million.

This contingent indernnification obligation might consti-
tute senior indebtedness under the notes and we may use
a portion of the proceeds from the notes to repay the
obligation. This would result in the diversion of resources
from other important areas of our business and could sig-
nificantly harm our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

We may not be able to satisfy a fundamental change
offer under the indenture governing the notes.

The indenture governing the notes contains provisions
that apply to a fundamental change. A fundamental change
as defined in the indenture would occur if we were to be
acquired for consideration other than cash or securities
traded on a major U.S. securities market. If someone trig-
gers a fundamental change, we may be required to offer to
purchase the notes with cash. This would result in the diver-
sion of resources from other important areas of our busi-
ness and could significantly harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

If we have to make a fundamental change offer, we can-
not be sure that we will have enough funds to pay for all the
notes that the holders could tender. Our failure to redeem
tendered notes upon a fundamental change would consti-
tute a default under the indenture and might constitute a
default under the terms of our other indebtedness, which

would significantly harm our business and financial condition.

We may not be able to pay our debt and other obli-
gations, which would cause us to be in default under
the terms of our indebtedness, which would result ini
harm to our business and financial condition.

If our cash flow is inadequate to meet our obligations,
we could face substantial liquidity problems. If we are
unable to generate sufficient cash flow or otherwise obtain
funds necessary to make required payments on the notes
or our other indebtedness, we would be in default under
the terms thereof, which would permit the holders of the
notes to accelerate the maturity of the notes and also could
cause defaults under our other indebtedness. Any such
default would harm our business, prospects, financial con-
dition and operating results. In addition, we cannot assure
you that we would be able to repay amounts due in respect
of the notes if payment of the notes were to be accelerated
following the occurrence of any other event of default as
defined in the indenture governing the notes. Moreover, we
cannot assure that we will have sufficient funds or will be

able to arrange for financing to pay the principal amount
due on the notes at maturity.

We may need additional financing, which could be dif-
ficult to obtain, and which if not obtained in satisfactory
amounts may prevent us from developing or enhancing
our products, taking advantage of future opportunities,
growing our business or responding to competitive
pressures or unanticipated industry changes, any of
which could harm our business.

We currently expect that our existing cash and invest-
ment balances, including the proceeds of the notes, and
cash generated from operations will be sufficient to meet
our cash requirements to fund operations and expected
capital expenditures for at least the next twelve months.
However, in the event we need to raise additional funds dur-
ing that time period or in future periods, we cannot be cer-
tain that we will be able to obtain additional financing on
favorable terms, if at all. From time to time, we may decide
to raise additional funds through public or private debt or
equity financings to fund our activities. If we issue additional
equity securities, our stockholders will experience additional
dilution and the new equity securities may have rights, pref-
erences or privileges senior to those of existing holders of
common stock or debt securities. In addition, if we raise
funds through debt financing, we will have to pay interest
and may be subject to restrictive covenants, which could
harm our business. If we cannot raise funds on acceptable
terms, if and when needed, we may not be able to develop
or enhance our products, take advantage of future opportu-
nities, grow our business or respond to competitive pres-
sures or unanticipated industry changes, any of which couid
have a negative impact on our business.

The notes and other indebtedness have rights senior
to those of our current stockholders such that in the
event of our bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization or
upon acceleration of the notes due to an event of
default under the indenture and in certain other events,
our assets will be available for distribution to our current
stockholders only after all senior indebtedness is repaid.

In the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganiza-
tion or upon acceleration of the notes due to an event of
default under the indenture and in certain other events, our
assets will be available for distribution to our current stock-
holders only after all senior indebtedness, including our con-
tingent indemnification obligations to Toshiba and obligations
under the notes, have been paid in full. As a result, there
may not be sufficient assets remaining to make any distribu-
tions to our stockholders. The notes are also effectively sub-
ordinated to the liabilities of any of our subsidiaries (including
trade payables, which as of December 31, 2002 were
$722,000). Neither we, nor our subsidiaries are limited from
incurring debt, including senior indebtedness, under the
indenture. If we, or our subsidiaries were to incur additional
debt or liabilities, our ability to pay our obligations on the
notes could be adversely affected. We anticipate that from
time to time we will incur additional debt, including senior
indebtedness. Our subsidiaries are also likely to incur liabili-
ties in the future.

Qualitative and Quantitetive Disclosures
about Market Risik

We are exposed to financial market risks, including changes
in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and




marketable equity security prices. To mitigate some of these
risks, we utilize currency forward contracts. We do not use
derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading
purposes. At December 31, 2002, we had a warrant to pur-
chase ordinary shares of Tower at a fair value of approxi-
mately $537,000.

Interest Rate Risk. Our exposure to market risk for
changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment
portfolio. The primary objective of our investment activities is
to preserve principal while maximizing yields without signifi-
cantly increasing risk. This is accomplished by investing in
widely diversified short-term investments, consisting prima-
rily of investment grade securities, substantially all of which
either mature within the next twelve months or have charac-
teristics of short-term investments. A hypothetical 50 basis
point increase in interest rates would result in an approxi-
mate $706,100 decline (less than 0.5%) in the fair value of
our available-for-sale debt securities.

Foreign Currency Risk. A substantial majority of our rev-
enue, expense and capital purchasing activity are trans-
acted in U.S. dollars. However, we do enter into transactions
in other currencies, primarily the Japanese Yen. To protect
against reductions in value and the volatility of future cash
flows caused by changes in foreign exchange rates, we
have established a hedging program. Currency forward con-
tracts are utilized in this hedging program. Qur hedging pro-
gram reduces, but does not always entirely eliminate the
impact of foreign currency exchange rate movements. An
adverse change of 10% in exchange rates would result in a
decline in income before taxes in 2002 of approximately
$0.2 million.

Market Risk. We also hold available-for-sale equity secu-
rities in our short-term investment portfolio and eguity
investments in semiconductor wafer manufacturing compa-
nies. A reduction in prices of 10% of these marketable equity
securities would result in a decrease in the fair value of our
investments in marketable equity securities of approximately
$10.6 million. As of December 31, 2002, we had net unreal-
ized losses on short-term equity securities totaling $5.5 mil-
lion, which were included in other comprehensive income.
These unrealized gains include an unrealized loss of $6.6
million on the decline in value of our investment in UMC. The
market value of our investment in UMC has fluctuated signif-
icantly in the past and may decline in the future due to
downturns in the semiconductor industry, declines in
demand for UMC’s products or unfavorable economic con-
ditions. If we sell UMC shares in future periods, we may rec-
ognize a gain or loss due to fluctuations in the market value
of our UMC stock. In 2002 and 2001, we recognized losses
of $15.2 million and $26.1 million, respectively, on the other-
than-temporary decline in the value of our Tower investment
the impairment in value on our prepaid wafer credits and
approximately $0.7 million of losses related to the fair value
of the warrants purchased in October of 2002. if the fair
value of our Tower investment declines further or the wafer
credits are deemed to have little or no value, it may be nec-
essary to record additional losses.

All of the potential changes noted above are based on
sensitivity analysis performed on our financial position at
December 31, 2002. Actual results may differ materially.

Report of
independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
SanDisk Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of SanDisk Corporation as of December 31, 2002
and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of oper-
ations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presen-
tation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of SanDisk Corporation at December 31,
2002 and 2001 and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States.
é:vmt MLL?

San Jose, California
January 20, 2003
(except for the second
paragraph on Note 3,
as to which the date is
February 21, 2003 and
except for the first
paragraph of Note 3 as
to which the date

is February 27, 2003)
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
December 31,

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 266,635 $ 189,499
Short-term investments 189,856 105,501
Investment in foundries 110,069 105,364
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $4,563 in 2002

and $4,919 in 2001 81,086 45,223
Inventories 91,195 57,881
Tax refund receivable 1,563 28,473
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 16,926 12,129
Total current assets 757,330 544,070

Restricted cash and cash equivalents - 64,734

Property and equipment, net 30,307 33,730

Investment in foundries 24,127 41,380

Restricted investment in UMC - 64,734

Investment in FlashVision 142,825 153,168

Deferred tax asset 6,922 18,842

Deposits and other non-current assets 14,528 13,603

Total assets $ 976,179 $ 934,261

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 28,204 $ 19,038
Accounts payable to related parties 26,349 24,008
Accrued payrolt and related expenses 11,680 5,279
Income taxes payable 15,978 12,269
Deferred tax liability 6,822 18,842
Research & development liability, related party 10,507 15,256
Other accrued liabilities 29,380 22,484
Deferred income on shipments to distributors and retailers and deferred revenue 43,780 11,613
Total current liabilities 172,880 129,689
Convertible subordinated notes payable 150,000 125,000
Other liabilities 2,404 -
Deferred revenue 23,175 4,193
Total liabilities 248,459 258,882
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; Authorized shares: 4,000,000; Issued: none
Common stock, $0.001 par value; Authorized shares: 400,000,000; Issued and - -

outstanding: 69,156,000 in 2002 and 68,464,000 in 2001 69 68
Capital in excess of par value 585,889 580,363
Retained earnings 84,765 48,525
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (43,013) 46,423

Total stockholders’ equity 627,720 675,379

Total liability and stockholders’ equity $ 976,179 $ 934,261

See accompanying notes.




Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Revenues

Product $ 482,900 $ 316,867 $ 526,359

License and royalty 48,373 49,434 75,453
Total revenue 541,273 366,301 601,812
Cost of product revenues 352,452 392,293 357,017
Gross profits (losses) 188,821 (25,992) 244,795
Operating expenses

Research and development 63,177 58,931 46,057

Sales and marketing 40,407 42,576 49,286

General and administrative 27,086 16,981 24,786

Restructuring - 8,510 -
Total operating expenses 130,670 126,998 120,129
Operating income (loss) 58,151 (152,990) 124,666
Equity in income of joint ventures 856 2,082 -
Interest income 8,675 12,404 22,786
Interest expense (6,700) (138) -
Gain (loss) in investment in foundries (15,163) (302,293) 344,168
Gain (loss) in equity investment {2,700) - -
Other income (loss), net (3,140) (1,009) 572
Income (loss) before taxes 39,879 (441,944) 492,192
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 3,739 (144,000) 193,520
Net income (loss) $ 36,240 $ (297,944) $ 298,672
Net income (loss) per share

Basic $ 0.53 $ (4.37) $ 4.47

Diluted 8 0.51 $ (4.37) $ 411
Shares used in computing net income (loss) per share

Basic 68,805 68,148 66,861

Diluted 71,230 68,148 72,651

See accompanying notes.
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Consclidated Statements of Stockholders® Equity

Accumulated

Capital In Other Total
Common Stock Excess of Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’
(In thousands) Shares Amount Par Value Earnings Income (Loss) Equity
Balance at December 31, 1999 65,248 $ 65 $524,066 $ 47,797 $ 189 $§ 572,127
Net income - - - 298,672 - 298,672
Unrealized loss on available for
sale securities - - - - (343) (343)
Unrealized loss on investments - - - - (50,268) (50,268)
Comprehensive income 248,061
Exercise of stock options for cash 2,147 2 10,370 - - 10,372
Issuance of stock pursuant to employee |
stock purchase plan 69 - 2,815 - - 2,815 }
Sale of common stock, net of |
issuance costs - - 425 - - 425 |
Income tax benefit from stock |
options exercised - - 29,258 - - 29,258
Balance at December 31, 2000 67,464 67 566,934 346,469 (50,412) 863,058
Net loss - - - (297,944) - (297,944)
Unrealized gain on available for
sale securities - - - - 208 208
Unrealized gain on investments. 95,927 95,927
Comprehensive loss (201,109)
Exercise of stock optioris for cash. 831 1 4,766 - - 4,767
Issuance of stock pursuant to employee
stock purchase plan 169 - 3,863 - - 3,863
Income tax benefit from stock
options exercised - - 4,800 - - 4,800
Balance at December 31, 2001. 68,464 68 580,363 48,525 46,423 675,379
Net income - - - 36,240 - 36,240
Unrealized loss on available for
sale securities - - - - 292 292
Unrealized loss on investments (89,728) (89,728)
Comprehensive loss (53,196)
Exercise of stock options for cash 472 1 2,759 - - 2,760
Issuance of stock pursuant to employee
stock purchase pian 219 - 2,777 - - 2,777
Balance at December 31, 2002 69,155 $ 69 $585899 $ 84,765 $ (43,013) $ 627,720

See accompanying notes.




Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

. (In thousands)

Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from cperating activities:
Net income (loss) $ 38,240 $ (297,944) $ 298,672
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Deferred taxes (7,729) (134,483) 114,501
(Gain) loss in investment in foundries 15,163 302,293 (344,168)
Loss in equity investment 2,700 - -
Depreciation and amortization 21,321 20,548 15,028
Amortization of bond issuance costs 880 - -
Allowance for doubtful accounts 1,795 829 3,991
Equity in income of joint ventures {856) (2,082) -
Non-cash portion of restructuring charge - 6,383 -
(Gain) loss on disposal of equipment (1,089) 7,013 1,013
Compensation related to modification of stock option terms - - 425
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (37,658) 50,353 (51,468)
Income tax refund receivable 26,910 (28,473) -
Inventories (33,314) 39,587 (61,728)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (5,217) 6,179 (4,531)
Deposits and other assets 1,771 6,964 (3,545)
Investment in FlashVision 8,128 - -
Accounts payable 8,356 (39,241) 36,378
Accrued payroll and related expenses 6,411 (10,936) 7,956
Income taxes payable 3,807 (4,226) 39,842
Other current liabilities, related parties {2,408) 31,331 -
Other accrued liabilities 6,911 7,397 6,744
Deferred income on shipments to distributors and retailers
and deferred revenue 51,129 (34,934) 21,357
Other non-current liabilities, related party - 1,416 3,485
Other non-current liabilities 2,404 - -
Total adjustments 89,415 225,878 (213,820)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 105,655 (72,066) 84,852
Cash fiows from investing activities:
Purchases of short-term investments {221,2698) (224,659) (593,146)
Proceeds from sale of short term investments 137,163 380,207 643,734
Acquisition of property and equipment (16,638) (26,223) (26,586)
Acquisition of technology license (6086) - -
Investment in FlashVision 4,199 (14,970) (134,730)
Investment in foundries (26,005) (44,498) (7,200)
Deposit in escrow for investment in foundries - 20,004 (20,004)
Restricted cash 64,734 (64,734) -
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (58,422) 25127 (137,932)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible subordinated notes 24,366 121,531 -
Issuance of common stock 5,537 8,630 13,187
Net cash provided by financing activities 29,903 130,161 13,187
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 77,136 83,222 (39,893)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 189,499 106,277 146,170
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year $ 266,635 $ 189,499 $ 106,277
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for income taxes $ (10,0786) $ (13,962) $ (37,260)
Cash refund for income taxes 27,399 - -
Cash paid for interest expense (6,019) - -

See accompanying notes
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 7

Crganization and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

Organization and Nature of Operations

SanDisk Corporation (the Company) was incorporated in
Delaware on June 1, 1888, to design, manufacture, and
market industry-standard, solid-state mass storage prod-
ucts using proprietary, high-density flash memory technol-
ogy. The Company operates in one segment and serves
customers in the consumer electronics, industrial, commu-
nications and highly portable computing markets. Principal
geographic markets for the Company’s products include
the United States, Japan, Europe and the Far East.

Supplier and Customer Concentrations

A limited number of customers historically have accounted
for a substantial portion of the Company’s revenues. Sales
to our top 10 customers accounted for approximately 48%,
49% and 48%, respectively, of our product revenues for the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000. In
2002, 2001 and 2000, no single customer accounted for
more than 10% of total revenues. Sales of the Company’s
products will vary as a result of fluctuations in market
demand. Further, the flash data storage markets in which
the Company competes are characterized by rapid techno-
logical change, evolving industry standards, declining aver-
age selling prices and rapid technological obsolescence.

Certain of the raw materials used by the Company in the
manufacture of its products are available from a limited
number of suppliers. All of the Company’s products require
silicon wafers. The majority of the Company’s flash memory
wafers are currently supplied by the Company’s FlashVision
joint venture with Toshiba. The Company’s NAND flash
memory products are substantially supplied by Toshiba’s
wafer facility in Yokkaichi, Japan and, to a lesser extent, by
Samsung. In the third quarter of 2001, the Company began
to purchase controlier wafers from UMC and is continuing
development of advanced flash memory technology utilizing
the 0.15 micron technology design rules at UMC. The
Company is dependent on its foundries to allocate to the
Company a portion of their foundry capacity sufficient to
meet the Company’s needs, to produce wafers of accept-
able quality and with acceptable manufacturing yields and
to deliver those wafers to the Company on a timely basis.
On occasion, the Company has experienced difficulties in
each of these areas. Under the Company’s current joint
venture agreement with Toshiba, the Company is commit-
ted to purchase 50% of FlashVision's wafer output from the
Yokkaichi fabrication facility.

Under the terms of the Company’s wafer supply agree-
ments, the Company is obligated to provide a six-month
rolling forecast of anticipated purchase orders. Except in
limited circumstances and subject to acceptance by the
foundries, the estimates for the first three months of each
rolling forecast constitute a binding commitment and the

estimates for the remaining months of the forecast may only
be changed by a certain percentage from the previous
month’s forecast. These restrictions limit the Company’s
ability to react to significant fluctuations in demand for its
products. As a result, the Company had not been able to
match its purchases of wafers to specific customer orders,
and therefore the Company had taken write downs for
potential excess inventory purchased prior to the receipt of
customer orders in fiscal 2001 and may be reqguired to do so
in the future. These adjustments decrease gross margins in
the quarter reported and have resulted, and could in the
future result, in fluctuations in gross margins on a quarter-
to-quarter basis. To the extent the Company inaccurately
forecasts the number of wafers required, it may have either
a shortage or an excess supply of wafers, either of which
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Additionally, if the Company is unable to obtain scheduled
quantities of wafers from any foundry with acceptable yields,
the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations could be negatively impacted.

In addition, certain key components are purchased from
single source vendors for which alternative sources are cur-
rently not available. Shortages could occur in these essential
materials due to an interruption of supply or increased
demand in the industry. If the Company were unable to pro-
cure certain of such materials, it would be required to
reduce its manufacturing operations which could have a
material adverse effect upon its results of operations. The
Company also relies on third-party subcontractors its prod-
ucts. The Company has no long-term contracts with these
subcontractors and cannot directly control product delivery
schedules. This could lead to product shortages or quality
assurance problems that could increase the manufacturing
costs of its products and have adverse effects on its oper-
ating results.

Basis of Presentation

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Sunday closest to
December 31. Fiscal year 2002 ended on December 28,
2002 and was 52 weeks in length. Fiscal year 2001 ended
on December 30, 2001 and was 52 weeks in length. Fiscal
year 2000 ended on December 31, 2000 and was 52 weeks
in length. For ease of presentation, the accompanying finan-
cial statements have been shown as ending on the last day
of the calendar month.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All inter-
company balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires manage-
ment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompa-
nying notes. The estimates and judgments affect the




reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses, and related disclosure of contingent liabilities. On
an on-going basis, the Company evaluates its estimates,
including those related to customer programs and incentives,
product returns, bad debts, inventories, investments, income
taxes, warranty obligations, restructuring, and contingencies
and litigation. The Company bases estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that it believes
are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about the carrying val-
ues of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates
under different assumptions or conditions.

Revenue Recognition, Sales Returns and Allowances
and Sales Incentive Programs. The Company recognizes
net revenues when the earnings process is complete, as evi-
denced by an agreement with the customer, transfer of title
and acceptance, if applicable, fixed pricing and reasonable
assurance of collectibility. Because of frequent sales price
reductions and rapid technology obsolescence in the indus-
try, sales made to distributors and retailers under agree-
ments allowing price protection and/or right of return are
deferred until the retailers or distributors sell the merchan-
dise to the end customer, or the rights of return expire. At
December 31, 2002 and 2001, deferred income, net of
related costs, from sales to distributors and retailers was
$34.8 million and $6.2 million, respectively. Estimated prod-
uct returns were not material for any period presented in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company earns patent license and royalty revenue
under patent cross-license agreements with several compa-
nies inciuding Hitachi Ltd., Lexar Media, Inc., Samsung
Electronics Company Ltd., Sharp Electronics Corporation,
Silicon Storage Technology, Inc., SmartDisk Corporation, Sony
Corporation, and TDK. The Company’s current license agree-
ments provide for the payment of license fees, royalties, or a
combination thereof, to the Company. The timing and
amount of these payments can vary substantially from quar-
ter to quarter, depending on the terms of each agreement
and, in some cases, the timing of sales of products by the
other parties.

Patent license and royalty revenue is recognized when
earned. For the three years ended December 31, 2002, the
Company received payments under these cross-license
agreements, portions of which were recognized as revenue
and portions of which are deferred revenue. The Company
receives royalty revenue reports from certain of its licensees
and records all revenues one quarter in arrears. The
Company’s cross license arrangements, that include a guar-
anteed access to flash memory supply, were recorded
based upon the cash received for the arrangement as the
Company does not have vendor specific objective evidence
for the fair value of the intellectual property exchanged or
supply guarantees received. Under these arrangements the

Company has recorded the cash received as the total value
of goods received and is amortizing the amounts over the
life of the agreement, which corresponds to the life of the
supply arrangement as well. Recognition of deferred rev-
enue is expected to occur in future periods over the life of
the agreements, as the Company meets certain obligations
as provided in the various agreements. At December 31,
2002 and 2001, deferred revenue from patent license agree-
ments was $32.1 million and $9.6 million, respectively. The
cost of revenues associated with patent license and royalty
revenues are insignificant.

The Company records reductions to revenue and trade-
accounts receivable for customer programs and incentive
offerings including promotions and other volume-based
incentives when revenue is recorded. Marketing develop-
ment programs, when granted, are either recorded as a
reduction to revenue or as an addition to marketing
expense depending on the contractual nature of the pro-
gram and whether the conditions of Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 00-25, “Vendor Income Statement
Characterization Paid to a Reseller of the Vendor's
Products,” have been met. These incentives generally
apply only to its retail customers, which represented 64%,
54% and 28% of its product revenues in 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. If market conditions were to decline,
the Company may take actions to increase customer
incentive offerings to its retail customers, possibly resulting
in an incremental reduction of revenue at the time the
incentive is offered.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. The Company evalu-
ates the collectibility of its accounts receivable based on a
combination of factors. In circumstances where the
Company is aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet
its financial obligations to the Company (e.g., bankruptcy fil-
ings, substantial down-grading of credit ratings), the
Company records a specific reserve for bad debts against
amounts due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the
amount it reasonably believes will be collected. For all other
customers, the Company recognizes reserves for bad debts
based on the length of time the receivables are past due
based on its historical experience. If circumstances change
(i.e., higher than expected defaults or an unexpected mate-
rial adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet its
financial obligations to it), the Company’s estimates of the
recoverability of amounts due it could be reduced by a
material amount.

Warranty Costs. The Company’s products are war-
rantied for one to seven years. A provision for the estimated
future cost related to warranty expense is recorded and
included in the cost of revenue when revenue is recognized.
While the Company engages in product quality programs
and processes, its warranty obligation is affected by product
failure rates and repair or replacement costs incurred in cor-
recting a product failure. Should actual product failure rates,
repair or replacement costs differ from the Company’s esti-
mates, increases to its warranty liability would be required.
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The warranty activity is as follows (in thousands):

Additions
Balance at Charged to Balance at
For the Year Ended Beginning Costs of End
December 31, of Period Revenue Usage of Period
2001 $ 4,608 $ 4,423 $ (3,980) $ 5,051
2002 5,051 3,992 (2,971) 86,072

Valuation of Financial Instruments. The Company’s
short-term investments include investments in marketable
equity and debt securities. As of December 31, 2002, the
Company also has equity investments in, UMC of $113.0 mil-
lion and Tower of $21.3 million. In determining if and when a
decline in market value below cost of these investments is
other-than-temporary, the Company evaluates the market
conditions, offering prices, trends of earnings, price muilti-
ples, and other key measures for its investments in mar-
ketable equity securities and debt instruments. When such a
decline in value is deemed to be other-than-temporary, the
Company recognizes ar impairment loss in the current
period operating results to the extent of the decline. In
2002, the market value of the Company’s investment in
Tower declined significantly therefore, the Company recog-
nized losses totaling $11.6 million related to the other-than-
temporary decline of its equity investment, and an adjust-
ment to the fair value of warrants purchased during 2002 of
$0.7 million as determined using a Black-Scholes option
pricing model with the following assumptions: dividend vield
of 0.0%; expected life of 3.75 years; volatility factor of 0.845;
and risk free interest rate of 2.38%. In 2001, the market
value of the Company’s investment in UMC and Tower
declined. The declines were deemed to be other-than-tem-
porary and losses totaling $302.3 million were recognized. If
the fair vailue of the Tower and UMC investments decline
further, it may be necessary to record additional losses.
(See Note 8.)

Deferred Tax Assets. Based on the weight of available
evidence, the Company provided a valuation allowance
against the net deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance
was based on the Company’s assessment of its historical
earnings patterns that make it uncertain that the Company
will have sufficient income in the appropriate jurisdictions to
realize the full value of the assets. The Company will con-
tinue to evaluate the realizability of the deferred tax assets
on a quarterly basis. The valuation allowance increased by
$30.3 million and $36.1 million in 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively. The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
includes approximately $5.2 million attributable to stock
option deductions, the benefit of which will be credited to
stockholders’ equity upon realization. (See Note 7.)

Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign operations are measured using the U.S. dollar as
the functional currency. Accordingly, monetary accounts
(principally cash, accounts receivable and liabilities) are re-
measured using the foreign exchange rate at the balance
sheet date. Operations accounts and non-monetary balance
sheet accounts are re-measured at the rate in effect at the
date of transaction. The effects of foreign currency re-
measurement are reported in current operations.

Reclassification
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year’s
amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

Cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid financial
instruments with insignificant interest rate risk that are readily
convertible to cash and have maturities of three months or
less from the date of purchase. Cash equivalents and short-
term investments consist of money market funds, taxable
commercial paper, U.S. government agency obligations, cor-
porate / municipal notes and bonds with high-credit quality,
money market preferred stock and auction rate preferred
stock. Short-term investments also include the unrestricted
portion of the Company’s investment in foundries for which
trading restrictions expire within one year. The fair market
value, based on quoted market prices, of cash equivalents
and short-term investments is substantially equal to their car-
rying value at December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Management classifies investments as available-for-sale at
the time of purchase and periodically reevaluates such desig-
nation. Debt securities classified as available-for-sale are
reported at fair value. Unrecognized gains or losses on avail-
able-for-sale securities are included in equity until their dispo-
sition. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged
to be other-than-temporary on available-for-sale securities
are included in other income (expense). The cost of securities
sold is based on the specific identification method.

Under the terms of the prior FlashVision lease agreements,
the Company as guarantor was required to pledge cash and
equity securities up to the full value of the outstanding guar-
anteed lease commitments. As of December 31, 2001, the
Company had guaranteed $129.5 million of FlashVision lease
commitments and pledged $64.7 miliion of cash and cash
equivalents and $64.7 million of its UMC equity securities. This
pledged cash and cash equivalents and marketable equity
securities was included in “Restricted cash and cash equiva-
lents” and “Restricted investment in UMC” on the Company’s
balance sheet (See Note 8).

The Company’s investments as of December 31, 2002 and
2001 are as follows (in thousands):

2002
Unrestricted

2001

December 31, Total Unrestricted  Restricted Total
Cash and cash

equivalents:
Cash $ 18488 $ 1,809 $ - % 1,809
Money market fund 103,418 108,311 64,734 173,045
Commercial paper 86,879 79,379 - 79,379
Government agencies 2,003 - - -
Auction rate receipts 45,847 - - -
Total cash and

cash equivalents $ 266,635 $189,499 $ 64,734 $ 254,233
Short term investments:
U.8. government

agency obligations $ 47,627 $ 3,000 $ - $3,000
Municipal notes/bonds 110,4¢1 70,739 - 70,739
Corpeorate notes/bonds 27,738 13,061 - 13,061
Commercial paper - 7,958 - 7,958
Auction rate

preferred stock 4,000 10,700 - 10,700
Marketable equity

securities * 110,069 105,407 64,734 170,141
Total $ 299,925 $ 210,865 $ 64,734 $ 275,599

Total cash, cash
equivalents and
short term
investments

$ 566,560 $400,364 ¢ 129,468 $ 529,832




* Includes Investment in Foundries, short-term, which also includes a
warrant to purchase ordinary shares of Tower Semiconductor Ltd.,
with an approximate fair value of $537 thousand as of December
31, 2002.

The net unrealized loss on the available-for-sale securi-
ties at December 31, 2002 was $43.0 million, and includes
an unrealized loss of $6.6 million on the Company’s invest-
ment in UMC and deferred taxes of $37.5 million, offset by a
$1.1 million unrealized gain on short-term investments. The
unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities at December
31, 2001 was $46.4 million, and included $95.8 million of
unrealized gain on the Company’s investment in UMC in the
fourth quarter of 2001 (see “Investment in Foundry” below).
Fair value of available-for-sale securities is based upon
quoted market prices. Gross realized gains and losses on
sales of available-for-sale securities during the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2001 were immaterial.

Debt securities at December 31, 2002 and 2001, by con-
tractual maturity, are shown below. Actual maturities may
differ from contractual maturities because issuers of the
securities may have the right to prepay obligations.

(In thousands) December 31, 2002 2001
Short term investments **

Due in one year or less $ 130,369 $ 64,079
Due after one year through five years 59,487 41,422
Total $ 189,856 $ 105,501

** Excludes Investment in Foundries, short-term, which also includes
a warrant to purchase ordinary shares of Tower Semiconductor
Ltd., with an approximate fair value of $537 thousand as of
December 31,2002.

Long-Term investments

The Company holds minority equity investments in compa-
nies having operations or technology in areas within
SanDisk’s strategic focus. Certain of the investments carry
restrictions on immediate disposition. Investments in public
companies with restrictions of less than one year are classi-
fied as available-for-sale and are adjusted to their fair mar-
ket value with unrealized gains and losses recorded as a
component of accumuiated other comprehensive income.
Investments in non-public companies are reviewed on a
quarterly basis to determine if their value has been impaired
and adjustments are recorded as necessary. Upon disposi-
tion of these investments, the specific identification method
is used to determine the cost basis in computing realized
gains or losses. Declines in value that are judged to be other
than temporary are reported in other income and expense.

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable include amounts owed by geographi-
cally dispersed distributors, retailers, and OEM customers.
No collateral is required. Provisions are provided for sales
returns, product exchanges and bad debts.

The activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts is as
follows (in thousands):

Additions
Baiance at Charged to Balance at
For the year ended Beginning Costs and Deductions End
December 31, of Period Expenses (Write-offs) of Period
2000 $ 1,87 $ 3,991 $ (852) $ 5,010
2001 5,010 829 (920) 4,919
2002 4,919 1,795 (2,151) 4,563

inventories and Inventory Valuation

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is
computed on a currently adjusted standard basis (which
approximates actual costs on a first-in, first-out basis).
Market value is based upon an estimated average selling
price reduced by normal gross margins. Inventories are as
follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2002 - 2001
Raw materials $ 7,916 $ 6,325
Work-in-process 25,408 18,850
Finished goods 57,871 32,706

$ 91,195 § 57,881

The Company writes down its inventory for estimated
obsolescence or unmarketable inventory equal to the differ-
ence between the cost of the inventory and the estimated
market value based upon assumptions about future demand
and market conditions, including assumptions about
changes in average selling prices. If actual market condi-
tions are less favorable than those projected by manage-
ment, additional inventory write-downs may be required.

In 2002, the Company sold approximately $11.9 million of
NOR inventory that had been completely written off in prior
periods. In 2001, the Company recorded write-downs for
excess or obsolete inventories and lower of cost or market
price adjustments of approximately $85 million. The
Company may be forced to take additional write-downs for
excess or obsolete inventory in future quarters if inventory
levels exceed forecasted customer orders. In addition, the
Company may record lower of cost or market price adjust-
ments to its inventories if continued pricing pressure resuilts
in a net realizable value that is lower than its manufacturing
cost. Although the Company continuously tries to maintain
its inventory in line with the near term forecasted level of
business, the Company is obligated to honor existing pur-
chase orders, which have been placed with its suppliers. In
the case of its FlashVision joint venture, the Company is
obligated to purchase 50% of the production output, which
makes it more difficult for the Company to reduce its inven-
tory in times when the demand forecast is reduced.

Property and Eguipment
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accu-
mulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation
expense related to plant and equipment totaled $21.1 million,
$20.5 million and $15.9 million, in fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Amortization expense is related to intangible
assets and totaled $0.2 million in 2002 and none in 2001 and
2000. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
assets or the remaining lease term, whichever is shorter,
generally two to seven years.

Property and equipment consist of the following
(in thousands):

December 31, 2002 2001
Machinery and equipment $ 58,896 $ 62,658
Software 15,381 8,481
Furniture and fixtures 6,196 2,076
Leasehold Improvements 6,671 6,227
Property and equipment, at cost 87,144 79,440
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (56,837) (45,710)

Property and equipment, net $ 30,307 $ 33,730
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Advertising Expense

Advertising expenses, which are predominantly marketing
co-op development programs which meet certain conditions
are recorded, when granted, as marketing expense. Any
other advertising expenses not meeting these conditions
are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses were $3.4
million, $8.8 million, and $8.2 million in 2002, 2001, and
2000 respectively.

Net income (Loss) Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and
diluted net income per share (in thousands, except per
share amounts):

2002 2001 2000

Numerator:
Numerator for basic and
diluted net income (loss)
per share-net income (loss) $36,240 $(297,944) $298,672

Denominator for basic net
income (loss) per share:
Weighted average common
shares outstanding 68,805
Basic net income (loss) pershare $ 0.53 $

68,148
(4.37) 8

66,861
4.47

Denominator for diluted net
income (loss) per share:
Weighted average common
shares

Incremental common shares
attributable to exercise of
outstanding employee
stock options and warrants
(assuming proceeds would
be used to purchase
common stock)

Shares used in computing diluted
net income (loss) per share

68,805 68,148 66,861

2,425 - 5,790

71,230
0.51 §

68,148
(4.37) $

72,651
411

Diluted net income (loss) per share $

Basic earnings (loss) per share excludes any dilutive
effects of options, warrants, and convertible securities.
Diluted earnings (loss) per share includes the dilutive effects
of stock options, warrants, and convertible securities.
Options and warrants to purchase 4,015,845; 4,892,912; and
907,380 shares of common stock were outstanding during
2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively, but have been omitted
from the diluted earnings per share calculation because the
options’ exercise price was greater than the average market
price of the common shares and, therefore the effect would
be antidilutive. All options are antidilutive in fiscal year 2001
due to the net loss for the year and were omitted from the
diluted net loss per share calculation. Incremental common
shares attributable to the assumed conversion of the
Company’s convertible subordinated debentures were not
included in the per share computation as the effect would
be antidilutive for fiscal years 2002 and 2001.

Stock Based Compensation. The Company accounts
for employee stock based compensation using the intrinsic
value method and accordingly, no expense has been recog-
nized for options granted to employees under the plans as
the grant price is set at the fair market value of the stock on
the day of grant. The Company amortizes the deferred
stock-based compensation on the straight-line method over
the vesting periods of the applicable options, generally four
years. Had compensation expense been determined based

on the fair value at the grant dates for awards, the
Company's pro forma net income (loss) and net income
(loss) per share would have been as follows (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

Years ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Net income (loss) as reported $36,240 $(297,944) $298,672
Fair value method expense, net

of related tax (22,990) (30,928) (21,790)
Pro forma net income (loss) 13,250 (328,872) 276,882
Pro forma basic income (loss)

per share $ 0189 $ (4.83) $ 4,14
Pro forma diluted income (loss)

per share $ 019 § (4.83) $ 3.81

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model,
with the following weighted-average assumptions for grants
made in 2002, 2001 and 2000:

December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Dividend yield None None None
Expected volatility 0.872 0.955 0.951
Risk free interest rate 3.84% 4.68% 6.16%
Expected lives 5 yrs 5 yrs 5yrs

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during
the year was $9.90, $14.47 and $39.82 for 2002, 2001, and
2000, respectively.

The effect of applying SFAS 148 on pro forma disclosures
are not likely to be representative of the effects on pro forma
disclosures of future years.

The pro forma net income (loss) and net income (loss)
per share listed above include expense related to our
Employee Stock Purchase Plans. The fair value of issuance
under the employee stock purchase plans is estimated on
the date of issuance using the Black-Scholes model, with the
foliowing weighted-average assumptions for issuances made
in 2002, 2001, and 2000:

December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Dividend yield None None None
Expected volatility 0.857 0.870 1.369
Risk free interest rate 3.68% 4.65% 6.09%
Expected lives 1/2 yr 1/2 yr 172 yr

Recent Accounting Pronocuncements

In July 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 145, “Rescission of FASB
Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB
Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections,” and SFAS No.
146, “Obligations Associated with Disposal Activities.” SFAS
145 rescinds SFAS 4 "Reporting Gains and Losses from
Extinguishment of Debt, an amendment of APB Opinion 30,”
and SFAS 44 “Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor
Carriers,” and SFAS 64 “Extinguishment of Debt Made to
Satisfy Sinking Fund Requirements,” and amends SFAS 13
“Accounting for Leases.” SFAS 145 requires that gains or
losses on extinguishment of debt that were classified as an
extraordinary item in prior periods which do not meet the
criteria in APB 30 for classification as an extraordinary item
should be reclassified. In addition, lease modifications having
the economic effects similar to sale-leaseback transactions
should be accounted for in the same manner as sale-lease-
back transactions. The provisions of this statement are
effective for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002, and




interim periods within those fiscal years, with early applica-
tion encouraged. The Company is evaluating the impact of
SFAS 145 on the Company's resuits of operations and finan-
cial position.

SFAS 146 nullifies EITF Issue No. 94-3 “Liability Recognition
for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs
to Exit an Activity” (including Certain Costs Incurred in
Restructuring) and substantially nullifies EITF Issue No. 88-10
“Costs Assaciated with Lease Modification or Termination.”
SFAS 146 establishes an accounting model for changes in the
recognition of and timing of such costs. The liability for costs
associated with exit or disposal activities should be meas-
ured at fair value and in the period in which those costs are
incurred. The provisions of SFAS 146 apply to exit or disposal
activities initiated after December 31, 2002. Earlier application
of the Statement is encouraged. SanDisk will adopt SFAS 146
effective January 1, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 146 is not
expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
results of operations and financial position in 2003.

On December 31, 2002 the FASB issued SFAS No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and
Disclosure.” SFAS 148 amends SFAS 123 “Accounting of
Stock-Based Compensation” and APB Opinion No. 28
“Interim Financial Reporting.” SFAS 148 provides alternative
transition methods for a voluntary change to the fair value
based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation, and requires disclosure in both the interim
and annual financial statements about the method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation and it's
effect on reported net income and earnings per share. The
recognition provisions of SFAS 148 are applied as of the
beginning of a company’s fiscal year for financial statement
periods and interim periods within those fiscal years ending
after December 15, 2002, and SFAS 148’s amendment of dis-
closure requirements of APB No. 28 is effective for financial
statements ending after December 15, 2002. SanDisk has
elected not to adopt the recognition provisions of SFAS 148.
However, SanDisk elected to follow APB 25, and related
interpretations, in accounting for its employee stock options.
Under APB 25, if the exercise price of the Company’s stock
options equals the market price of the underlying stock on
the date of grant, no compensation expense is recognized.
The disclosure requirements of SFAS 148 for pro forma infor-
mation regarding reported net income and earnings per
share has been adopted for the fiscal year ending December
31, 2002 and will be applied to interim periods in 2003. The
adoption of the disclosure provisions of SFAS 148 did not
have a material impact on the Company’s results of opera-
tions and financial position in 2002, nor is it expected to have
a material impact in 2003.

In July 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45,
or FIN 45, “Guarantor’'s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guaraniees
of Indebtedness of Others” - an interpretation of SFAS No 5
“Accounting for Contingencies,” SFAS No. 57 “Related Party
Disclosures,” SFAS No. 107 “Disclosures about Fair Value of
Financial Instruments,” and rescission of FIN 34 “Disclosure
of Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN 45

provides disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its finan-
cial statements about its obligations under certain guaran-
tees that it has issued. FIN 45 establishes recognition and
measurement provisions of a liability to be recognized at the
inception of a guarantee for fair value based on agreements
which contingently requires the guarantor to make payments
to the guaranteed party based on changes in an underlying
contingent liability related to the guaranteed party. The dis-
closure provisions of FIN 45 are effective for financial state-
ment periods and interim periods within those fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2002, and the requirement for
recognition and measurement provisions are effective for
guarantees issued or modified on a prospective basis after
December 31, 2002. The Company has adopted the disclo-
sure provisions for fiscal year ending December 31, 2002 and
is evaluating the future impact of the adoption of FIN 45
recognition and measurement provisions on its consolidated
results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, or
FIN 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” FIN 46
requires an investor with a majority of the variable interests in
a variable interest entity to consolidate the entity and also
requires majority and significant variable interest investors to
provide certain disclosures. A variable interest entity is an
entity in which the equity investors do not have a controlling
interest or the equity investment at risk is insufficient to
finance the entity’'s activities without receiving additional sub-
ordinated financial support from the other parties. SanDisk is
currently reviewing its investment portfolio to determine
whether any of its equity investments are considered variable
interest entities. The Company does not expect to identify
any variable interest entities that must be consolidated, but
may be required to make additional disclosures. The maxi-
mum exposure of any investment that may be determined to
be in a variable interest entity is limited to the amount
invested.

In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board issued Emerging Issues Task Force (referred to as
EITF) Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables.” EITF issue No. 00-21 addresses certain
aspects of the accounting by a company for arrangements
under which it will perform multiple revenue-generating activ-
ities. EITF Issue No. 00-21 addresses when and how an
arrangement involving multiple deliverables should be divided
into separate units of accounting. EITF Issue No. 00-21 pro-
vides guidance with respect to the effect of certain customer
rights due to company nonperformance on the recognition of
revenue allocated to delivered units of accounting. EITF Issue
No. 00-21 also addresses the impact on the measurement
and/or allocation of arrangement consideration of customer
cancellation provisions and consideration that varies as a
result of future actions of the customer or the company.
Finally, EITF Issue No. 00-21 provides guidance with respect
to the recognition of the cost of certain deliverables that are
excluded from the revenue accounting for an arrangement.
The provisions of EITF Issue No. 00-21 will apply to revenue
arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after
June 15, 2003. SanDisk is currently evaluating the effect that
the adoption of EITF Issue No. 00-21 will have on its
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Note 2:

Financial Instruments

Concentraticn of Credit Risk

The Company’s concentration of credit risk consists princi-
pally of cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and
trade receivables. The Company’s investment policy
restricts investments to high-credit quality investments and
limits the amounts invested with any one issuer. The
Company sells to original equipment manufacturers, retailers
and distributors in the United States, Japan, Europe and the
Far East, performs ongoing credit evaluations of its cus-
tomers’ financial condition, and generally requires no collat-
eral. Reserves are maintained for potential credit losses.

Off Balance Sheet Risk

In March 2002, FlashVision exercised its right of early termi-
nation under its lease facility with ABN AMRO Bank, N.V., or
ABN AMRO, and in April 2002 repaid all amounts outstand-
ing there under. FlashVision secured a new equipment lease
arrangement of approximately 37.9 billion Japanese Yen (or
approximately $305 milion based on the exchange rate in
effect on the date the agreement was executed) in May
2002 with Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd., or Mizuho, and cer-
tain other financial institutions. Under the terms of the new
lease, Toshiba is required to provide a guarantee to these
financial institutions on behalf of FlashVision. The Company
agreed to indemnify Toshiba in certain circumstances for
certain liabilities Toshiba incurs as a result of Toshiba’s guar-
antee of the FlashVision equipment lease arrangement. If
FlashVision fails to meet its lease commitments, and Toshiba
fulfills these commitments under the terms of the Toshiba’s
guarantee, the Company will be obligated to reimburse
Toshiba for 49.9% of any claims under the lease, unless
such claims result from Toshiba’s failure to meet its obliga-
tions to FlashVision or its covenants to the lenders. Because
FlashVision’s new equipment lease arrangement is denomi-
nated in Japanese Yen, the maximum amount of the
Company’s contingent indemnification obligation on a given
date when converted t¢ U.S. Dollars will fluctuate based on
the exchange rate in effect on that date. As of December
31, 2002, the maximum amount of the Company’s contin-
gent indemnification obligation, which reflects payments and
any lease adjustments, was approximately $142.4 million.

Note 3.

Commitments, Litigation and Contingencies

Commitments

The terms of the FlashVision joint venture, as described in
Note 8, contractually obligated the Company to purchase
half of FlashVision’'s NAND wafer production output. The
Company also has the ability to purchase additional capacity
under a foundry arrangement (also discussed more fully at
Note 8) with Toshiba. Under the terms of this arrangement,
the Company will provide Toshiba with a purchase order
commitment based on a six-month rolling forecast and
Toshiba agrees to supply the Company from Toshiba’s por-
tion of the FlashVision output. The purchase orders placed
under this arrangement are at market prices and cannot be
cancelled. At December 31, 2002, approximately $23.9

million of non-cancelable purchase orders for flash memory
wafers from Toshiba were outstanding. In addition, as a part
of the joint venture agreement, the Company is required to
fund certain research and development expenses related to
the development of advanced NAND flash memory tech-
nologies; see Note 13. As of December 31, 2002, the
Company had accrued liabilities related to those expenses
of $10.5 miillion. The Common research and development is
a variable computation; future obligations are to be paid in
installments using a percentage of the Company’s revenue
from NAND flash products built with flash memory supplied
by Toshiba or FlashVision. The Direct research and develop-
ment is a fixed amount. The variable percentage will be cal-
culated based on the Company’s revenue from NAND flash
memory built with Toshiba or FlashVision supplied flash
memory. In the next two to three years, the Company
expects to make substantial new investments in additional
fabrication capacity at FlashVision. In February 2003, the
Company agreed to fund up to approximately $33.0 million
for the initial fabrication capacity expansion. This initial fund-
ing is expected to occur in 2003. The estimated fabrication
capacity expansion and the maximum estimated commit-
ment of the Common and Direct research and development
expenses is per the table below (in thousands):

Less
Than
Total 1Yr 2-3Yrs 4-5 Yrs
FlashVision Common
research and
development $ 68,000 $ 12,000 $ 24,000 $ 32,000
FlashVision Direct
research and
development 54,000 7,000 23,000 24,000
FlashVision fabrication
capacity expansion 33,000 33,000 - -
Total $155,000 $ 52,000 $ 47,000 $ 56,000

As more fully described in Note 8, in February 2003, the
Company agreed to further amend its foundry investment
agreements with Tower, for its new Fab 2 facility, by agree-
ing to advance the payment for the fifth and final milestone.
This amendment is subject to approval by all required par-
ties, including Tower’s shareholders. If approved, the terms
of the amendment require the payment of $11.0 million for
the advanced fifth milestone and this payment will be made
in two installments. The first installment of approximately
$6.6 million will be due five business days after the amend-
ment is approved by all required parties, including Tower’s
shareholders; the second instaliment of approximately $4.4
million will be due five business days after Tower has raised
additional funds equal to approximately $22.0 million,
referred to as the Minimum Financing. Tower must complete
the Minimum Financing prior to December 31, 2003, or
SanDisk will not be obligated to pay the second installment.
Each of the first and second installments will be paid pro-
vided Tower meets these conditions, whether or not Tower
actually achieves its original fifth milestone obligation.
Immediately following the advancement of the first install-
ment, the Company will be issued fully-paid and non-
assessable ordinary shares of Tower equivalent to the first
installment divided by the average trading price for ordinary
shares of Tower during the thirty (30) consecutive trading
days preceding the date the amendment was approved by




Tower’s board of directors. Immediately following the
advancement of the second installment, if it occurs, the
Company will be issued fully-paid and non-assessable ordi-
nary shares of Tower equivalent to the second installment
divided by the price per ordinary share of Tower paid in con-
nection with the Minimum Financing, or the Minimum
Financing Price; provided, however, that if the Minimum
Financing Price cannot reasonably be calculated from the
documents evidencing the Minimum Financing, then the
Minimum Financing Price shall be deemed to be the average
trading price for the ordinary shares of Tower during the
thirty (30) consecutive trading days preceding the date the
second installment is paid. In addition, SanDisk will have the
option to convert all or a portion of its unused pre-paid
wafers credits associated with the September 2002 fourth
milestone payment into fully-paid and non-assessable ordi-
nary shares of Tower based on the average closing price of
ordinary shares of Tower during the thirty (30) consecutive
trading days preceding December 31, 2005.

Tower's completion of Fab 2 is dependent on its ability to
obtain additional financing for the foundry construction from
equity and other sources and the release of grants and
approvals for changes in grant programs from the israeli
government’s Investment Center. The current political
uncertainty and security situation in the region may
adversely impact Tower’s business prospects and may dis-
courage investments in Tower from outside sources. If
Tower is unable to obtain additional financing, complete
foundry construction in a timely manner or is unable to suc-
cessfully complete the development and transfer of
advanced CMOS process technologies and ramp-up of pro-
duction, the value of the Company’s equity investment in
Tower and wafer credits will decline significantly or possibly
become worthless. In addition, the Company may be unable
to obtain sufficient supply of wafers to manufacture its prod-
ucts, which would harm its business. The value of the
Company’s equity investment in Tower may also be
adversely affected by further deterioration of conditions in
the market for foundry manufacturing services and the mar-
ket for semiconductor products generally. If the fair value of
our Tower investment declines further, the Company may
record additional losses, which potentially could amount to
the remaining recorded value of its Tower investment.
Moreover, if Tower is unable to satisfy certain financial
covenants and comply with certain conditions as required by
its credit facility agreement, and therefore is not able to
obtain additional bank financing, or its current bank obliga-
tions are accelerated, or it fails to secure customers for its
foundry capacity to help offset its fixed costs, such failure
could jeopardize the completion of Fab 2 and Tower’s ability
to continue operations.

The Company leases its headquarters and sales offices
under operating leases that expire at various dates through
2007. Future minimum lease payments under operating
leases at December 31, 2002 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2003 $ 3,184
2004 2,769
2005 2,302
2006 1,030
Thereafter -
Total $ 9,285

The Company subleases a building under a non-cance-
lable operating lease. Future minimum lease rentals on non-
cancelable operating leases at December 31, 2002 are as
follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2003 $ 213
2004 213
2005 123
Thereafter -
Total $ 549

Rental expense under all operating leases was $3.0 mil-
lion, $3.6 milion and $2.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company had foreign exchange contract lines in the
amount of $75.0 million at December 31, 2002. Under these
lines, the Company may enter into forward exchange con-
tracts that require the Company to sell or purchase foreign
currencies. There were no foreign exchange contracts out-
standing at December 31, 2002.

Litigation

The Company relies on a combination of patents, trade-
marks, copyright and trade secret laws, confidentiality pro-
cedures and licensing arrangements to protect its inteliec-
tual property rights. There can be no assurance that there
will not be any disputes regarding the Company’s intellectual
property rights. Specifically, there can be no assurance that
any patents held by the Company will not be invalidated,
that patents will be issued for any of the Company’s pending
applications or that any claims allowed from existing or
pending patents will be of sufficient scope or strength or be
issued in the primary countries where the Company’s prod-
ucts can be sold to provide meaningful protection or any
commercial advantage to the Company. Additionally, com-
petitors of the Company may be able to design around the
Company’s patents.

To preserve its intellectual property rights, the Company
believes it may be necessary to initiate litigation with one or
more third parties, including but not limited to those the
Company has notified of possible patent infringement. In
addition, one or more of these parties may bring suit against
the Company. Any litigation, whether as a plaintiff or as a
defendant, would likely result in significant expense to the
Company and divert the efforts of the Company’s technical
and management personnel, whether or not such litigation is
ultimately determined in favor of the Company.

From time to time, it has been and may continue to be
necessary 1o initiate or defend litigation against third parties
to preserve and defend the Company’s intellectua! property
rights. These and other parties could bring suit against
the Company.

On or about August 3, 2001, the Lemelson Medical,
Education & Research Foundation, or Lemelson Foundation,
filed a complaint for patent infringement against us and four
other defendants. The suit, captioned Lemelson Medical,
Education, & Research Foundation, Limited Parthership vs.
Broadcom Corporation, et al., Civil Case No. CIVO1 1440PHX
HRH, was filed in the United States District Court, District of
Arizona. On November 13, 2001, the Lemelson Foundation
filed an Amended Complaint, which made the same sub-
stantive allegations against us but named more than twenty-
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five additional defendants. The Amended Complaint alleges
that we, and the other defendants, have infringed certain
patents held by the Lemelson Foundation pertaining to bar
code scanning technology. By its complaint, the Lemelson
Foundation requests that we be enjoined from our allegedly
infringing activities and seeks unspecified damages. On
February 4, 2002, we filed an answer to the amended com-
plaint, wherein we alleged that we do not infringe the
asserted patents, and further contend that the patents are
not valid or enforceable.

On October 15, 2001, we filed a complaint for patent
infringement in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of California against Micron Technology,
Inc., or Micron. In the suit, captioned SanDisk Corp. v.
Micron Technology, Inc., Civil No. CV 01-3855 CW, the com-
plaint sought damages and an injunction against Micron for
making, selling, importing or using flash memory cards that
infringe our U.S. Patent No. 6,149,316. On February 15,
2002, Micron answered the complaint, denied liability, and
counterclaimed seeking a declaration that the patent in suit
was not infringed, was invalid, and was unenforceable. On
May 31, 2002, based on allegations of infringement leveled
by Micron against us, we filed a complaint for declaratory
judgment, seeking a declaration that we did not and had
not infringed five patents (or, in the alternative, that the
patents are invalid). The patents in question are U.S. Patent
No. 4,468,308; U.S. Patent No. 5,286,344; U.S. Patent No.
5,320,981; U.S. Patent No. 6,015,760; and U.S. Patent No.
6,287,978 B1. The suit is captioned SanDisk Corp. v. Micron
Technology, Inc., Civil No. CV 02-2627 VRW. On June 4,
2002, Micron answered and counterclaimed alleging that
we did infringe the five listed patents. On October 29, 2002,
we filed a motion for summary adjudication against Micron
to eliminate some of Micron’s claims. On December 23,
2002, the parties reached a settlement and dismissed all
pending litigation between them. The terms of the settle-
ment are confidential, however, the settlement did not have
a material impact on the Company’s results of operations
or financial position in 2002.

On October 31, 2001, we filed a complaint for patent
infringement in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of California against Memorex Products,
Inc., Pretec Electronics Corporation, Ritek Corporation and
Power Quotient International Co., Ltd. In the suit, captioned
SanDisk Corp. v. Memorex Products, Inc., et al., Civil No. CV
01-4063 VRW, we seek damages and injunctions against
these companies from making, selling, importing or using
flash memory cards that infringe our U.S. patent No.
5,602,987 or the '987 Patent. Defendants have filed answers
denying the allegations. We filed a motion for a preliminary
injunction in the suit to enjoin Memorex, Pretec and Ritek
from making, selling, importing or using flash memory cards
that infringe our '987 Patent prior to the trial on the merits.
On May 17, 2002, the Court denied our motion. Discovery
has commenced. A hearing on claim construction and
Ritek’s motion for summary judgment of non-infringement is
scheduled for May 2, 2003.

On November 30, 2001, we filed a complaint for patent
infringement in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of California against Power Quotient

International - USA Inc, or PQI-USA. In the suit, captioned
SanDisk Corp. v. Power Quotient International - USA [nc., Civil
No. C 01-21111, we sought damages and an injunction against
PQI-USA from making, selling, importing or using flash mem-
ory cards that infringe our U.S. patent No. 5,602,987. The
PQI-USA complaint and litigation are related to the October
31, 2001 litigation referred to above. On October 16, 2002,
Power Quotient International Co., Ltd. and Power Quotient
International-USA entered into a Consent Judgment of
Infringement and Validity and Injunction and settiement
agreement with us, in which both PQl companies stipulated
that the CompactFlash™ and PC ATA cards sold by them
infringe our '987 patent and that the '987 Patent is valid and
enforceable. In addition, both PQi companies are “enjoined
from using in the United States, making in the United States...
selling in the United States... or importing into the United
States for sale, CompactFlash™ and PC ATA cards.” In addi-
tion, the PQI companies will pay us an undisclosed amount
for past damages and the parties agreed to dismiss all
claims between SanDisk and the PQI companies in both law-
suits described above without prejudice. The Consent
Judgment of infringement and Validity and Injunction is sub-
ject to court approval, which is currently pending.

On August 8, 2002, the Company filed an amended com-
plaint to join Mr. Flash USA and Mark C. Lee as defendants in
the PQI-USA matter. On December 5, 2002, we entered into
a settlement agreement with Mr. Lee, doing business as Mr.
Flash USA. On December 12, 2002, the parties filed a
Stipulated Dismissal Without Prejudice and Consent
Injunction, in which Mr. Lee is “enjoined from directly or indi-
rectly making in the United States... selling in the United
States... or importing into the United States for sale,
CompactFlashTM and PC ATA cards that are manufactured
by Power Quotient International Co., Ltd.” On January 28,
2003, the Court entered the Stipulated Dismissal Without
Prejudice and Consent Injunction.

On or about March 5, 2002, Samsung Electronics Co.,
Ltd., or Samsung, filed a patent infringement lawsuit against
us in the United States District Court for the Eastern District
of Texas, Civil Action No. 9:02CV58. The lawsduit alleged that
we infringed four Samsung United States patents, Nos.
5,473,563; 5,514,889; 5,546,341 and 5,642,309, and sought
a preliminary and permanent injunction against unnamed
products of ours, as well as damages, attorneys’ fees and
costs of the lawsuit. On March 28, 2002, we filed an answer
and counterclaims denying infringement and asserting the
Samsung patents are invalid and/or unenforceable. Our
counterclaims asserted that Samsung breached a 1997
agreement between SanDisk and Samsung. In August 2002,
we settled all pending litigation with Samsung and we
entered into a new patent cross license agreement and a
flash memory purchase agreement. On November 26, 2002,
the parties filed a Stipulated Dismissal Without Prejudice,
which was entered by the Court on December 4, 2002.

Litigation is subject to inherent risks and uncertainties that
may cause actual results to differ materially from our expec-
tations. Factors that could cause litigation results to differ
include, but are not limited to, the discovery of previously
unknown facts, changes in the law or in the interpretation of
laws, and uncertainties associated with the judicial decision-
making process.




On March 21, 2000, Mitsubishi Denki Co. Ltd. (Mitsubishi
Electric) filed a complaint in Tokyo District Court against
SanDisk K.K., SanDisk’s wholly owned subsidiary in Japan.
The complaint alleges that SanDisk K.K., based in Yokohama,
Japan, infringes on three Mitsubishi Japanese patents, which
are related primarily to the mechanical construction of mem-
ory cards. In the complaint, Mitsubishi asked the court for a
preliminary injunction halting the sale of SanDisk
CompactFlash and flash ATA memory cards in Japan.
Mitsubishi dropped two of the patents from the suit. During
the second quarter, we won a favorable ruling, dismissing
the complaint on the third patent and thereby concluding the
Mitsubishi lawsuit.

In Chile, Compaq Corporation is opposing our attempt to
register CompactFlash as a trademark. We do not believe
that our failure to obtain registration for the CompactFlash
mark in any country will materially harm our business.
SanDisk successfully obtained the United States trademark
registration for the mark “CompactFlash.”

in the event of an adverse result in any such litigation, the
Company could be required to pay substantial damages,
cease the manufacture, use and sale of infringing products,
expend significant resources to develop non-infringing tech-
nology or obtain licenses to the infringing technology, or dis-
continue the use of certain processes.

From time to time the Company agrees to indemnify cer-
tain of its suppliers and customers for alleged patent
infringement. The scope of such indemnity varies but may in
some instances include indemnification for damages and
expenses, including attorneys’ fees. The Company may from
time to time be engaged in litigation as a result of such
indemnification obligations. Third party claims for patent
infringement are excluded from coverage under the
Company’s insurance policies. There can be no assurance
that any future obligation to indemnify the Company’s cus-
tomers or suppliers, will not have a material adverse effect
on the Company's business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Litigation frequently involves substantial expenditures and
can require significant management attention, even if the
Company ultimately prevails. In addition, the results of any
litigation matters are inherently uncertain. Accordingly, there
can be no assurance that any of the foregoing matters, or
any future litigation, will not have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Contingencies

In March 2002, FlashVision exercised its right of early termi-
nation under its lease facility with ABN AMRO and in April
2002 repaid all amounts outstanding there under. FlashVision
secured a new equipment lease arrangement of approxi-
mately 37.9 billion Japanese Yen (or approximately $305 mil-
lion based on the exchange rate in effect on the date the
agreement was executed) in May 2002 with Mizuho
Corporate Bank, Ltd., or Mizuho, and certain other financial
institutions. Under the terms of the new lease, Toshiba is
required to provide a guarantee to the financial institutions on
behalf of FlashVision. Under the terms of an agreement with
Toshiba, the Company has agreed to indemnify Toshiba in
certain circumstances for certain liabilities Toshiba incurs as

a result of Toshiba's guarantee of the FlashVision equipment
lease arrangement. If FlashVision fails to meet its lease
commitments, and Toshiba fulfills these commitments under
the terms of Toshiba’s guarantee, then the Company will be
obligated to reimburse Toshiba for 49.9% of any claims
under the lease, unless such claims result from Toshiba’'s
failure to meet its obligations to FlashVision or its covenants
to the lenders. Because FlashVision’s new equipment lease
arrangement is denominated in Japanese Yen, the maxi-
mum amount of SanDisk’s contingent indemnification obliga-
tion on a given date when converted to U.S. Dollars will fluc-
tuate based on the exchange rate in effect on that date. As
of December 31, 2002, the maximum amount of SanDisk’s
contingent indemnification obligation, which reflects pay-
ments and any lease adjustments, was approximately
$142.4 million.

Note 4

Convertible Subordinated Notes Payabie
On December 24, 2001, the Company completed a private
placement of $125.0 million of 4 1/2% Convertible
Subordinated Notes due 2006, or Notes, and on January 10,
2002 the initial purchasers completed the exercise of their
option to purchase an additional $25.0 million of Notes, for
which the Company received net proceeds of approximately
$145.9 million. Based on the aggregate principal amount at
maturity of $150.0 million, the Notes provide for semi-annual
interest payments of $3.4 million each on May 15 and
November 15. The Notes are convertible into shares of our
common stock at any time prior to the close of business on
the maturity date, unless previously redeemed or repur-
chased, at a conversion rate of 54.2535 shares per $1,000
principal amount of the Notes, subject to adjustment in cer-
tain events. At anytime on or after November 17, 2004, the
Company may redeem the notes in whole or in part at a
specified percentage of the principal amount plus accrued
interest. The debt issuance costs are being amortized over
the term of the Notes using the interest method. In 2002,
the Company recorded $0.9 million amortization of debt
issuance costs as a component on other income (loss) in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

in the event of bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization or
upon acceleration of the notes due to an event of default
under the indenture and in certain other events, our assets
will be available for distribution to our current stockholders
only after all senior indebtedness, including our contingent
indemnification obligations to Toshiba and obligations under
the notes, have been paid in full. The notes are also effec-
tively subordinated to the liabilities of any of our subsidiaries
(including trade payables, which as of December 31, 2002
were $722,000).

Note 5:

Stockholders’ Equity

Stock Benefit Plan

The 1989 Stock Benefit Plan, in effect through August 1995,
comprised two separate programs, the Stock Issuance
Program and the Option Grant Program. The Stock
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Issuance Program allowed eligible individuals to immediately
purchase the Company’s common stock at a fair value as
determined by the Board of Directors. Under the Option
Grant Program, eligible individuals were granted options to
purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at a fair
value, as determined by the Board of Directors, of such
shares on the date of grant. The options generally vest over
a four-year period, expiring no later than ten years from the
date of grant. Unexercised options are canceled upon the
termination of employment or services. Options that are
canceled under this plan will be available for future grants
under the 1995 Stock Option Plan. There were no shares
available for option grants under the 1989 Stock Benefit
Plan at December 31, 2002.

1995 Stock Option Plan

The 1995 Stock Option Plan provides for the issuance of
incentive stock options and nonqualified stock options.
Under this plan, the Board of Directors determines the vest-
ing and exercise provisions of option grants. The options
generally vest over a four-year period, expiring no later than
ten years from the date of grant.

In May 1999, the stockholders increased the shares avail-
able for future issuance under the 1995 Stock Option Plan by
7,000,000 shares and approved an automatic share
increase feature pursuant to which the number of shares
available for issuance under the plan will automatically
increase on the first trading day in January each calendar
year, beginning with calendar year 2002 and continuing over

the stockholders increased the shares available for future
issuance under the 1995 Non-Employee Directors Stock
Option Plan by 400,000 and approved an automatic share
increase feature pursuant to which the number of shares
available for issuance under the plan will automaticalfly
increase on the first trading day in January each calendar
year, beginning with calendar year 2002 and continuing over
the remaining term of the plan, by an amount equal to 0.2%
of the total number of shares outstanding on the last trading
day in December in the immediately preceding calendar
year, but in no event will any such annual increase exceed
200,000 shares. The automatic share increase for 2002 was
136,928 shares. At December 31, 2002, the Company had
reserved 936,928 shares for issuance under the Non-
Employee Directors Stock Option Plan and a total of 656,000
options had been granted at exercise prices ranging from
$5.00 to $70.063 per share.

Special Stock Option Plan
The Special Stock Option Plan provides for the issuance of
nongualified options to newly hired employees. Under this
plan, a committee appointed by the Board of Directors
determines the vesting and exercise provisions of option
grants. 2,000,000 shares have been reserved for issuance
under the Special Stock Option Plan, of which no shares are
subject to outstanding options.

A summary of activity under ali stock option plans follows

(shares in thousands):
Total

Available Weighted
the remaining term of the plan, by an amount equal to for Future Total Average
approximately 4% of the total number of shares outstanding | Grant/ Out- Exercise

ssuance standing Price
on the last trading day in December in the immediately pre- Balance at December 31, 1999 6,512 9178 $ 9.50
ceding calendar year, but in no event will any such annuail Granted (2,290) 2,290 53.57
increase exceed 4,000,000 shares. The automatic share Exercised - (2,147) 4.85
increase for 2002 was 2,985,040 shares. Canceled 469 (469) 9.69

Balance at December 31, 2000 4,691 8,852 $ 25.29
1895 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan Granted (1,272) 1,272 19.39
In August 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Non- Exercised - (831) 5.73
E | Di + Stock Opti Pl Under thi | Canceled 6874 (674) 32.10
mployee birectors stock Uptien Flan. Lnder this pian, Balance at December 31, 2001 4,093 8,619 2577
automatic option grants are made at periodic intervals to eli- Granted (2,770 2,770 13.20
gible non-employee members of the Board of Directors. Automatic share increase 3,122 - -
Initial option grants vest over a four-year period. Subsequent Exercised - (472) 5.87
annual grants vest one year after date of grant. All options Canceled 1,286 (1,286) 38.93
. . Balance at December 31, 2002 5,731 9,631 $ 21.37
granted under the Non-Employee Directors Stock Option
Plan expire ten years after the date of grant. In May 1999,
At December 31, 2002, options outstanding were as follows:
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Number Average Number
Range of  Outstanding as of Remaining Weighted Average Exercisable as of Weighted
Exercise Prices Dec. 31, 2002 Contractual Life Exercise Price Dec. 31, 2002 Exercise Price
$ 0375 -$ 6.000 1,328,875 4.30 $ 4.666 1,328,311 $ 4.666
6.188 - 10.820 1,525,844 6.48 7.964 1,254,313 7.359
11.450 - 12.810 2,160,590 913 12.701 77,513 12.308
12.890 - 23.125 1,238,810 8.20 18.833 612,715 19.965
23.350 - 34.375 1,342,383 7.82 32.355 737,353 31.952
35.813 -  35.813 1,310,824 6.96 35.813 983,308 35.813
36.125 - 139.500 723,712 7.34 64.027 490,062 63.646
$ 0.375 - $139.500 9,631,038 7.31 $ 21.372 5,483,575 $ 21.625




The number of exercisable options and the weighted
average exercise price as of December 31, 2001 and 2000
were 4,548,253 and $21.20 per share and 3,330,457 and
$12.86 per share, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

in August 1995, the Company adopted the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (the Purchase Plan). In May 1999, the stock-
holders increased the shares available for future issuance
under the Purchase Plan by 600,000 shares and approved
an automatic share increase feature pursuant to which the
number of shares available for issuance under the Purchase
Plan will automatically increase on the first trading day in
January each calendar year, beginning with calendar year
2002 and continuing over the remaining term of the
Purchase Plan, by an amount equal to forty-three hundredths
of one percent (0.43%) of the total number of shares out-
standing on the last trading day in December in the immedi-
ately preceding calendar year, but in no event will any such
annual increase exceed 400,000 shares. Under the Purchase
Plan, qualified employees are entitled to purchase shares
through payroll deductions at 85% of the fair market value at
the beginning or end of the offering period, whichever is
lower. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had reserved
2,661,062 shares of common stock for issuance in the
aggregate under the Purchase Plan and the Company’s
International Employee Stock Purchase Plan, a comparable
stock purchase plan for employees of the Company’s foreign
subsidiaries who are not residing in the U.S., and a total of
1,422,538 shares had been issued.

Shareholder Rights Plan

On April 21, 1997, the Company adopted a shareholder rights
plan (the Rights Agreement). Under the Rights Agreement,
rights were distributed as a dividend at the rate of one right
for each share of common stock of the Company held by
stockholders of record as of the close of business on April
28, 1997. The rights will expire on April 28, 2007 uniess
redeemed or exchanged. Under the Rights Agreement, each
right will initially entitie the registered holder to buy one one-
hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock for $500.00. The rights will become exercis-
able only if a person or group acquires beneficial ownership
of 15 percent or more of the Company’s common stock or
commences a tender offer or exchange offer upon consum-
mation of which such person or group would beneficially own
15 percent or more of the Company’s common stock.

Note 6

Retirement Plan

The Company maintains a tax-deferred savings plan, the
SanDisk 401(k) Plan, for the benefit of qualified employees.
The plan is designed to provide employees with an accu-
mulation of funds at retirement. Qualified employees may

elect to make contributions to the plan on a monthly
basis. The Company may make annual contributions to
the plan at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The
Company contributed $1.0 million and $1.1 million for the
plan years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively. The Company made no contributions for the year
ended December 31, 2000.

Note 7

income Taxes
The provision for (benefit from) income taxes consists of the
following (in thousands):

December 31, 2002 2001 2000

Current:
Federal $ (2,717) $ (28,455) $ 53,683
State 432 38 13,296
Foreign 13,753 6,845 10,211
11,468 (21,572) 77,190

Deferred:
Federal (7,729) (97,388) 94,147
State - (25,040) 21,683
Foreign - - 500

$ (7,729) $ (122,428) $ 116,330
Provision for (benefit from)

income taxes $ 3,739 $ (144,000) $ 193,520

The tax benefits associated with the exercise of stock
options increased taxes receivable by $4.8 million in 2001
and reduced taxes payable by reduced taxes payable by
$29.3 million in 2000. Such benefits are credited to paid-in
capital when realized.

The Company’s provision for (benefit from) income taxes
differs from the amount computed by applying the federal
statutory rates to income (loss) before taxes as follows:

December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Federal statutory rate 35.0% (35.0%) 35.0%
State taxes, net of federal benefit 1.1 (5.6) 4.6
Utilization of credits and impact
of new tax iaw (6.8) (0.86) (0.2)
Tax exempt interest income (2.5) (0.5) (0.8)
Utilization of loss carryforward and
change in valuation allowance (17.6) 8.2 -
Other individually immaterial items 0.2 0.8 0.7
9.4% (32.6%) 39.3%

On March 29, 2002, the Job Creation and Worker
Assistance Act of 2002 was signed into law. Provisions of
the Act allow federal NOL carry-forwards to taxable years
ending in 2001 and 2002 to offset 100% of a taxpayer’s
alternative minimum taxable income. SanDisk was able to
reduce its alternative minimum tax for 2001 by approximately
$2.7 million, which reduced the Company's tax rate in the
current year.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the amount used for income tax purposes. Significant
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components of the Company’s deferred tax assets as of
December 31, 2002 and 2001 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2002 2001
Deferred tax assets:
Inventory valuation

Deferred revenue recognized for

$ 13,000 $ 35,900

tax purposes 256,500 6,500
Accruals and reserves not
currently deductible 16,100 8,500
Foreign tax and other credit carryforwards 24,700 27,900
NOL carryforward 1,200 6,400
Unrealized loss on investment write down 14,400 8,400
Other - 3,600
Subtotal: Deferred tax assets 95,200 97,200
Valuation allowance for deferred
tax assets (66,400) (36,100)

Total deferred tax assets $ 29,500 3 61,100

Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized gain on sale of

Foundry shares (29,500) (61,100)
Total: Deferred tax liabilities (29,500) (61,100)
Total net deferred tax assets/ (liabilities) S - $ -

Based on the weight of available evidence, the Company
provided a valuation allowance against the net deferred tax
assets. The valuation allowance was based on the
Company’s assessment of its historical earnings patterns
that make it uncertain that the Company will have sufficient
income in the appropriate jurisdictions to realize the full
value of the assets. The Company will continue to evaluate
the realizability of the deferred tax assets on a quarterly
basis. The valuation allowance increased by $30.3 million
and $36.1 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively. The
valuation allowance for deferred tax assets includes approxi-
mately $5.2 million attributable to stock option deductions,
the benefit of which will be credited to stockholders’ equity
upon realization.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company has no federal
net operating loss carryforward and has a state net operat-
ing loss carryforward of approximately $24.5 million. As a
result of California legislation, the utilization of a substantial
portion of the Company’s NOLs is suspended for 2003. The
net operating loss carryforward will expire in 2013 if not uti-
lized. The Company has federal foreign tax credit of approxi-
mately $23.2 million, which will begin to expire at various
dates beginning in 2005 through 2008. The Company also
has federal alternative minimum tax credit and state
research and development tax credit, which do not expire.

Utilization of the net operating loss carry-forwards and
credits may be subject to a substantial annual limitation
due to the ownership change limitations provided by the
Internal Revenue Code of 1988, as amended, and similar
state provisions. The annual limitation is not expected to
result in the expiration of net operating losses and credits
before utilization.

Note 8:

Joint Vernture, Strategic Manufacturing
Relationships and investments

FlashVision - In Aprii 2002, the Company and Toshiba
restructured their FlashVision Dominion Semiconductor,

Virginia business by consolidating FlashVision's advanced
NAND wafer fabrication manufacturing operations at
Toshiba’s memory fabrication facility in Yokkaichi, Japan.
Under the terms of the agreement, Toshiba transferred the
FlashVision owned and leased NAND production tool-set
from Dominion to Yokkaichi and undertook full responsibility
for the equipment transfer and production set up. The
FlashVision operation at Yokkaichi continues the joint ven-
ture on essentially the same terms as the parties had at
Toshiba’s facility in Virginia. In March 2002, FlashVision exer-
cised its right of early termination under its lease facility with
ABN AMRO and in April 2002 repaid all amounts outstand-
ing. FlashVision secured a new equipment lease arrange-
ment of approximately 37.9 billion Japanese Yen (or approx-
imately $305 million based on the exchange rate in effect on
the date the agreement was executed) in May 2002 with
Mizuho Corporate Bank, Ltd., or Mizuho, and certain other
financial institutions. Under the terms of the new lease,
Toshiba is required to provide a guarantee to these financial
institutions on behalf of FlashVision. The Company agreed to
indemnify Toshiba in certain circumstances for certain liabili-
ties Toshiba incurs as a result of Toshiba’'s guarantee of the
FlashVision equipment lease arrangement. If FlashVision fails
to meet its lease commitments, and Toshiba fuffills these
commitments under the terms of Toshiba’s guarantee, the
Company will be obligated to reimburse Toshiba for 49.9%
of any claims under the lease, unless such claims result
from Toshiba’s failure to meet its obligations to FlashVision
or its covenants to the lenders. Because FlashVision’s new
equipment lease arrangement is denominated in Japanese
Yen, the maximum amount of the Company’s contingent
indemnification obligation on a given date when converted
to U.S. Dallars will fluctuate based on the exchange rate in
effect on that date. As of December 31, 2002 the maximum
amount of the Company’s contingent indemnification obliga-
tion, which reflects payments and any lease adjustments,
was approximately $142.4 million. The Company accounts
for its investment in FlashVision under the equity method

of accounting.

UMC - At December 31, 2002, the Company’s equity
investment in UMC was valued at $113.0 million on the
Company’s balance sheet. In the third quarter of 2002, the
Company received approximately 23 million additional
shares of UMC stock in the form of stock dividends. These
shares are included in the 165 million shares classified as
available-for-sale in accordance with SFAS No. 115, are
reported at market value of $105.4 million and included in
current assets on the Company’s balance sheet. The
Company also has 11 million shares that contain trading
restrictions that extend beyond one year, which are valued
at their adjusted cost of $7.5 million and included in non-cur-
rent assets. UMC'’s share price declined to NT$22.20 at
December 31, 2002 from a stock dividend adjusted price of
NT$42.87 at December 31, 2001 resulting in a $81.8 million
reduction of our previously recorded unrealized gain on the
Company’s investment that is classified as available-for-sale.
At December 31, 2002, the market value of the available-for-
sale portion of the Company’s UMC investment had declined
$6.6 million, before tax, below its adjusted cost of $112.0
million, and this unrealized loss is included in accumulated



other comprehensive income (loss) on the Company’s bal-
ance sheet. (See Note 12.) The Company accounts for its
investment in UMC under the cost method of accounting. If
the fair value of the UMC shares declines in the future and
such declines are deemed to be other-than-temporary, it
may be necessary to record losses on these declines. In
addition, in future periods, there may be a gain or loss, due
to fluctuations in the market value of UMC'’s stock, if the
UMC shares are sold.

Tower Semiconductor ~ In July 2000, the Company
entered into a share purchase agreement to make a $75.0
million investment in Tower Semiconductor, for its new
foundry facility, Fab 2. As of December 31, 2002, the
Company had invested $68.0 million in Tower and obtained
6,100,859 ordinary shares, $14.3 million of prepaid wafer
credits, and a warrant to purchase 360,313 ordinary shares
at an exercise price of $7.50 per share. The warrant expires
on October 31, 2008. The investment in the ordinary shares
represents an approximate 14% equity ownership position in
Tower as of December 31, 2002. The Company accounts for
its investment in Tower using the cost method of account-
ing. In 2002 and 2001, the Company recognized losses of
$15.2 million and $26.1 million, respectively, as a result of
other-than-temporary decline in the value of its Tower
investment and the impairment in value on its prepaid wafer
credits and approximately $0.7 million in unrealized losses
related to the fair value of the warrants purchased in
October of 2002. These warrants were valued at approxi-
mately $0.5 million at December 31, 2002. The Company’s
investment in Tower was valued at $21.3 million as of
December 31, 2002. At December 31, 2002, the Company’s
prepaid wafer credits were valued at $6.0 million, which is
net of $2.8 and $5.5 million in write-downs recorded in fiscal
2002 and 2001, respectively, related to the recoverability of
these prepaid wafer credits.

iIn March 2002, the Company amended its foundry invest-
ment agreement with Tower by agreeing to advance the
payments for the third and fourth milestones. The payment
for the third milestone of $11.0 milion was made on April 5,
2002. In exchange for this payment the Company received
1,071,497 ordinary shares and prepaid wafer credits of $4.4
million. The payment of $11.0 million for the fourth milestone
was paid on September 30, 2002. In exchange for this pay-
ment the Company received 1,344,829 ordinary shares and
$4.4 million in prepaid wafer credits. These were applied to
the Company’s pre-paid wafer account and are to be applied
against orders placed with Tower's new fabrication facility,
when and if completed; provided, however, that until July 1,
2005, the amounts added to the pre-paid wafer account
may only be applied towards a maximum of 7.5% of wafer
purchases. The Company periodically assesses the value of
its prepaid wafer credits considering the timing and quantity
of its planned annual wafer purchases, the status of the
foundry construction and general economic conditions. If the
Company determines that the value of these wafer credits is
not recoverable, an additional write-down will be recorded.

In addition to the Company’s commitment under the share
purchase agreement, the Company invested in Tower'’s
rights offering in October 2002. Tower issued one right for

each 4.94 shares owned by record holders as of the record
date. In exercising the Company’s rights to participate, the
Company paid approximately $4.0 million in exchange for
800,695 ordinary Tower shares and a warrant to purchase
360,312 ordinary shares at $7.50 per share. This warrant
expires on October 31, 2006. During the fourth quarter of
2002, and in accordance with SFAS 133, the Company
recorded a write-down in the fair value of these Tower war-
rants of approximately $0.7 million, as determined using a
Black~Scholes option pricing model. The fair value of these
warrants will continue to fluctuate and additional adjustments
to the warrant’s fair value will be recorded in future periods.

In February 2003, the Company agreed to further amend
its foundry investment agreements with Tower, for its new
Fab 2 facility, by agreeing to advance the payment for the
fifth and final milestone. This amendment is subject to
approval by all required parties, including Tower’s sharehold-
ers. If approved, the terms of the amendment require the
payment of $11.0 million for the advanced fifth milestone and
this payment will be made in two installments. The first
instaliment of approximately $6.6 miliion will be due five busi-
ness days after the amendment is approved by all required
parties, including Tower’s shareholders; the second install-
ment of approximately $4.4 million will be due five business
days after Tower has raised additional funds equal to
approximately $22.0 million, referred to as the Minimum
Financing. Tower must complete the Minimum Financing prior
to December 31, 2003, or SanDisk will not be obligated to
pay the second instaliment. Each of the first and second
instaliments will be paid provided Tower meets these condi-
tions, whether or not Tower actually achieves its original fifth
milestone obligation. Immediately following the advancement
of the first instaliment, the Company will be issued fully-paid
and non-assessable ordinary shares of Tower equivalent to
the first installment divided by the average trading price for
ordinary shares of Tower during the thirty (30) consecutive
trading days preceding the date the amendment was
approved by Tower's board of directors. Immediately follow-
ing the advancement of the second installment, if it occurs,
the Company will be issued fully-paid and non-assessable
ordinary shares of Tower equivalent to the second install-
ment divided by the price per ordinary share of Tower paid in
connection with the Minimum Financing, or the Mi_nimum
Financing Price; provided, however, that if the Minimum
Financing Price cannot reasonably be calculated from the
documents evidencing the Minimum Financing, then the
Minimum Financing Price shall be deemed to be the average
trading price for the ordinary shares of the Tower during the
thirty (30) consecutive trading days preceding the date the
second installment is paid. In addition, SanDisk will have the
option to convert all or a portion of its unused pre-paid
wafers credits associated with the September 2002 fourth
milestone payment into fully-paid and non-assessable ordi-
nary shares of Tower based on the average closing price of
ordinary shares of Tower during the thirty (30) consecutive
trading days preceding December 31, 2005.

Tower’s completion of Fab 2 is dependent on its ability to
obtain additional financing for the foundry construction from
equity and other sources and the release of grants and
approvals for changes in grant programs from the Israeli
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government’s Investment Center. The current political
uncertainty and security situation in the region may
adversely impact Tower’s business prospects and may dis-
courage investments in Tower from outside sources. If
Tower is unable to obtain additional financing, complete
foundry construction in a timely manner or is unable to suc-
cessfully complete the development and transfer of
advanced CMOS process technologies and ramp-up of pro-
duction, the value of the Company’s equity investment in
Tower and wafer credits will decline significantly or possibly
become worthless. In addition, the Company may be unable
to obtain sufficient supply of wafers to manufacture its prod-
ucts, which would harm its business. The value of the
Company’s equity investment in Tower may also be
adversely affected by further deterioration of conditions in
the market for foundry manufacturing services and the mar-
ket for semiconductor products generally. If the fair value of
the Company’s Tower investment declines further, it may
record additional losses, which potentially could amount to
the remaining recorded value of the Company’s Tower
investment. Moreover, if Tower is unable to satisfy certain
financial covenants and comply with certain conditions as
required by its credit facility agreement, and therefore is not
able to obtain additional bank financing, or its current bank
obligations are accelerated, or it fails to secure customers
for its foundry capacity to help offset its fixed costs, such
failure could jeopardize the completion of Fab 2 and Tower’s
ability to continue operations.

Digital Portal Inc. - On August 9, 2000, the Company
entered into a joint venture, Digital Portal, inc., or DPI, with
Photo-Me International, PLC., or PMI, for the manufacture,
installation, marketing, and maintenance of self-service, digi-
tal photeo printing labs, or kiosks, bearing the SanDisk brand
name in locations in the U.S. and Canada. Under the agree-
ment, the Company invested $2.0 million in DPI. In 2002, the
Company accounted for this investment under the equity
method, and recorded a loss of $1.1 million as its share of
the equity in loss of joint venture. The Company’s share of
losses from DPl’s inception through September 30, 2002,
exceeded the amount of the Company’s investment. Under
the equity method of accounting, the Company’s share of
losses were deducted from its DPI investment account and
therefore, as of December 31, 2002 there is no value related
to DPI on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. In an
agreement effective September 30, 2002, the Company
agreed to sell a significant portion of its DPI shares to a
nominee of PMI to reduce its ownership percentage below
20%, and gave up its seat on DPI's board of directors.
Under the agreement, the Company discontinued its kiosk
related activities. In addition, the Company is no longer
required to make additional equity investments in DPI, guar-
antee DPI's equipment leases, or otherwise pay any of DPI's
expenses, and furthermore, DPI| will no longer use the
SanDisk brand name.

Divio, Inc. - On November 2, 2000, the Company made
a strategic investment of $7.2 million in Divio, Inc., or Divio.
Divio is a privately-held manufacturer of digital imaging
compression technology and products for future digital
camcorders that will be capable of using our flash memory
cards to store home video movies, replacing the magnetic

tape currently used in these systems. Under the agree-
ment, the Company owns approximately 10% of Divio and is
entitled to one board seat. A number of companies are
developing compression chip products that may be supe-
rior to, or may be offered at a lower cost than the Divio
chips. These competing products may render Divio’s prod-
ucts uncompetitive and thereby significantly reduce the
value of our investment in Divio. Divio is currently unprof-
itable, and will require additional funding from external
sources to complete the development and commercializa-
tion of its products. Given the current depressed conditions
for financing private, venture capital backed startup compa-
nies, the Company cannot assure you that Divio will be able
to successfully finance its activities or continue its opera-
tions. If they cannot do so, the Company’s investment in
Divio may become worthless. During 2002, in connection
with the Company’s review of equity investments, an
impairment loss of $2.7 million on the Company’s invest-
ment in Divio was recognized in accordance with SFAS No.
115. The carrying value of the Divio investment on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31,
2002 was $4.5 million. The Company accounts for its
investment in Divio using the cost method of accounting. If
it is determined that the value of the investment in Divio has
further declined, it may be necessary to record additional
losses on this investment.

Note O:

Derivatives

On January 1, 2001, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities.” The standard requires that all derivatives be
recorded on the balance sheet at fair value and establishes
criteria for designation and effectiveness of hedging relation-
ships. The cumulative effect of adopting SFAS 133 as of
January 1, 2001 was not material to the Company’s consoli-
dated financial statements.

The Company is exposed to foreign currency exchange
rate risk inherent in forecasted sales, cost of sales, and
assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than
the U.S. dollar. The Company is also exposed to interest
rate risk inherent in its debt and investment portfolios. The
Company’s risk management strategy provides for the use
of derivative financial instruments, including foreign
exchange forward contracts, to hedge certain foreign cur-
rency exposures. The Company’s intent is to offset gains
and losses that occur on the underlying exposures, with
gains and losses on the derivative contracts hedging these
exposures. The Company does not enter into any specula-
tive positions with regard to derivative instruments. The
Company enters into foreign exchange contracts to hedge
against exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange
rates, only when natural offsets cannot be achieved. Such
contracts are designated at inception to the related foreign
currency exposures being hedged, which include sales by
subsidiaries, and assets and liabilities that are denominated
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. The Company’s for-
eign currency hedges generally mature within three months.




All derivatives are recorded at fair market value on the
balance sheet, classified in other assets. For derivative
instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the
derivative instrument is recorded in accumulated other com-
prehensive income as a separate component of stockhold-
ers’ equity and reclassified into earnings in the period during
which the hedged transaction affects earnings. For deriva-
tive instruments that are designated and qualify as fair value
hedges, the gain or loss on the derivative instrument, as
well as the offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item attrib-
utable to the hedged risk, are recognized in earnings in the
current period. For derivative instruments not designated as
hedging instruments, changes in their fair values are recog-
nized in earnings in the current period. Subsequent to the
adoption of SFAS 133, the Company has only engaged in fair
value hedge accounting pursuant to the methodology
described herein.

For foreign currency forward contracts, hedge effective-
ness is measured by comparing the cumulative change in
the hedged contract with the cumulative change in the
hedged item, both of which are based on forward rates. To
the extent that the critical terms of the hedged item and the
derivative are not identical, hedge ineffectiveness is
reported in earnings immediately. The Company estimates
the fair values on derivatives based on quoted market prices
or pricing models using current market rates.

The Company reports hedge ineffectiveness from foreign
currency derivatives for both options and forward contracts
in other income or expense. Hedge ineffectiveness was not
material in fiscal 2002. The effective portion of all derivatives
is reported in the same financial statement line item as the
changes in the hedged item.

The Company had foreign exchange contract lines in the
amount of $75.0 million at December 31, 2002. Under these
lines, the Company may enter into forward exchange con-
tracts that require the Company to sell or purchase foreign
currencies. At December 31, 2002, the Company had no
forward contracts outstanding.

At December 31, 2002, the Company had $ 20.2 million in
Japanese Yen-denominated accounts payable designated
as cash flow hedges against Japanese Yen-denominated
cash holdings and accounts receivable. The Company had
no outstanding hedge contracts. There were no unrealized
gains or losses on derivative instruments as of December
31, 2002.

The impact of movements in currency exchange rates on
foreign exchange contracts substantially mitigates the
related impact on the underlying items hedged. The
Company had net transaction gains (losses) of approxi-
mately ($517,000), ($894,000), and $428,000, for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
These amounts are included in other income (loss), net, in
the statement of operations.

The Company invested in Tower’s rights offering during
2002 and received warrants with a fair value of approxi-
mately $537 thousand, as determined using a Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following assumptions: divi-
dend yield of 0.0%; expected life of 3.75 years; volatility fac-
tor of 0.845; and risk free interest rate of 2.38%. The fair

value of these warrants will continue to fluctuate and addi-
tional adjustments to the warrant’s fair value will be
recorded in future periods.

Note 10:

Restructuring Charge and Related Activities

During the third quarter of fiscal 2001, the Company adopted .

a plan to transfer all of its card assembly and test manufac-
turing operations from its Sunnyvale location to offshore
subcontractors. The Company also adopted a plan to
reduce its workforce by a total of 193 employees through
involuntary employee separations from October 2001
through April 2002. In connection with this restructuring, the
Company recorded a restructuring charge of $8.5 million in
the third quarter of 2001. The charge included $1.4 million of
severance and employee related-costs for a reduction in
workforce, equipment write-off charges of $6.0 million and
lease commitments of $1.1 million related to the abandon-
ment of a warehouse facility. As of December 31, 2002, with
the exception of leases related to the abandoned excess
leased facilities, the Company had made all payments asso-
ciated with the restructuring. Amounts related to the aban-
donment of excess leased facilities will be paid as the lease
payments are due in 2003 and forward. In the first quarter
of 2003, the Company has entered into a sublease for a
portion of the abandoned warehouse facility, which will
expire in July of 2005. The applicable sublease income will
partially offset the restructuring reserve balance until com-
pletely utilized in 2004.

The following table summarizes the restructuring activity
from inception of the plan through the end of 2002:

Lease
Workforce Commit-
{In thousands) Equipment Reduction ments Total
Restructuring charge,

September 30, 2001 $6,383 $1,094 $1033 $ 8,510
Non-cash charges (6,027) - - (86,027)
Cash payments - (805) - (805)
Accrual balance,

December 31, 2001 $ 356 $ 289 $1,033 $ 1,678
Non-cash charges a7y - - 17)
Adjustments (339) 321 18 -
Cash payments - (610) (471) (1,081)
Accrual balance,

December 31, 2002 $ - % - $ 580 $ 580

Note 11:

Geographic information and Major Cusiomers
The Company operates in one segment, flash memory
products. The Company markets and sells its products in
the United States and in foreign countries through its sales
personnel, dealers, distributors, retailers and its subsidiaries.
The Company’s chief decision maker, the Chief Executive
Officer, evaluates performance of the Company and makes
decisions regarding allocation of resources based on total
Company results. Revenue is evaluated based on geo-
graphic region and product category. Since the Company
operates in one segment, all financial segment and product
line information can be found in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Sales outside the U.S. are comprised of sales to interna-
tional customers in Europe, Canada, and Asia Pacific. Other
than sales in U.S., Japan and Europe, internationa! sales
were not material individually in any other international
location. intercompany sales between geographic areas
are accounted for at prices representative of unaffiliated
party transactions.

Information regarding geographic areas for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 are as foliows
(in thousands):

Years Ended December 31, 2002 2001 2000
Revenues:
United States $ 243,144 $ 163,516 $ 258,715
Japan 88,298 105,056 178,564
Europe 116,765 57,386 99,352
Other foreign countries 93,066 40,343 65,181
Total $ 541,273 $ 366,301 $ 601,812
Long lived assets:
United States $ 22,132 $193,980 $ 174,685
Japan 143,069 388 520
Europe 119 23 55
Other foreign countries 36,508 41,700 198,253
Total $ 201,828 $ 236,091 $ 373,513

Revenues are attributed to countries based on the geo-
graphic location of the customers. Long-lived assets are
attributed to the geographic location in which they are
located. Long-lived assets in Japan are the Company’s
investment in FlashVision Yokkaichi of $142.8 million in 2002;
other foreign countries includes the long-term investment in
UMC of $7.5 million in 2002, $25.9 million in 2001, and $197.7
million in 2000 and the long-term investment in Tower of
$16.7 million in 2002 and $15.4 million in 2001. Long lived
assets in the United States includes the investment in
FlashVision Dominion Virginia of $153.2 million in 2001, Divio
of $4.5 million in 2002 and $7.2 million in 2001 and DPI of
$0.6 million in 2001.

Major Customers
in 2002, 2001 and 2000, there were no customers who
accounted for more than 10% of total revenue.

Note 12

Accumuliated Other Comprehensive Income
Accumulated other comprehensive income presented in the
accompanying balance sheet consists of the accumutated
unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale marketable
securities for all periods presented (in thousands).

2002 2001

Accumulated net unrealized gain (loss) on
available-for-sale short-term investments $ 1,055 $ 756
available-for-sale investments in foundries (44,068) 45,667

Total accumulated other comprehensive

income (loss) $ (43,013) $ 46,423

The amount of income tax expense allocated to unreal-
ized gain/loss on investments included an income tax
expense (benefit) of $37.4 million, $29.8 million and ($34.6)
million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The amount of
income tax expense allocated to unrealized gain on avail-
able-for-sale securities was immaterial.

Note 13:

Related Parties

The Company has entered into a joint venture agreement
with Toshiba, under which they formed FlashVision, to pro-
duce advanced NAND flash memory wafers. See Note 8. in
addition, the Company and Toshiba will jointly develop and
share the research and development expenses of future
generations of advanced NAND flash memory products. The
Company also purchases NAND flash memory card prod-
ucts from Toshiba. In 2001, the Company purchased NAND
flash memory wafers and card products from FlashVision
and Toshiba and made payments for shared research and
development expenses totaling approximately $124.7 million
in 2002 and $132.3 million in 2001. At December 31, 2002
and 2001, the Company had accounts payable balances due
to FlashVision of $16.8 million and $24.0 million respectively,
and balances due to Toshiba of $9.5 million and $7.9 million,
respectively. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company
had accrued current liabilities due to Toshiba for joint
research and development expenses of $10.5 million and
$15.3 million, respectively.

In July 2000, the Company entered into a share purchase
agreement to make a $75.0 million investment in Tower, in
Israel, at that time representing approximately 10% owner-
ship of Tower. See Note 8. SanDisk’s CEQ, Dr. Eli Harari, is a
member of the Tower board of directors. During 2002 and
2001, the Company invested $26.0 million and $42.5 million,
respectively in Tower, which included the Company’s partici-
pation in Tower’s October 2002 right’s offering. No addi-
tional payments were made to Tower in 2002, no goods
were purchased in 2002 and there were no liabilities due to
Tower at December 31, 2002.

Note 14

Investment in JJoint Venture

The following summarized the financial information for
FlashVision at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively
(in thousands).

(Unaudited) December 31, 2002 2001
Current assets $ 192,180 $ 51,601
Property, plant and equipment and

other assets 171,791 312,183
Current liabilities 45,806 67,438

The following summarizes financial information for
FlashVision for the years ended December 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively (in thousands).

(Unaudited)

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2002 2001
Net sales $ 73,571 $ 110,706
Gross profit (loss) (369) 4,351
Net income 2,587 5,160




Corporate information

Board of Directors
Irwin Federman @
SanDisk Corporation
Chairman of The Board
U.S. Venture Partners
General Partner

Judy Bruner

Palm, Inc.

Senior Vice President,
Finance and Administration
and Chief Financial Officer

William V. Campbell @ ©
intuit Inc.
Chairman

Dr. Eli Harari
SanDisk Corporation
President and Chief Executive Officer

Dr. James D. Meind! @
Georgia Institute of Technology

Alan F. Shugart @@ ®
Al Shugart International
President and Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Officers
Dr. Eli Harari
President and Chief Executive Officer

Sanjay Mehrotra
Executive Vice President
and Chief Operating Officer

Michaei Gray

Senior Vice President,
Finance and Administration
and Chief Financial Officer

Nelson Chan
Senior Vice President and General
Manager, Retail Business Unit

Yoram Cedar
Senior Vice President,
Engineering

Jose Flahaux
Senior Vice President,
Worldwide Operations

Jack Yuan
Senior Vice President,
Technology

Charles Van Crden
Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary

Corporate Headguarters
140 Caspian Court

Sunnyvale, California 94089-1000
USA

T: 408.542.0500

F: 408.542.0503
www.sandisk.com

{1) Audit Committee
{2) Compensation Committee

{3) Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Industrial/OEM Offices
North Central Region USA
and South America

134 Cherry Creek Circle, Suite 150
Winter Springs, Florida 32708

T: 407.366.6490

F: 407.366.5945

Northeastern USA and Canada
620 Herndon Pkwy, Suite 200
Herndon, Virginia 22070

T: 703.481.9828

F: 703.437.9215

Northwest USA

2241 Fremont Drive, Suite B
Havasu City, Arizona 86406
T: 928.505.4258

F: 928.505.4259

Southwest USA and Mexico
140 Caspian Court

Sunnyvale, California 94089-1000
T: 760.736.8000

F: 408.542.0410

Europe

SanDisk GmbH
Karlsruhler Str. 2C
D-30519 Hannover
Germany

T: 49.511.875.9185
F: 49.511.875.9187

Central and Scuthern Europe
Rudolf-Diesel-Str. 3

40822 Mettmann

Germany

T: 49.210.495.3433

F: 49.210.495.3434

Northern Europe
Videroegatan 3 B
S$-16440 Kista
Sweden

T: 46.08.75084.63
F: 46.08.75084.26

Japan

8F Nisso Building 15
2-17-19 Shin-Yokohama
Kohoku-ku

Yokohama 222-0033
Japan

T: 81.45.474.0181

F: 81.45.474.0371

Asia/Pacific Rim

89 Queensway, Lippo Center
Tower |, Suite 3402
Admiralty, Hong Kong

China

T: 852.2712.0501

F: 852.2712.9385

Taiwan

17F 167 Tun-Hwa N. Rd.
Taipei, Taiwan

Republic of China

T: 886.2.2727.1999 X1081
F: 886.2.2712.5850

Retail Offices

Us Retail

140 Caspian Court
Sunnyvale, California 94089
T: 949.589.8351

F: 949.589.8364

2100 Camino A Los Cerros
Menlo Park, California 94025
T: 650.854.9003

F: 650.854.7400

32500 Mills Road
Avon, Ohio 44011
T: 440.327.0490
F: 440.327.0295

21 Chippenham Drive
Penfield, New York 14526
T: 716.377.2229

F: 419.828.0847

Europe, Middle East & Africa Retail
Wilhelminastraat 18

2011 VM Haarlem

The Netherlands

T: 31.23.5514226

F: 31.23.5348625

Japan Retail
Umeda-Shinmichi Building 10F
1-1-5 Dojima, Kita-ku

Osaka 530-0003

Japan

T: 81.6.6343.6480

F: 81.6.6343.6481

Design Centers
Links House

15 Links Place
Edinburgh EH6 7EZ
Scotland

Tefen industrial Zone
P.O. Box 3

Migdal Tefen 24959
Israel

Registrar and Transfer Agent
Computershare Investor Services
Golden, Colorado

Independent Public Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
San Jose, California

investor/Sharehoider Relations
Noland Granberry
Senior Director, Finance

Sharon Spehar
Shareholder Relations

©2003 SanDisk Corporation. All rights reserved. SanDisk and the SanDisk logo are registered trademarks, and CompactFlash is a US registered
trademark of SanDisk Corporation. ImageMate, Cruzer, SanDisk Connect, SanDisk Extreme and SanDisk Ultra are trademarks of SanDisk
Corporation. SmartMedia is a trademark of Toshiba Corporation. Memory Stick is a registered trademark of Sony Corporation. SanDisk is an
authorized licensee of the SD trademark. Other brands and products are trademarks of their respective holder(s). 4/03




SanbDisk Corporation

140 Caspian Court

Sunnyvale, California 94089-1000
USA

T: 408.542.0500

F: 408.542.0503
www.sandisk.com




